NCI BUILDING SYSTEMS INC Form S-4 September 10, 2009

#### **Table of Contents**

As filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on September 10, 2009

Registration No. 333-

# UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION Washington, D.C. 20549 Form S-4 REGISTRATION STATEMENT UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933 NCI BUILDING SYSTEMS, INC.

(Exact Name of Registrant as Specified in Its Charter)

Delaware344876-0127701(State or Other Jurisdiction of<br/>Incorporation or Organization)(Primary Standard Industrial<br/>Classification Code Number)(I.R.S. Employer<br/>Identification No.)

# 10943 North Sam Houston Parkway West Houston, Texas 77064 (281) 897-7788

(Address, Including Zip Code, and Telephone Number, Including Area Code, of Registrant's Principal Executive Offices)

#### Todd R. Moore

Executive Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary 10943 North Sam Houston Parkway West Houston, Texas 77064 (281) 897-7788

(Name, Address, Including Zip Code, and Telephone Number, Including Area Code, of Agent For Service)

Copies to:

Mark Gordon David K. Lam Wachtell, Lipton, Rosen & Katz 51 West 52<sup>nd</sup> Street New York, New York 10019 (212) 403-1000 James H.M. Sprayregen
Paul M. Basta
Christopher J. Marcus
Kirkland & Ellis LLP
601 Lexington Avenue
New York, New York 10022
(212) 446-4800

**Approximate date of commencement of proposed sale to the public:** As soon as practicable after this Registration Statement becomes effective.

If the securities being registered on this form are being offered in connection with the formation of a holding company and there is compliance with General Instruction G, check the following box. o

If this form is filed to register additional securities for an offering pursuant to Rule 462(b) under the Securities Act, check the following box and list the Securities Act registration statement number of the earlier effective registration statement from the same offering. o

If this form is a post effective amendment filed pursuant to Rule 462(d) under the Securities Act, check the following box and list the Securities Act registration statement number of the earlier effective registration statement for the same offering. o

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting company. See the definitions of large accelerated filer, accelerated filer and smaller reporting company in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. (Check one):

Large accelerated filer o Accelerated filer b Non-accelerated filer o Smaller reporting company o (Do not check if a smaller reporting company)

If applicable, place an X in the box to designate the appropriate rule provision relied upon in conducting this transaction:

Exchange Act Rule 13e-4(i) (Cross-Border Issuer Tender Offer) o

Exchange Act Rule 14d-1(d) (Cross-Border Third-Party Tender Offer) o

#### CALCULATION OF REGISTRATION FEE

Title of Each Class of Securities to be Registered	Amount to be Registered	Proposed Maximum Offering Price per Security	Proposed Maximum Aggregate Offering Price	Amount of Registration Fee
Common Stock, par value	_		_	
\$0.01 per share	70,200,000(1)	\$1.56(2)	\$109,634,400.00(3)	\$6,117.60(4)

- (1) This Registration Statement registers the maximum number of shares of the Registrant s common stock, par value \$0.01 per share, that may be issued in connection with the exchange offer or, in the alternative, pursuant to the prepackaged plan by the Registrant for any and all of its 2.125% Convertible Senior Subordinated Notes due 2024 (the Notes ), of which \$180 million is outstanding as of the date hereof.
- (2) Calculated by dividing the Proposed Maximum Aggregate Offering Price of \$109,634,400.00 by 70,200,000, which is the maximum number of shares of the Registrant s common stock that may be issued in connection with the exchange offer or, in the alternative, pursuant to the prepackaged plan.
- (3) Estimated solely for purpose of calculating the registration fee pursuant to Rule 457(f)(1) and (3) under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and calculated based on the average of the asked and bid price per \$1,000 in principal amount of Notes on September 4, 2009, less \$90,000,000, the aggregate amount of cash to be paid by the Registrant pursuant to the exchange offer, assuming that the exchange offer is fully subscribed by holders of Notes or, in the alternative, pursuant to the prepackaged plan.
- (4) The registration fee has been calculated pursuant to Rule 457(f) of the Securities Act.

The Registrant hereby amends this Registration Statement on such date or dates as may be necessary to delay its effective date until the Registrant shall file a further amendment that specifically states that this Registration Statement shall thereafter become effective in accordance with Section 8(a) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or until the Registration Statement shall become effective on such date as the Securities and Exchange Commission, acting pursuant to said Section 8(a), may determine.

#### **Table of Contents**

The information in this prospectus/disclosure statement is not complete and may change. We may not complete the exchange offer and issue these securities until the registration statement filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission is effective. This prospectus/disclosure statement is not an offer to sell these securities, and it is not soliciting an offer to buy these securities in any state where the offer or sale is not permitted.

#### SUBJECT TO COMPLETION, DATED SEPTEMBER 10, 2009

#### PRELIMINARY PROSPECTUS/DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

Offer to Exchange
Cash and Shares of Common Stock
for
2.125% Convertible Senior Subordinated Notes due
2024
(CUSIP No. 628852AG0)

Disclosure Statement for Solicitation of Acceptances of Prepackaged Plan of Reorganization

THIS EXCHANGE OFFER AND THE SOLICITATION PERIOD FOR THE PREPACKAGED PLAN WILL EXPIRE AT 11:59 P.M., NEW YORK CITY TIME, ON OCTOBER 7, 2009, UNLESS EXTENDED OR EARLIER TERMINATED BY US. AS OF THE DATE OF THIS PROSPECTUS/DISCLOSURE STATEMENT, WE HAVE NO INTENTION OF EXTENDING SUCH DATE.

NCI Building Systems, Inc. is proposing a financial restructuring to address an immediate need for liquidity in light of a potentially imminent default under, and acceleration of, our existing credit facility, which may occur as early as November 6, 2009 (which may, in turn, also lead to a default under, and acceleration of, our other indebtedness, including the \$180.0 million in principal amount of 2.125% Convertible Senior Subordinated Notes due 2024, which we refer to as the convertible notes), and the high likelihood that we will be required to repurchase the convertible notes on November 15, 2009, the first scheduled mandatory repurchase date under the convertible notes indenture. We are proposing to effect the financial restructuring through one of the following two approaches:

an out-of-court financial restructuring, which we refer to as the recapitalization plan, consisting of:

this exchange offer to acquire any and all of the convertible notes for cash and shares of our common stock, par value \$0.01 per share, in accordance with the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this prospectus/disclosure statement and in the related letter of transmittal;

a \$250.0 million investment, which we refer to as the CD&R investment, by Clayton, Dubilier & Rice Fund VIII, L.P., which we refer to as the CD&R Fund, a fund managed by Clayton, Dubilier & Rice, Inc., which we refer to as CD&R, a leading private equity investment firm, involving a private placement to the CD&R Fund of a newly created series of our preferred stock, par value \$1.00 per share, to be designated as the Series B Cumulative Convertible Participating Preferred Stock, which we refer to as the Series B convertible preferred stock;

the refinancing of our existing credit facility, which we refer to as the term loan refinancing, under which we and the lenders under our existing credit agreement will enter into an amendment to our existing credit agreement, providing for, among other things, the repayment of approximately \$143.3 million of the \$293.3 million in principal amount of term loans outstanding under our existing credit facility and a modification of the terms and maturity of the \$150.0 million balance; and

the ABL financing, pursuant to which we will enter into an agreement for a \$125.0 million asset-based loan facility;

#### OR, IN THE ALTERNATIVE

(if conditions to completion of the recapitalization plan are not satisfied or waived)

an in-court financial restructuring, through which we would seek to accomplish the results contemplated by the recapitalization plan through the effectiveness of a prepackaged plan of reorganization, which we refer to as the prepackaged plan, acceptances for which we are soliciting in compliance with chapter 11 of title 11 of the United States Code, which we refer to as the Bankruptcy Code, pursuant to this prospectus/disclosure statement.

We refer to the financial restructuring, whether accomplished through the recapitalization plan or the prepackaged plan, as the restructuring. For a description of this exchange offer and the procedures for tendering convertible notes, see The Exchange Offer. For a description of the prepackaged plan and the procedures for submitting ballots, see The Prepackaged Plan.

We have entered into a lock-up and voting agreement, which we refer to as the lock-up agreement, with the holders of more than 79% of the aggregate principal amount of the outstanding convertible notes, pursuant to which such holders have agreed, in accordance with the terms of the lock-up agreement, (1) to tender their convertible notes in this exchange offer; (2) to the extent that they hold obligations under our existing credit agreement, to support the term loan refinancing by accepting their portion of the repayment contemplated thereby and by executing an amendment to our existing credit agreement in the form attached as Annex J; and (3) to vote all of their convertible notes and obligations under our existing credit facility in favor of the prepackaged plan, among other things.

Holders of convertible notes will receive \$500 in cash and 390 shares of common stock for each \$1,000 principal amount of convertible notes and related accrued interest that we accept in the exchange offer. In the alternative, under the prepackaged plan, holders of convertible notes will receive the same consideration for each \$1,000 principal amount of convertible notes and related accrued interest. The closing of this exchange offer is conditioned upon, among other things, at least 95% of the aggregate principal amount of outstanding convertible notes being validly tendered and not withdrawn, which we refer to as the minimum tender condition, the receipt of proceeds from the CD&R investment (which is itself subject to several conditions, including the consummation of the term loan refinancing and the ABL financing and the expiration or termination of any waiting period required to consummate the CD&R investment under the Austrian Cartel Act of 2005, which we refer to as the Austrian Act) and the effectiveness of the registration statement of which this prospectus/disclosure statement forms a part. See The Exchange Offer Conditions to Completion of the Exchange Offer.

We intend to apply for the shares of common stock issued pursuant to this exchange offer or the prepackaged plan to be listed on the New York Stock Exchange, which we refer to as the NYSE. Our common stock is traded on the NYSE under the symbol NCS. We will not receive any proceeds from this exchange offer. See Source and Use of Proceeds.

We urge you to carefully read the Risk Factors section beginning on page 26 before you make any decision regarding this exchange offer or the prepackaged plan.

NONE OF THIS EXCHANGE OFFER, THE PREPACKAGED PLAN NOR THE SHARES OF COMMON STOCK OFFERED HEREBY HAVE BEEN APPROVED OR DISAPPROVED BY THE U.S. SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION, ANY STATE SECURITIES COMMISSION OR ANY BANKRUPTCY COURT, NOR HAS THE SEC, ANY STATE SECURITIES COMMISSION OR ANY BANKRUPTCY COURT PASSED UPON THE ACCURACY, COMPLETENESS OR ADEQUACY OF THIS PROSPECTUS/DISCLOSURE STATEMENT. ANY REPRESENTATION TO THE CONTRARY IS A CRIMINAL OFFENSE IN THE UNITED STATES.

The Dealer-Manager for the Exchange Offer is:

Greenhill & Co., LLC

September 10, 2009

## **Table of Contents**

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS ABOUT THE RESTRUCTURING	1
SUMMARY	11
Our Business	11
<u>Liquidity</u>	11
The Restructuring	12
This Exchange Offer	17
The Prepackaged Plan	18
Capitalization	20
Selected Consolidated Financial and Other Data	22
Selected Unaudited Pro Forma Consolidated Financial Data	24
RISK FACTORS	26
Risks Relating to NOT Accepting the Exchange Offer or Rejecting the Prepackaged Plan	26
Risks Relating to Accepting the Exchange Offer or to the Effectiveness of the Prepackaged Plan and	
Becoming Holders of Common Stock	28
Risks Relating to the Prepackaged Plan	35
Other Risks Relating to the Company	41
CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS	49
RECENT DEVELOPMENTS	51
THE RESTRUCTURING	52
<u>Overview</u>	52
Background to the Restructuring	53
Reasons for the Restructuring	58
Opinion of Greenhill Relating to the CD&R Investment	59
Description of the CD&R Investment	66
The Investment Agreement	66
Certain Terms of the Series B Convertible Preferred Stock	88
Stockholders Agreement	97
Registration Rights Agreement	105
Indemnification Agreement	109
Retirement of Convertible Notes	110
Description of the Term Loan Refinancing and the ABL Financing	111
Term Loan Refinancing	111
ABL Financing	114
The Lock-Up Agreement	116
ACCOUNTING TREATMENT	120
UNAUDITED PRO FORMA FINANCIAL INFORMATION	122
SOURCE AND USE OF PROCEEDS	129
THE EXCHANGE OFFER	130
Purpose of the Exchange Offer	130
Terms of the Exchange Offer	130
Certain Matters Relating to Non-U.S. Jurisdictions	130
Financing of the Exchange Offer; Pro Forma Ownership	131
Exchange Offer Expiration Date	131
<del></del>	

i

## **Table of Contents**

	Page
Extensions; Amendments  Described for Total desire Consentials Nature	131
Procedures for Tendering Convertible Notes	132
Book-Entry Transfer	134
Effect of Letter of Transmittal	134
Binding Interpretations  A contract of Contract	135
Acceptance of Convertible Notes for Exchange; Delivery of Cash and Shares of Common Stock	135
Withdrawal Rights  Process of Grant Cittle Notes Not Associated for Freehouse	136
Return of Convertible Notes Not Accepted for Exchange	137
Conditions to Completion of the Exchange Offer  Page 1s of the Sharpe of Common Stock	137
Resale of the Shares of Common Stock	138
No Appraisal Rights  No Appraisal Rights	138
Material Differences in the Rights of Holders of Convertible Notes and Common Stock	138
Fees and Expenses	139
Exchange Agent	140
Information Agent	140
Interests of Directors and Executive Officers	141
Schedule TO	141
THE PREPACKAGED PLAN	142
Anticipated Events in a Reorganization Case	143
Solicitations of Acceptances of the Prepackaged Plan	143
Summary of Classification and Treatment of Claims and Equity Interest Under the Prepackaged Plan	145
Holders of Claims Entitled to Vote; Voting Record Date	145
Vote Required for Class Acceptance of the Prepackaged Plan	146
Classifications under the Prepackaged Plan	147
Classification and Allowance of Claims and Interests	147
Summary of Distributions under the Prepackaged Plan	147
Confirmation of the Prepackaged Plan	152
Acceptance of the Prepackaged Plan	153
Feasibility of the Prepackaged Plan	153
Best Interests Test	154
<u>Liquidation Analysis</u>	154
Alternatives to Confirmation of the Prepackaged Plan	160
Solicitation and Voting Procedures	160
Means for Implementing the Prepackaged Plan	164
Confirmation of the Prepackaged Plan Without Acceptance by All Classes of Impaired Claims	165
Valuation Analysis and Financial Projections	166
<u>Distributions</u>	168
Conditions to the Effective Date of the Prepackaged Plan	169
Modification of the Prepackaged Plan	169
Withdrawal of Prepackaged Plan	169
Effect of Prepackaged Plan Confirmation	170
Settlement, Release, Injunction and Related Provisions	171
Treatment of Trade Creditors and Employees During Our Reorganization Case	175
Restriction on Transfer of Securities	177

Table of Contents 9

ii

## **Table of Contents**

	Page
Securities Laws Matters	178
Certain Transactions by Stockbrokers	178
UNAUDITED PROJECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL INFORMATION FOR RESTRUCTURING	
UNDER THE PREPACKAGED PLAN	179
<u>DIRECTORS AND MANAGEMENT</u>	185
Existing Board of Directors	185
Board of Directors from and after the Closing of the Restructuring	185
Executive Officers	186
PRICE RANGE OF COMMON STOCK AND CONVERTIBLE NOTES	187
DIVIDEND POLICY	188
DESCRIPTION OF CAPITAL STOCK	189
Capital Stock	189
Preferred Stock	189
Effect of New Issuance of Preferred Stock	190
Possible Anti-Takeover Effects of Delaware Law and Relevant Provisions of Our Certificate of	
Incorporation	190
CERTAIN U.S. FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSIDERATIONS	191
Consequences to U.S. Holders	192
Consequences to Non-U.S. Holders	194
Consequences to Non-Participating Holders if the Recapitalization Plan Is Consummated	196
Consequences to the Company	196
CERTAIN ERISA CONSIDERATIONS	198
General Fiduciary Matters	198
Prohibited Transaction Issues	198
Representation	199
WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION	200
INCORPORATION OF CERTAIN DOCUMENTS BY REFERENCE	200
EXPERTS	201
VALIDITY OF SECURITIES	201
Annex A Prepackaged Plan of Reorganization	_01
Annex B Lock-Up and Voting Agreement	
Annex C Investment Agreement	
Annex D Amendment to Investment Agreement	
Annex E Amendment No. 2 to Investment Agreement	
Annex F Form of Stockholders Agreement	
Annex G Form of Certificate of Designations	
Annex H Form of Registration Rights Agreement	
Annex I Form of Indemnification Agreement	
Annex J Form of Amended Credit Agreement	
Annex K ABL Term Sheet	
Annex L Opinion of Greenhill & Co., LLC	
EX-5.1	
<u>EX-8.1</u>	
<u>EX-10.32</u>	
EX-12.1	
EX-23.1 EX-23.4	
EX-99.1	

EX-99.2 EX-99.3 EX-99.4

iii

#### **Table of Contents**

NONE OF NCI BUILDING SYSTEMS, INC., THE CD&R FUND, CD&R, GREENHILL & CO., LLC (THE DEALER-MANAGER), MORROW & CO., LLC (THE INFORMATION AGENT), COMPUTERSHARE TRUST COMPANY, N.A. (THE EXCHANGE AGENT), FINANCIAL BALLOTING GROUP LLC (THE VOTING AGENT) OR ANY OF THEIR RESPECTIVE AFFILIATES IS MAKING ANY RECOMMENDATION AS TO WHETHER YOU SHOULD TENDER YOUR CONVERTIBLE NOTES IN THE EXCHANGE OFFER OR VOTE TO ACCEPT OR REJECT THE PREPACKAGED PLAN. YOU MUST MAKE YOUR OWN DECISION WHETHER TO TENDER CONVERTIBLE NOTES IN THE EXCHANGE OFFER AND WHETHER TO VOTE TO ACCEPT OR REJECT THE PREPACKAGED PLAN.

This prospectus/disclosure statement incorporates important business and financial information about us from documents that we have filed with the SEC but have not been included in, or delivered with, this prospectus/disclosure statement. For a listing of the documents that we have incorporated by reference into this prospectus/disclosure statement, see Incorporation of Certain Documents by Reference. This information is available without charge upon written or oral request to NCI Building Systems, Inc., 10943 North Sam Houston Parkway West, Houston, Texas 77064, Attn: Investor Relations Department, or made by telephone at (281) 897-7788. To obtain timely delivery, holders of convertible notes must request the information no later than the fifth business day prior to the expiration date of the exchange offer.

We have not authorized any person to provide any information or to make any representation in connection with the exchange offer or the prepackaged plan other than the information contained or incorporated by reference in this prospectus/disclosure statement or the accompanying letter of transmittal or ballot, and if any person provides any of this information or makes any representation of this kind, that information or representation must not be relied upon as having been authorized by us.

The Company is not aware of any jurisdiction in which the making of the exchange offer or the tender of convertible notes in connection therewith would not be in compliance with the laws of such jurisdiction. If you are in a jurisdiction where offers to sell, or solicitations of offers to purchase, the securities offered by this prospectus/disclosure statement are unlawful, or if you are a person to whom it is unlawful to direct these types of activities, then the offer and solicitation presented in this document does not extend to you. In those jurisdictions where the securities, blue sky or other laws require this exchange offer, or the solicitation of acceptances to the prepackaged plan, to be made by a licensed broker or dealer and the dealer-manager or any of its affiliates is such a licensed broker or dealer in such jurisdictions, this exchange offer, or the solicitation of acceptances to the prepackaged plan, shall be deemed to be made by the dealer-manager or such affiliate (as the case may be) on our behalf in such jurisdictions. The exchange offer and solicitation of acceptances of the prepackaged plan are being made on the basis of this prospectus/disclosure statement and the accompanying letter of transmittal or ballot and are subject to the terms and conditions described herein. Any decision to participate in the exchange offer or to vote on the prepackaged plan must be based on the information contained in this prospectus/disclosure statement, the accompanying letter of transmittal or the ballot, or specifically incorporated by reference herein. In making an investment decision, prospective investors must rely on their own examination of us and the terms of the restructuring and the new securities, including the merits and risks involved. Prospective investors should not construe anything in this prospectus/disclosure statement as legal, business or tax advice. Each prospective investor should consult its advisors as needed to make its investment decision and to determine whether it is legally permitted to participate in the exchange offer or to vote on the prepackaged plan under applicable legal investment or similar laws or regulations.

Each prospective investor must comply with all applicable laws and regulations in force in any jurisdiction in which it participates in this exchange offer or in the solicitation for acceptances to the prepackaged plan, or in

which it possesses or distributes this prospectus/disclosure statement, and must obtain any consent, approval or permission required by it for participation in this exchange offer or in the solicitation for acceptances to the prepackaged plan, under the laws and regulations in force in any jurisdiction to which it is subject, and none of us, the dealer-manager, the information agent, the exchange agent, the voting agent, CD&R, the CD&R Fund or any of our or their respective representatives shall have any responsibility therefor.

iv

#### **Table of Contents**

Neither CD&R nor the CD&R Fund is making this exchange offer or soliciting votes for the prepackaged plan, and none of CD&R, the CD&R Fund, any of their respective affiliates or any of their, or their respective affiliates representatives is responsible for the accuracy of any information in this prospectus/disclosure statement.

The information contained in this prospectus/disclosure statement is as of the date of this prospectus/disclosure statement only and is subject to change, completion or amendment without notice. Neither the delivery of this prospectus/disclosure statement, nor any sale made hereunder, shall under any circumstances create any implication that there has been no change in our affairs since the date on the front cover of this prospectus/disclosure statement or that the information incorporated by reference herein is correct as of any time subsequent to the date of such information.

This prospectus/disclosure statement contains summaries believed to be accurate with respect to certain documents, but reference is made to the actual documents for complete information. All of those summaries are qualified in their entirety by this reference. Copies of documents referred to herein will be made available to prospective investors upon request to the information agent or the voting agent.

In this prospectus/disclosure statement and in the documents incorporated by reference herein, we rely on and refer to information and statistics regarding our industry. We obtained this market data from independent industry publications or other publicly available information. Although we believe that these sources are reliable, we and the dealer-manager have not independently verified and do not guarantee the accuracy and completeness of this information.

All references to NCI refer to NCI Building Systems, Inc. only and all references to we, our, ours, us, the Company and similar terms are to NCI Building Systems, Inc., and its subsidiaries, unless the context otherwise requires.

v

#### **Table of Contents**

#### QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS ABOUT THE RESTRUCTURING

The following are some questions and answers regarding the restructuring, including the recapitalization plan (which includes this exchange offer) and the prepackaged plan. It does not contain all of the information that may be important to you. You should carefully read this prospectus/disclosure statement, including the information incorporated by reference into this prospectus/disclosure statement, to understand fully the terms of the restructuring, the recapitalization plan (which includes this exchange offer) and the prepackaged plan, as well as the other considerations that are important to you in making your investment decision. You should pay special attention to the Risk Factors beginning on page 26 and Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Statements beginning on page 49.

#### General

#### Q: What is the purpose of the restructuring?

A: The purpose of the restructuring is to address the Company s immediate need for liquidity in light of a potentially imminent default under, and acceleration of, our existing credit facility, which may occur as early as November 6, 2009 (which may, in turn, also lead to a default under, and acceleration of, our other indebtedness, including the convertible notes indenture), and the high likelihood that we will be required to repurchase the convertible notes on November 15, 2009, the first scheduled mandatory repurchase date under the convertible notes indenture.

The restructuring consists of four related transactions:

the CD&R investment, which involves the sale and issuance to the CD&R Fund of 250,000 shares of Series B convertible preferred stock for \$250.0 million;

the retirement of the convertible notes;

the term loan refinancing, which involves the refinancing of our existing credit facility under which we will repay approximately \$143.3 million of the \$293.3 million in principal amount of term loans outstanding under our existing credit facility and enter into an amendment to our existing credit agreement providing for a modification of the terms and maturity of the \$150.0 million balance; and

the ABL financing, which involves our entry into a \$125.0 million asset-based loan facility.

Each of the transactions comprising the restructuring may be accomplished through either the out-of-court recapitalization plan or, in the alternative, the in-court prepackaged plan. If the restructuring is being accomplished through the recapitalization plan, the retirement of the convertible notes tendered in the exchange offer would be accomplished through this exchange offer and the refinancing of our existing credit facility would be accomplished through an amendment to our existing credit agreement. In the alternative, if the restructuring is being accomplished through the prepackaged plan, the retirement of the convertible notes as well as the refinancing of our existing credit facility would be accomplished through the effectiveness of the prepackaged plan. See The Restructuring.

The closing of the exchange offer is conditioned on the satisfaction or, with the consent of the CD&R Fund, waiver of the minimum tender condition, which requires that at least 95% of the aggregate principal amount of outstanding

convertible notes are validly tendered and not withdrawn in this exchange offer. If the restructuring is accomplished through the recapitalization plan, we intend, but are not required, to retire any remaining convertible notes outstanding after the consummation of this exchange offer by exercising our redemption right under the convertible notes indenture on or after November 20, 2009; if we do not so exercise our redemption right, such remaining convertible notes will otherwise be retired pursuant to the terms of the convertible notes indenture.

For a more detailed description of this exchange offer, see The Exchange Offer.

#### Q: What is the recapitalization plan?

A: The recapitalization plan is one method to accomplish the restructuring. Under the recapitalization plan:

1

#### **Table of Contents**

the CD&R investment would be effected through a private placement transaction;

the retirement of the convertible notes tendered in this exchange offer would be effected through this exchange offer, pursuant to which the Company is offering to acquire any and all of its outstanding convertible notes in exchange for cash and shares of common stock;

the term loan refinancing would be effected through an amendment to our existing credit agreement by us and the lenders under our existing credit agreement; and

the ABL financing would be effected through our entry into the ABL agreement.

If the restructuring is accomplished through the recapitalization plan, we intend, but are not required, to retire any remaining convertible notes outstanding after the consummation of this exchange offer by exercising our redemption right under the convertible notes indenture on or after November 20, 2009; if we do not so exercise our redemption right, such remaining convertible notes will otherwise be retired pursuant to the terms of the convertible notes indenture.

See The Restructuring and The Exchange Offer.

#### **Q:** What is the prepackaged plan?

A: The prepackaged plan is an alternative to the recapitalization plan for accomplishing the restructuring. In the event that the conditions to the recapitalization plan are not satisfied or, with the prior consent of the CD&R Fund, waived (including, for example, the minimum tender condition) but we receive acceptances from a sufficient number of holders of impaired claims in an impaired class of claims to allow the prepackaged plan to be confirmed under the Bankruptcy Code, including confirmation through the nonconsensual cram-down provisions of section 1129(b) of the Bankruptcy Code with respect to non-accepting impaired class of claims, as an alternative to the recapitalization plan, we may elect and, under the terms of the investment agreement, we may be required, to seek confirmation of the prepackaged plan in a chapter 11 proceeding. See The Restructuring Description of the CD&R Investment The Investment Agreement Commencement of a Reorganization Case in Connection with the Prepackaged Plan Covenant.

Under the prepackaged plan, holders of convertible notes and the lenders under our existing credit agreement (as well as the holders of all other claims and interests) would receive the same treatment with respect to their claims (and interests) as they would receive in the recapitalization plan, the CD&R Fund would receive the same 250,000 shares of Series B convertible preferred stock contemplated by the CD&R investment and the Company would enter into the ABL agreement. Existing holders of our common stock would continue to hold such common stock.

See The Prepackaged Plan.

#### Q: In what circumstances will we file the prepackaged plan instead of close the exchange offer?

A: If we are unable to complete the recapitalization plan because the minimum tender condition, which requires that at least 95% of the aggregate principal amount of outstanding convertible notes are validly tendered and not withdrawn in this exchange offer, is not satisfied or waived, or less than all of the lenders under our existing credit facility consent to entering into the amended credit agreement, but holders of convertible notes or obligations under our credit agreement holding, in either case, at least two-thirds (2/3) in amount and more than

one-half (1/2) in number of the claims in the applicable class who actually cast ballots vote to accept the prepackaged plan, we will seek to accomplish the restructuring, on the same economic terms as the recapitalization plan, by way of the prepackaged plan. See Questions and Answers About the Restructuring What is the Prepackaged Plan? and Summary The Prepackaged Plan.

The confirmation and effectiveness of the prepackaged plan are subject to certain conditions that may not be satisfied and are different from those under the recapitalization plan (including the exchange offer). We cannot assure you that all requirements for confirmation and effectiveness of the prepackaged plan will be satisfied or that the bankruptcy court will conclude that the requirements for confirmation and effectiveness of the prepackaged plan have been satisfied. See The Prepackaged Plan Confirmation of the Prepackaged Plan and The Prepackaged Plan Conditions to Effective Date of the Prepackaged Plan.

2

#### **Table of Contents**

The effective date of the prepackaged plan will not occur until the conditions set forth below have been satisfied or waived: (1) the confirmation order has been entered and no stay of such order is in effect; (2) the receipt of proceeds from the CD&R investment; (3) the consummation of the term loan refinancing; and (4) the consummation of the ABL financing. See The Prepackaged Plan Conditions to the Effective Date of the Prepackaged Plan.

# Q: What are the expected results of the restructuring, either accomplished through the recapitalization plan or the prepackaged plan?

A: The restructuring, if successful, will increase the Company s capital and liquidity levels and reduce the amount of our outstanding debt. Specifically, upon the completion of the restructuring, we expect our indebtedness to be reduced from approximately \$473.7 million as of August 2, 2009 to approximately \$150.4 million at the closing of the restructuring, consisting of \$150.0 million in principal amount of term loans under the amended credit agreement and \$0.4 million of our industrial revenue bond. See Capitalization and Source and Use of Proceeds.

The ABL financing contemplated by the restructuring will provide us with up to \$125.0 million in liquidity, subject to availability under a borrowing base, for working capital purposes and future expansion. Based on its discussions with prospective lenders under the ABL agreement, the Company expects that because of borrowing base constraints, initial availability under the ABL agreement will be substantially less than the \$125.0 million commitment, and may be as low as \$45.0 million.

Assuming we are able to complete the restructuring, we expect that, for the foreseeable future, cash generated from operations, together with the proceeds of the ABL financing, will be sufficient to allow us to fund our operations, to increase working capital as necessary to support our strategy and to fund planned capital expenditures and expansions (including approximately \$5 million expected for the remainder of fiscal 2009).

#### **Q:** What is the lock-up agreement?

A: We have entered into a lock-up agreement with the holders of more than 79% of the aggregate principal amount of the outstanding convertible notes. Pursuant to the lock-up agreement, each holder of convertible notes that executed the lock-up agreement has irrevocably agreed, in accordance with the terms of the lock-up agreement, (1) to tender its convertible notes in this exchange offer, (2) to the extent that such holder holds obligations under our existing credit agreement, to support the term loan refinancing by accepting its portion of the repayment contemplated thereby and by executing an amendment to our existing credit agreement in the form of the amended credit agreement attached hereto as Annex J, and (3) to vote all of its convertible notes and obligations under our existing credit facility in favor of the prepackaged plan, among other things. See The Restructuring The Lock-Up Agreement.

#### Q: Why is it important that I tender my convertible notes and vote to accept the prepackaged plan?

A: If we do not complete the restructuring either through the recapitalization plan or the prepackaged plan, because the conditions to the recapitalization plan and the prepackaged plan have not been satisfied or waived or otherwise, we will face an immediate liquidity crisis. If we do not complete the restructuring, we do not expect, and we cannot assure you, that we will have, or have access to, sufficient liquidity (1) to meet our debt repayment/repurchase obligations, including any potential acceleration of our existing credit facility, which may occur as early as November 6, 2009 (which may, in turn, also lead to a default under, and acceleration of, our other indebtedness, including the convertible notes indentures) and (2) to meet our obligation to repurchase the convertible notes at the option of the holders thereof on November 15, 2009, the next scheduled repurchase date.

Due to our non-compliance as of August 2, 2009 with the required leverage, senior leverage and interest coverage ratios in our existing credit agreement, our outstanding indebtedness of approximately \$293.3 million thereunder may be declared immediately due and payable as early as November 6, 2009, the date the current waiver from the lenders under our existing credit agreement expires. In the event that we do not repay such borrowings upon acceleration, the lenders under our existing credit agreement could exercise their remedies as secured creditors with respect to the collateral securing such borrowings. A failure to pay or refinance such borrowings will also result in a default under the convertible notes indenture, which convertible notes could

3

#### **Table of Contents**

also then be declared immediately due and payable, and under our swap agreement, which could then be terminated by the counterparty thereto. If all such indebtedness, which totaled approximately \$473.7 million as of August 2, 2009 and such amounts payable pursuant to the termination of the swap agreement were to become due and payable on November 6, 2009, it would result in a material adverse effect on our financial condition, operations and debt service capabilities. As of August 2, 2009, excluding restricted cash, we had a current cash balance of approximately \$105.4 million to address our liquidity needs. For a description of our non-compliance with the financial ratio covenants under our existing credit agreement, see our quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended August 2, 2009, our current reports on Form 8-K filed on May 21, 2009, July 15, 2009 and August 27, 2009 and Incorporation of Certain Documents by Reference.

In the event that we experience a liquidity crisis as described above, it could likely result in our filing for bankruptcy protection pursuant to the Bankruptcy Code on terms other than as contemplated by the prepackaged plan. If we commence such a bankruptcy filing, holders of convertible notes may receive consideration that is substantially less than what is being offered under the restructuring. See Risk Factors Risk Relating to NOT Accepting the Exchange Offer or Rejecting the Prepackaged Plan for more information on the possible consequences if the restructuring is not successfully completed.

Both this exchange offer and the prepackaged plan are subject to certain conditions. In particular, this exchange offer is subject to the satisfaction of the minimum tender condition that at least 95% of the aggregate principal amount of the outstanding convertible notes must have been validly tendered and not withdrawn in this exchange offer, and confirmation and effectiveness of the prepackaged plan requires the receipt of acceptances from a sufficient number of holders of impaired claims in an impaired class of claims to allow the prepackaged plan to be confirmed under the Bankruptcy Code, including confirmation through the nonconsensual cram-down provisions of section 1129(b) of the Bankruptcy Code with respect to non-accepting impaired claims classes.

Accordingly, it is important that you tender your convertible notes for exchange in this exchange offer and vote to accept the prepackaged plan to avoid the adverse consequences described above.

#### This Exchange Offer

- **Q:** Who is making this exchange offer?
- A: NCI Building Systems, Inc. (the issuer of the convertible notes) is making this exchange offer.
- Q: What amount of convertible notes are you seeking in this exchange offer?
- A: We are seeking to acquire any and all outstanding convertible notes.
- Q: What will I receive in this exchange offer if I tender my convertible notes and they are accepted?
- A: For each \$1,000 principal amount of convertible notes that you tender and not withdraw in this exchange offer and that we accept, you will, upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this prospectus/disclosure statement and the letter of transmittal, receive \$500 in cash and 390 shares of common stock. The cash payment and the shares of common stock to be issued pursuant to this exchange offer will be in full satisfaction of the principal amount of, and any accrued but unpaid interest through the consummation of this exchange offer on, the convertible notes so tendered and accepted.
- Q: Who may participate in this exchange offer?

- A: All holders of convertible notes may participate in this exchange offer.
- Q: Does the success of this exchange offer depend on the participation of any minimum number of holders of convertible notes?
- A: Yes. This exchange offer is subject to the satisfaction of the minimum tender condition, which means that at least 95% of the aggregate principal amount of the outstanding convertible notes must have been validly tendered and not withdrawn in this exchange offer. The satisfaction of the minimum tender condition is a condition to the closing of the CD&R investment and the term loan refinancing under the recapitalization plan.

4

#### **Table of Contents**

If this condition is not met, subject to applicable laws and our obligation under the investment agreement, we may amend this exchange offer at any time before the acceptance of the convertible notes for exchange. Under the investment agreement, however, we are prohibited from waiving any condition to this exchange offer or making any changes to the terms and conditions to this exchange offer without the prior consent of the CD&R Fund. In addition, any change to the minimum tender condition could result in a termination of the lock-up agreement.

We may extend this exchange offer beyond the initial expiration date without the prior consent of the CD&R Fund for a period of not more than 10 business days if, at such date, any of the conditions to this exchange offer have not been satisfied or, with the prior written consent of the CD&R Fund, waived, and, subject to the termination of the investment agreement, we are required to extend this exchange offer if it expires before the registration statement of which this prospectus/disclosure statement forms a part is declared effective.

#### Q: How do I tender my convertible notes in this exchange offer?

A: Please follow the procedures for tendering your convertible notes in this exchange offer described in The Exchange Offer Procedures for Tendering Convertible Notes. For further information contact the information agent or the dealer-manager at the addresses or telephone numbers on the back cover of this prospectus/disclosure statement or consult your broker, dealer, commercial bank, trust company or other nominee for assistance.

#### Q: How long will this exchange offer remain open?

A: This exchange offer and the withdrawal rights will expire at 11:59 p.m., New York City time, on October 7, 2009, or any subsequent time or date to which this exchange offer is extended.

As more fully described below, we may extend the expiration date or amend any of the terms or conditions of this exchange offer for any reason, subject to applicable laws and our obligations under the investment agreement (see The Restructuring Description of the CD&R Investment The Investment Agreement The Exchange Offer; Solicitation of Acceptances of the Prepackaged Plan ). The last date on which tenders will be accepted, whether on October 7, 2009, or any later date to which this exchange offer may be extended, is referred to as the expiration date.

Subject to our obligations under the investment agreement and applicable laws, we have the right to:

extend the expiration date and retain all tendered convertible notes, subject to your right to withdraw your tendered convertible notes; and

waive any condition in our sole discretion or otherwise amend any of the terms or conditions of this exchange offer in any respect.

Under the investment agreement, we are prohibited from waiving any condition to this exchange offer or making any changes to the terms and conditions to this exchange offer without the prior consent of the CD&R Fund. We may extend this exchange offer beyond the initial expiration date without the prior consent of the CD&R Fund for a period of not more than 10 business days, if, at such date, any of the conditions to this exchange offer have not been satisfied or, with the prior written consent of the CD&R Fund, waived, and, subject to the termination of the investment agreement, we are required to extend this exchange offer if it expires before the registration statement of which this prospectus/disclosure statement forms a part is declared effective. See The Restructuring Description of the CD&R Investment The Investment Agreement The Exchange Offer; Solicitation of Acceptances of the Prepackaged Plan. Any change to the minimum tender condition could result in the

termination of the lock-up agreement.

If we extend the expiration date, we will issue a press release or other public announcement no later than 9:00 a.m., New York City time, on the next business day after the scheduled expiration date. If we extend the expiration date, you must tender your convertible notes on or prior to the date identified in such press release or public announcement if you wish to participate in this exchange offer. If we amend any of the terms or conditions of this exchange offer, we will issue a press release or other public announcement. See The Exchange Offer Extensions; Amendments.

5

#### **Table of Contents**

We expressly reserve the right, in our sole discretion, to terminate this exchange offer and not accept for exchange any convertible notes (1) if any of the conditions to this exchange offer have not been satisfied or validly waived by us, subject to applicable laws and our obligations under the investment agreement or (2) in order to comply in whole or in part with any applicable law. See The Exchange Offer Extensions; Amendments.

# Q: When will I receive cash and shares of common stock if I tender my convertible notes in the exchange offer?

A: Upon satisfaction or waiver of all of the conditions to this exchange offer, all convertible notes validly tendered to the exchange agent by 11:59 p.m., New York City time, on the expiration date will be accepted for exchange. The cash and shares of common stock will be delivered promptly after the expiration date. See The Exchange Offer Acceptance of Convertible Notes for Exchange; Delivery of Cash and Shares of Common Stock.

## Q: Can I withdraw my tender of convertible notes?

A: Unless you are a party to the lock-up agreement and are otherwise restricted by the lock-up agreement, you may withdraw tendered convertible notes at any time prior to 11:59 p.m., New York City time, on the expiration date. You must send a written withdrawal notice to the exchange agent, or comply with the appropriate procedures of DTC s Automated Tender Offer Program, which we refer to as ATOP. If you change your mind, you may re-tender your convertible notes by again following the tender procedures at any time prior to 11:59 p.m., New York City time, on the expiration date. See The Exchange Offer Withdrawal Rights.

#### Q: What risks should I consider in deciding whether or not to tender my convertible notes?

A: In deciding whether to participate in this exchange offer, you should carefully consider the discussion of risks and uncertainties affecting the Company, this exchange offer, the prepackaged plan and the common stock described in the section titled Risk Factors and the documents incorporated by reference into this prospectus/disclosure statement.

# Q: If this exchange offer is consummated, but I do not tender my convertible notes, how will my rights be affected?

A: If this exchange offer is consummated and you do not exchange your convertible notes in this exchange offer, or if your convertible notes are not accepted for exchange, unless the restructuring is being accomplished through the prepackaged plan, you will continue to hold your convertible notes and will be entitled to all the rights and subject to all the limitations applicable to the convertible notes. If you continue to hold your convertible notes, you have the right to require that we repurchase the convertible notes (1) upon the closing of the restructuring because such closing would result in a designated event under the convertible notes indenture, at a repurchase price equal to 100% of their principal amount, plus accrued and unpaid interest, including additional amounts, if any, plus under certain circumstances, if the restructuring occurs on or prior to November 15, 2009, a make-whole premium payable solely in shares of our common stock (other than cash paid in lieu of fractional shares) and (2) after five, 10 and 15 years from the date of the issuance of the convertible notes, at 100% of their principal amount, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, beginning November 15, 2009, and we will be required to repurchase any outstanding convertible notes for which you deliver a written repurchase notice to the paying agent, subject to certain conditions in the indenture under which the convertible notes are issued.

Unless we consummate the restructuring, however, we do not expect, and we cannot assure you, that we will have, or have access to, sufficient liquidity to meet our debt obligations, including any potential acceleration of

our indebtedness and our obligation to repurchase the convertible notes at the option of the holders thereof on November 15, 2009, the next scheduled repurchase date. Furthermore, due to our non-compliance as of August 2, 2009 with the required leverage, senior leverage and interest coverage ratios in our existing credit agreement, our outstanding indebtedness of approximately \$293.3 million thereunder, which is senior to the convertible notes, may be declared immediately due and payable as early as November 6, 2009, the date of expiration of the current waiver from the lenders under our existing credit agreement. In the event that we do

6

#### **Table of Contents**

not repay such borrowings upon acceleration, lenders under our existing credit agreement could exercise their remedies as secured creditors with respect to the collateral securing such borrowings. A failure to pay or refinance such borrowings will also result in a default under the convertible notes indenture, which could also then be declared immediately due and payable, and under our swap agreement, which could then be terminated by the counterparty thereto. If all such indebtedness, which totaled approximately \$473.7 million as of August 2, 2009, and such amounts payable pursuant to the termination of the swap agreement, were to become due and payable on November 6, 2009, it would result in a material adverse effect on our financial condition, operations and debt service capabilities. As of August 2, 2009, excluding restricted cash, we had a current cash balance of approximately \$105.4 million to address our liquidity needs. For a description of our non-compliance with the financial ratio covenants under our existing credit agreement, see our quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended August 2, 2009, our current reports on Form 8-K filed on May 21, 2009, July 15, 2009 and August 27, 2009 and Incorporation of Certain Documents by Reference.

See Risk Factors Risks Relating to NOT Accepting the Exchange Offer or Rejecting the Prepackaged Plan.

#### Q: What happens if my convertible notes are not accepted in this exchange offer?

A: If we do not accept your convertible notes for exchange for any reason, the unaccepted convertible notes will be returned to you without expense and the convertible notes tendered by book-entry transfer into the account of the exchange agent at DTC will be credited to your account at DTC. See The Exchange Offer Return of Convertible Notes Not Accepted for Exchange.

#### Q: What is the source for the financial resources to make payment?

A: Assuming 100% of the convertible notes are tendered and accepted in this exchange offer, approximately \$90.0 million is required to pay the cash consideration for all of the convertible notes.

We expect to use a portion of the proceeds from the CD&R investment to fund the aggregate cash payment in this exchange offer. If we are unable to consummate the CD&R investment, we will not be able to accomplish the restructuring.

# Q: If I decide to tender my convertible notes, will I have to pay any fees or commissions in connection with this exchange offer?

A: If you are the record owner of your convertible notes and you tender your convertible notes directly to the exchange agent, you will not have to pay any fees or commissions. If you hold your convertible notes through a custodian or nominee, and your custodian or nominee tenders the convertible notes on your behalf, your custodian or nominee may charge you a fee for doing so. You should consult with your custodian or nominee to determine whether any charges will apply. Additionally, we will pay all other expenses related to this exchange offer and the solicitation of acceptances to the prepackaged plan, except any commissions or concessions of any broker or dealer other than the dealer-manager. The Company will also pay any transfer taxes applicable to the exchange of the convertible notes pursuant to the exchange offer, except in circumstances described in the letter of transmittal.

#### Q: Are there dissenters rights in connection with this exchange offer?

A: Holders of convertible notes do not have dissenters rights of appraisal in connection with this exchange offer.

Q:

Whom do I call if I have any questions about how to tender my convertible notes or any other questions relating to this exchange offer?

A: Questions and requests for assistance with respect to the procedures for tendering convertible notes pursuant to this exchange offer may be directed to Morrow & Co., LLC, as the information agent, at its address and telephone number set forth on the back cover of this prospectus/disclosure statement.

You may also contact Greenhill & Co., LLC, as the dealer-manager, at its address and telephone number set forth on the back over of this prospectus/disclosure statement with any questions you may have regarding this exchange offer.

7

#### **Table of Contents**

#### The Prepackaged Plan

- Q: Who is soliciting votes on the prepackaged plan?
- A: NCI Building Systems, Inc. is soliciting votes on the prepackaged plan.
- Q: Why is NCI soliciting votes on the prepackaged plan if the restructuring can be accomplished through the recapitalization plan?
- A: We have prepared the prepackaged plan as an alternative to the recapitalization plan for accomplishing the restructuring, if the conditions to completion of the recapitalization plan, including, for example, the minimum tender condition, are not met or waived, but we receive acceptances from a sufficient number of holders of impaired claims in an impaired class of claims to allow the prepackaged plan to be confirmed under the Bankruptcy Code, including confirmation through the nonconsensual cram-down provisions of section 1129(b) of the Bankruptcy Code with respect to non-accepting impaired claims classes. The prepackaged plan consists of a plan of reorganization under chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code that would effect the same transactions contemplated by the recapitalization plan, including the issuance of shares of Series B convertible preferred stock in connection with the CD&R investment, the payment of cash and the issuance of shares of common stock in exchange for convertible notes, the term loan refinancing and the ABL financing. Under the prepackaged plan, holders of convertible notes and the lenders under our existing credit agreement (as well as the holders of all other claims and interests) would receive the same treatment with respect to their claims (and interests) as they would receive in the recapitalization plan, the CD&R Fund would receive the same 250,000 shares of Series B convertible preferred stock contemplated by the CD&R investment and the Company would enter into the ABL agreement. Existing holders of our common stock would continue to hold such common stock. See The Prepackaged Plan.

For the prepackaged plan to be confirmed by the bankruptcy court without invoking the cram-down provisions of the Bankruptcy Code, each class of claims or interests that is impaired must vote to accept the prepackaged plan. An impaired class of claims (such as holders of convertible notes) is deemed to accept a plan of reorganization if the holders of at least two-thirds (2/3) in amount and more than one-half (1/2) in number of the claims in such class who actually cast ballots vote to accept the prepackaged plan. If the prepackaged plan is confirmed by the bankruptcy court, it will bind all holders of claims and equity interests in the Company regardless of whether they voted for, against, or did not vote at all on, the prepackaged plan.

Therefore, assuming the prepackaged plan satisfies the other requirements of the Bankruptcy Code, a significantly smaller number of claim holders can bind other claim holders to the terms of the prepackaged plan to accomplish the restructuring than are required to effect this exchange offer and the other transactions contemplated by the recapitalization plan.

The confirmation and effectiveness of the prepackaged plan are subject to certain conditions that may not be satisfied and are different from those under the recapitalization plan. We cannot assure you that all requirements for confirmation and effectiveness of the prepackaged plan will be satisfied or that the bankruptcy court will conclude that the requirements for confirmation and effectiveness of the prepackaged plan have been satisfied. See The Prepackaged Plan Confirmation of the Prepackaged Plan and The Prepackaged Plan Conditions to Effective Date of the Prepackaged Plan.

#### Q: Who is eligible to vote for the prepackaged plan?

A: Generally, holders of claims or interests in classes that are impaired (other than classes that receive nothing under the prepackaged plan and are, therefore, deemed to reject it) are eligible to vote on the prepackaged plan. As more fully explained in this prospectus/disclosure statement, a claim or equity interest is impaired, generally speaking, if its treatment under a plan of reorganization alters the terms of, or rights associated with, that claim or interest. The rights in respect of the convertible notes would be altered by the prepackaged plan and consequently holders of convertible notes may vote on the prepackaged plan.

For the purposes of the prepackaged plan, we have organized the various claims and interests against the Company into different classes. Holders of claims impaired by the prepackaged plan that are entitled to vote on the prepackaged plan will vote on the prepackaged plan by class. Under the prepackaged plan, members of the

8

#### **Table of Contents**

same class are treated the same. The claims of the lenders under our existing credit agreement are classified under the prepackaged plan as Class 3 claims, and the claims of holders of convertible notes are separately classified under the prepackaged plan as Class 5 Claims. See The Prepackaged Plan of Reorganization Summary of Classification and Treatment of Claims and Equity Interests under the Prepackaged Plan and The Prepackaged Plan Summary of Distributions under the Prepackaged Plan, for a description of the various classes of claims and equity interests under the prepackaged plan and their treatment.

#### Q: What will I receive under the prepackaged plan if it is confirmed and consummated?

A: For each \$1,000 principal amount of convertible notes, you will, upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this prospectus/disclosure statement and the prepackaged plan, receive \$500 in cash and 390 shares of common stock. The cash payment and shares of common stock to be issued pursuant to the prepackaged plan will be in full satisfaction of the claims with respect to the convertible notes, including principal and accrued interest.

## Q: What vote is needed to confirm the prepackaged plan?

A: The Bankruptcy Code provides that only holders of claims entitled to vote and who actually cast a ballot will be counted for purposes of determining whether acceptances from a sufficient number of holders of impaired claims in an impaired class of claims have been received to allow the prepackaged plan to be confirmed under the Bankruptcy Code, including confirmation through the nonconsensual cram-down provisions of section 1129(b) of the Bankruptcy Code with respect to non-accepting impaired claims classes. Failure by a holder to deliver an original, duly completed and signed ballot will not be counted as a vote to accept or reject the prepackaged plan. See The Prepackaged Plan Vote Required for Class Acceptance of the Prepackaged Plan.

For the prepackaged plan to be confirmed by the bankruptcy court without invoking the cram-down provisions of the Bankruptcy Code, each class of claims or interests that is impaired must vote to accept the prepackaged plan. An impaired class of claims (such as holders of convertible notes) is deemed to accept a plan of reorganization if the holders of at least two-thirds (2/3) in amount and more than one-half (1/2) in number of the claims in such class who actually cast ballots vote to accept the prepackaged plan. Under the prepackaged plan, the claims held by the lenders under our existing credit agreement and the claims held by holders of convertible notes constitute separate impaired classes of claims. Under the prepackaged plan, other classes of claims against and interests in the Company (other than holders of certain claims relating to section 510(b) of the Bankruptcy Code who are deemed to reject the prepackaged plan and are not entitled to vote), including existing holders of our common stock, are unimpaired and, therefore, conclusively presumed to accept the prepackaged plan. See The Prepackaged Plan Confirmation of the Prepackaged Plan Without Acceptance by All Classes of Impaired Claims.

If the prepackaged plan is confirmed by the bankruptcy court, it would bind all holders of claims and equity interests in the Company regardless of whether they voted for, against, or did not vote at all on, the prepackaged plan. Therefore, assuming the prepackaged plan satisfies the other requirements of the Bankruptcy Code, a significantly smaller number of claim holders can bind other claim holders to the terms of the prepackaged plan than are required to effect this exchange offer and the other transactions contemplated by the recapitalization plan. Additionally, since claims and equity interests are grouped in classes for the purpose of voting on the prepackaged plan, holders of claims and interests may be bound by the decisions of other claim or interest holders in a way that they otherwise would not outside of bankruptcy.

If we do not receive acceptances from a sufficient number of holders of impaired claims in an impaired class of claims to allow the prepackaged plan to be confirmed under the Bankruptcy Code, including confirmation through the nonconsensual cram-down provisions of section 1129(b) of the Bankruptcy Code with respect to non-accepting impaired claims classes, the prepackaged plan will not be confirmed or become effective.

# Q: What are the effects of the prepackaged plan?

Under the prepackaged plan, holders of convertible notes and the lenders under our existing credit agreement (as well as the holders of all other claims and interests) would receive the same treatment with respect to their

9

#### **Table of Contents**

claims (and interests) as they would receive in the recapitalization plan, the CD&R Fund would receive the same 250,000 shares of Series B convertible preferred stock contemplated by the CD&R investment and the Company would enter into the ABL agreement. Existing holders of our common stock would continue to hold such common stock. See Summary Liquidity and The Prepackaged Plan.

#### **Q:** When is the deadline for submitting ballots?

A: The ballots must be received by the voting agent by 11:59 p.m., New York City time, on the voting deadline, or October 7, 2009. If the voting deadline is extended, then the ballots must be received by the voting agent by any such extended voting deadline. In the case of an extension, we will notify the voting agent and issue a press release or other public announcement no later than 9:00 a.m., New York City time, on the next business day after the scheduled voting deadline. Ballots must be sent by mail, hand delivery or overnight courier to the voting agent, Financial Balloting Group LLC, by the voting deadline. Electronic and facsimile ballots will not be accepted.

See The Prepackaged Plan Holders of Claims Entitled to Vote; Voting Record Date and The Prepackaged Plan Solicitation and Voting Procedures Voting Deadline.

#### Q: How do I vote on the prepackaged plan?

A: Please follow the procedures for voting on the prepackaged plan described in the section titled The Prepackaged Plan Solicitation and Voting Procedures Voting Instructions.

For further information, contact the voting agent at its address and telephone number on the back cover of this prospectus/disclosure statement or consult your broker, dealer, commercial bank, trust company or other nominee for assistance.

Only the beneficial owners of convertible notes and/or term loans and other obligations under our existing credit agreement (or their authorized signatories) as of the voting record date are eligible to vote on the prepackaged plan.

#### Q: Can I revoke my vote?

A: Unless you are a party to the lock-up agreement or are otherwise restricted by the lock-up agreement, any party who has previously submitted to the voting agent prior to the voting deadline a properly completed ballot may revoke such ballot and change its vote by submitting to the voting agent, prior to the voting deadline, a subsequent properly completed ballot for acceptance or rejection of the prepackaged plan.

# Q: Whom do I call if I have any questions about how to submit ballots or any other questions relating to the prepackaged plan?

A: Questions and requests for assistance with respect to the procedures for voting on the prepackaged plan, as well as requests for additional copies of this prospectus/disclosure statement and the ballot, may be directed to Financial Balloting Group, LLC, as the voting agent, at its address and telephone number set forth on the back cover of this prospectus/disclosure statement.

#### Q: What risks should I consider in deciding whether to accept or reject the prepackaged plan?

A:

In deciding whether to vote to accept or reject the prepackaged plan, you should carefully consider the discussion of risks and uncertainties affecting the Company, this exchange offer, the prepackaged plan and the common stock described in the section titled Risk Factors and the risk factors described in the documents incorporated by reference into this prospectus/disclosure statement.

10

#### **Table of Contents**

#### **SUMMARY**

This summary highlights some of the information contained, or incorporated by reference, in this prospectus/disclosure statement to help you understand our business and the restructuring, including the recapitalization plan (which includes this exchange offer) and the prepackaged plan. It does not contain all of the information that may be important to you. You should carefully read this prospectus/disclosure statement, including the information incorporated by reference into this prospectus/disclosure statement, to understand fully the terms of the restructuring, the recapitalization plan (which includes this exchange offer) and the prepackaged plan, as well as the other considerations that are important to you in making your investment decision. You should pay special attention to the Risk Factors beginning on page 26 and Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Statements beginning on page 49.

#### **Our Business**

We are a leading North American integrated manufacturer and supplier of metal coil coating services, metal building components and engineered metal buildings systems. Of the \$236 billion nonresidential construction industry in 2008, we primarily serve the low-rise nonresidential construction market (five stories or less), which, according to FW Dodge/McGraw-Hill, represents approximately 88% of the total nonresidential construction industry. Our broad range of products is used in repair, retrofit and new construction activities, primarily in North America.

We provide metal coil coating services for commercial and construction applications, servicing both internal and external customers. We design, engineer, manufacture and market what we believe is one of the most comprehensive lines of metal components and engineered building systems in the industry, with a reputation for high quality and superior engineering and design. We go to market with well-recognized brands, which allows us to compete effectively within a broad range of end-user markets, including industrial, commercial, institutional and agricultural. Our service versatility allows us to support the varying needs of our diverse customer base, which includes general contractors and subcontractors, developers, manufacturers, distributors and a network of over 4,400 authorized builders across North America.

We are comprised of a family of companies operating manufacturing facilities across the United States and Mexico, with additional sales and distribution offices throughout the United States and Canada. Our broad geographic footprint, along with our hub-and-spoke distribution system, allows us to efficiently supply a broad range of customers with high quality customer service and reliable deliveries.

The Company was founded in 1984 and reincorporated in Delaware in 1991. In 1998, we acquired Metal Building Components, Inc. and doubled our revenue base. With the merger, we became the largest domestic manufacturer of nonresidential metal components. In 2006, we acquired Robertson-Ceco II Corporation, which operates the Ceco Building Systems, Star Building Systems and Robertson Building Systems divisions of our business and is a leader in the metal buildings industry. This transaction has created an organization with greater product and geographic diversification, a stronger customer base and a more extensive distribution network than either company had separately.

Our principal offices are located at 10943 North Sam Houston Parkway West, Houston, Texas 77064, and our telephone number is (281) 897-7788. Our website address is *www.ncilp.com*. The information contained on our website is not part of this prospectus/disclosure statement.

#### Liquidity

We believe that the completion of the restructuring through the recapitalization plan, or, in the alternative, through the prepackaged plan, is critical to our continuing viability. The restructuring, if successful, will increase the Company's capital and liquidity levels and reduce the amount of its outstanding debt. Specifically, upon the completion of the restructuring, we expect our indebtedness to be reduced from approximately \$473.7 million as of August 2, 2009 to approximately \$150.4 million at the closing of the restructuring, consisting of \$150.0 million in principal amount of term loans under the amended credit agreement and \$0.4 million of our industrial revenue bond. See Capitalization and Source and Use of Proceeds.

11

#### **Table of Contents**

The ABL financing contemplated by the restructuring would provide us with up to \$125.0 million in liquidity, subject to availability under a borrowing base, for working capital purposes and future expansion. Based on discussions with prospective lenders under the ABL agreement, however, we expect that, because of borrowing base constraints, initial availability under the ABL agreement would be substantially less than the \$125.0 million commitment, and may be as low as \$45.0 million.

Assuming we are able to complete the restructuring, we expect that, for the foreseeable future, cash generated from operations, together with the proceeds of the ABL financing, will be sufficient to allow us to fund our operations, to increase working capital as necessary to support our strategy and to fund planned capital expenditures and expansions, including approximately \$5.0 million expected, for the remainder of fiscal 2009.

## The Restructuring

## The Restructuring

This exchange offer and solicitation of acceptances to the prepackaged plan are part of, and are being conducted pursuant to, the restructuring, which may be accomplished through an out-of-court recapitalization plan or, in the alternative, if the conditions to the recapitalization plan are not satisfied or waived, through an in-court prepackaged plan. The restructuring consists of four related transactions:

the CD&R investment, which involves the sale and issuance to the CD&R Fund of 250,000 shares of Series B convertible preferred stock for \$250.0 million;

the retirement of all convertible notes;

the term loan refinancing, which involves the refinancing of our existing credit facility under which we will repay approximately \$143.3 million of the \$293.3 million in principal amount of term loans outstanding under our existing credit facility and enter into an amendment to our existing credit agreement providing for a modification of the terms and maturity of the \$150.0 million balance; and

the ABL financing, which involves our entry into a \$125.0 million asset-based loan facility.

Each of the transactions comprising the restructuring may be accomplished through either the out-of-court recapitalization plan or, in the alternative, the in-court prepackaged plan. If the restructuring is accomplished through the recapitalization plan, the retirement of the convertible notes tendered in the exchange offer would be accomplished through this exchange offer and the refinancing of our existing credit facility would be accomplished through an amendment to our existing credit agreement. In the alternative, if the restructuring is accomplished through the prepackaged plan, the retirement of the convertible notes as well as the refinancing of our existing credit facility would be accomplished through the effectiveness of the prepackaged plan. See The Restructuring.

The closing of the exchange offer is conditioned on the satisfaction or, with the consent of the CD&R Fund, waiver of the minimum tender condition, which requires that at least 95% of the aggregate principal amount of outstanding convertible notes are validly tendered and not withdrawn in this exchange offer. If the restructuring is accomplished through the recapitalization plan, we intend, but are not required, to

12

#### **Table of Contents**

retire any remaining convertible notes outstanding after the consummation of this exchange offer by exercising our redemption right under the convertible notes indenture on or after November 20, 2009; if we do not so exercise our redemption right, such remaining convertible notes will otherwise be retired pursuant to the terms of the convertible notes indenture.

For a more detailed description of this exchange offer, see The Exchange Offer.

See Liquidity above and The Restructuring for a discussion of the anticipated effects of the restructuring.

## **Pro Forma Capitalization**

Assuming that we complete the restructuring and all outstanding convertible notes are retired through the exchange offer or the prepackaged plan, based on the number of shares of common stock authorized, issued and outstanding as of September 4, 2009, at the closing of, and after giving effect to, the restructuring:

holders of convertible notes would receive 70,200,000 shares of our common stock in the aggregate (or approximately 24.5% of our voting power);

the CD&R Fund would receive 250,000 shares of Series B convertible preferred stock (or approximately 68.5% of our voting power); and

our current stockholders would continue to hold approximately 19,981,585 shares of our common stock in the aggregate (or approximately 7.0% of our voting power).

See Capitalization.

## **Lock-Up Agreement**

We have entered into a lock-up and voting agreement with the holders of more than 79% of the aggregate principal amount of the outstanding convertible notes. Pursuant to the lock-up agreement, each holder of convertible notes that executed the lock-up agreement has irrevocably agreed, in accordance with the terms of the lock-up agreement, (1) to tender its convertible notes in this exchange offer, (2) to the extent that such holder holds obligations under our existing credit agreement, to support the term loan refinancing by accepting its portion of the repayment contemplated thereby and by executing an amendment to our existing credit agreement in the form of the amended credit agreement attached hereto as Annex J, and (3) to vote all of its convertible notes and obligations under our existing credit facility in favor of the prepackaged plan, among other things. See The Restructuring The Lock-Up Agreement.

## **CD&R** Investment

Pursuant to the investment agreement, the CD&R Fund has agreed to purchase from the Company an aggregate of 250,000 shares of Series B convertible preferred stock, which represents approximately 68.5% of our

voting power after giving effect to the restructuring (based on the number of shares of common stock authorized, issued and outstanding as of September 4, 2009), for a total purchase price of \$250.0 million in cash. See The Restructuring Description of the CD&R Investment.

13

The obligation of the CD&R Fund to purchase the shares of Series B convertible preferred stock is subject to certain conditions, including the satisfaction or, with the consent of the CD&R Fund, waiver, of the conditions to this exchange offer or the effectiveness of the prepackaged plan, the consummation of the term loan refinancing (see Term Loan Refinancing below) and the ABL financing (see ABL Financing below) and the expiration or termination of any waiting period required to consummate the CD&R investment under the Austrian Act. The investment agreement may be terminated by the CD&R Fund or the Company under specified circumstances. See The Restructuring Description of the CD&R Investment The Investment Agreement Conditions to the CD&R Investment and The Restructuring Description of the CD&R Investment The Investment Agreement Termination of the Investment Agreement.

Holders of Series B convertible preferred stock will participate equally and ratably with the holders of common stock in all cash dividends paid on the shares of the common stock on an as-converted basis. In addition to such dividends, the Series B convertible preferred stock will accrue dividends at a rate *per annum* of 12.00% if paid in kind or at a rate *per annum* of 8.00% if paid in cash, which would be reduced to a rate *per annum* of 0.00% if, at any time after the 30-month anniversary of the closing of the restructuring, the trading price per share of common stock equals or exceeds two times a specified target price (which is equal to \$1.2748 at the closing of the restructuring, but is subject to adjustments thereafter) for each trading day during any period of 20 consecutive trading days. Upon the occurrence of a default under the terms of the Series B convertible preferred stock, the applicable dividend rate will increase by:

6.00% per annum, if the default is the result of a failure by us after June 30, 2011 to reserve and keep available for issuance a number of shares of common stock equal to 110% of the number of shares of common stock issuable upon conversion of all outstanding shares of Series B convertible preferred stock; or

3.00% per annum for any other default.

See The Restructuring Description of the CD&R Investment Certain Terms of the Series B Convertible Preferred Stock Dividends and The Restructuring Description of the CD&R Investment Certain Terms of the Series B Convertible Preferred Stock Defaults.

The Series B convertible preferred stock is convertible into common stock at an initial conversion price of \$1.2748, which conversion price is subject to anti-dilution adjustments, including adjustments if the Company issues common stock or other securities below the then-current market price or, during the first three years after the closing of the restructuring, below the

then-current conversion price. See The Restructuring Description of the CD&R Investment Certain Terms of the Series B Convertible Preferred Stock Convertibility and Anti-Dilution Adjustments.

On and after the 10th anniversary of the closing of the restructuring:

14

each holder of shares of Series B convertible preferred stock will have the right to require that the Company redeem all of such holder s shares of Series B convertible preferred stock; and

the Company will have the right to redeem all, but not less than all, of the then issued and outstanding shares of Series B convertible preferred stock.

In either case, the redemption price for each share of Series B convertible preferred stock redeemed will be an amount equal to the sum of (1) the liquidation preference of such share of Series B convertible preferred stock to be redeemed and (2) the accrued dividends of such share as of the date on which the redemption of such share occurs. See The Restructuring Description of the CD&R Investment Certain Terms of the Series B Convertible Preferred Stock Milestone Redemption.

After giving effect to the restructuring, we do not expect to have sufficient authorized but unissued shares of common stock to enable the conversion of all 250,000 shares of Series B convertible preferred stock to be issued to the CD&R Fund pursuant to the CD&R investment. Pursuant to the stockholders agreement to be entered into between the Company and the CD&R Fund in connection with the CD&R investment (see The Restructuring Description of the CD&R Investment The Stockholders Agreement ), from and after the closing of the restructuring, we will use our best efforts and take all corporate actions necessary to obtain approval from holders of our common stock of an amendment to Article FOURTH. section 1 of our restated certificate of incorporation to increase the number of authorized shares of common stock. In the event that we do not obtain such approval prior to June 30, 2010, the dividend rate with respect to the Series B convertible preferred stock will increase by 3.00% per annum (and by an additional 3.00% per annum if such approval is not obtained prior to June 30, 2011, for an aggregate increase of 6.00% per annum) as further described in The Restructuring Description of the CD&R Investment Certain Terms of the Series B Convertible Preferred Stock Dividends Default Dividend Rate. See The Restructuring Description of the CD&R Investment The Stockholders Agreement Agreement to Seek Amendments to our Restated Certificate of Incorporation.

#### **Retirement of Convertible Notes**

As part of the restructuring, we are seeking to retire all of the convertible notes. See This Exchange Offer below with respect to the retirement of convertible notes under the recapitalization plan and The Prepackaged Plan below with respect to the retirement of convertible notes under the prepackaged plan.

# **Term Loan Refinancing**

As part of the restructuring, we expect to enter into an amendment to our existing credit agreement, providing for, among other things, the repayment of approximately \$143.3 million of the \$293.3 million in principal amount of term loans outstanding as of August 2, 2009 under our existing credit facility and a modification of the terms and maturity of the

\$150.0 million balance. See The Restructuring Description of the Term Loan Refinancing and the ABL Financing The Term Loan Refinancing.

15

The closing of the term loan refinancing through the recapitalization plan requires 100% of the lenders under our existing credit agreement to enter into the amended credit agreement. Confirmation and effectiveness of the prepackaged plan requires lenders under our existing credit facility holding at least two-thirds (2/3) in amount and more than one-half (1/2) in number of the claims in respect of the obligations under our existing credit agreement who actually cast ballots to vote to accept the prepackaged plan. See Summary of Terms of the Restructuring The Prepackaged Plan.

### **ABL Financing**

As part of the restructuring, we expect to enter into an ABL agreement providing for a \$125.0 million asset-based loan facility. See The Restructuring Description of the Term Loan Refinancing and the ABL Financing The ABL Financing.

Whether the restructuring is accomplished through the recapitalization plan or the prepackaged plan, the closing of the ABL financing requires the approval and execution of the ABL agreement by all lenders providing revolving credit commitments thereunder.

# Importance of Tendering in this Exchange Offer and Voting to Accept the Prepackaged Plan

Both the recapitalization plan and the prepackaged plan are subject to certain conditions. In particular, the consummation of the recapitalization plan requires that the conditions to this exchange offer are met, including the minimum tender condition. The confirmation and effectiveness of the prepackaged plan requires the receipt of acceptances from a sufficient number of holders of impaired claims in an impaired class of claims to allow the prepackaged plan to be confirmed under the Bankruptcy Code, including confirmation through the nonconsensual cram-down provisions of section 1129(b) of the Bankruptcy Code with respect to non-accepting impaired claims classes.

See also Questions and Answers About the Restructuring General Why is it important that I tender my convertible notes and vote to accept the prepackaged plan?

#### **Risk Factors**

You should carefully consider the matters described in this prospectus/disclosure statement under Risk Factors, and the risk factors described in the documents incorporated by reference into this prospectus/disclosure statement.

# **Certain U.S. Federal Income Tax Considerations**

For a discussion of certain U.S. federal income tax considerations for holders of convertible notes, see Certain U.S. Federal Income Tax Considerations.

## **Accounting Treatment**

For a description of the accounting treatment of the restructuring, see Accounting Treatment.

# **Fees and Expenses**

We will pay all fees and expenses associated with this exchange offer and the solicitation of acceptances to the prepackaged plan, other than any

commissions or concessions of any broker or dealer. Excluding fees and expenses related to the CD&R Investment and the other transactions contemplated by the investment agreement separate from the exchange offer and this consent solicitation, we expect that we will incur fees and expenses of approximately \$7.3 million, based on

16

estimated legal, accounting, exchange agent, voting agent, dealer-manager, trustee, printing and other expenses associated with this exchange offer and the solicitation of acceptances to the prepackaged plan. See The Exchange Offer Fees and Expenses.

Listing

We intend to apply for the shares of common stock to be issued pursuant to this exchange offer, or in the alternative, pursuant to the prepackaged plan, to be listed on the NYSE.

**Transferability; Registration Rights** 

Other than for any shares issued in respect of convertible notes subject to the lock-up agreement, the shares of common stock to be issued pursuant to this exchange offer will be freely transferable and not subject to any transfer restrictions unless held by our affiliates as that term is defined under Rule 144 under the Securities Act. If the restructuring is accomplished through the prepackaged plan, we expect that the confirmation order of the bankruptcy court will provide that the issuance of the shares of common stock distributed under the prepackaged plan shall be exempt from the registration requirements of the Securities Act in accordance with section 1145 of the Bankruptcy Code and therefore will be freely transferable by most recipients thereof, and all resales and subsequent transactions in the new securities will be exempt from registration under federal and state securities laws, unless the holder is an underwriter with respect to such securities.

In the lock-up agreement, we agreed to enter into a registration rights agreement containing customary indemnification provisions for selling shareholders that will provide registration rights to the noteholders who are parties to the lock-up agreement in the event that this exchange offer is consummated. Under such registration rights agreement, and subject to customary blackout periods in connection with earnings releases and material corporate developments, we will:

no later than five business days following the closing of the CD&R investment, file with the SEC a shelf registration statement covering resales of the common stock received by such noteholders on a delayed or continuous basis; and

use our best efforts to maintain the effectiveness of such registration until the earlier of (a) six months after the closing of the CD&R investment (subject to an extension to 12 months after the closing in certain limited circumstances) and (b) the date on which all such common stock held by such noteholders can be resold pursuant to Rule 144 under the Securities Act without limitation as to volume or compliance with any manner of sale requirements.

For more information with respect to the terms of the lock-up agreement, see The Restructuring The Lock-Up Agreement.

#### This Exchange Offer

# **Securities Subject to this Exchange Offer**

Any and all of our \$180.0 million aggregate principal amount of 2.125% Convertible Senior Subordinated Notes due 2024, which we refer to as the convertible notes.

17

## **Exchange Offer**

We are offering to acquire any and all of the convertible notes for cash and shares of common stock, in accordance with the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this prospectus/disclosure statement and in the letter of transmittal. You may tender your convertible notes for exchange by following the procedures described in the section titled The Exchange Offer Procedures for Tendering Convertible Notes.

For each \$1,000 principal amount of convertible notes that you tender and that we accept in this exchange offer, you will, upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this prospectus/disclosure statement and the letter of transmittal, receive \$500 in cash and 390 shares of common stock. The cash payment and the shares of common stock to be issued pursuant to this exchange offer will be in full satisfaction of the principal amount of, and any accrued but unpaid interest through the consummation of this exchange offer on, the convertible notes so tendered and accepted. See The Exchange Offer Terms of the Exchange Offer.

# **Minimum Tender Condition; Other Conditions to this Exchange Offer**

This exchange offer is subject to certain conditions, including, among others, (1) the satisfaction of the minimum tender condition, which requires that at least 95% of the aggregate principal amount of outstanding convertible notes are validly tendered and not withdrawn in this exchange offer, (2) the receipt of proceeds from the purchase by the CD&R Fund of the Series B convertible preferred stock pursuant to the investment agreement, which purchase itself is subject to several conditions, including the satisfaction of the conditions to this exchange offer, the consummation of the term loan refinancing and the ABL financing and the expiration or termination of any waiting period required to consummate the CD&R investment under the Austrian Act, and (3) the effectiveness of the registration statement of which this prospectus/disclosure statement forms a part. See The Exchange Offer Conditions to Completion of the Exchange Offer.

**Information Agent** 

Morrow & Co., LLC.

**Exchange Agent** 

Computershare Trust Company, N.A.

**Dealer-Manager** 

Greenhill & Co., LLC.

**Use of Proceeds** 

We will not receive any cash proceeds from this exchange offer. Convertible notes that are validly tendered and exchanged pursuant to this exchange offer will be retired and canceled. See Source and Use of Proceeds.

# The Prepackaged Plan

### **Prepackaged Plan**

We have prepared the prepackaged plan as an alternative to the recapitalization plan for accomplishing the restructuring if the conditions to completion of the recapitalization plan, including, for example, the

minimum tender condition, are not satisfied or waived, but we receive acceptances from a sufficient number of holders of impaired claims in an impaired class of claims to allow the prepackaged plan to be confirmed under the Bankruptcy Code, including confirmation through the nonconsensual cram-down provisions of

18

#### **Table of Contents**

section 1129(b) of the Bankruptcy Code with respect to non-accepting impaired claims classes.

The prepackaged plan consists of a plan of reorganization under chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code that would effect the same transactions contemplated by the recapitalization plan, including the issuance of shares of Series B convertible preferred stock in connection with the CD&R investment, the issuance of shares of common stock in exchange for convertible notes, the term loan refinancing and the ABL financing. If confirmed, the prepackaged plan would be binding on all of our creditors regardless of whether such creditors voted to accept or reject the prepackaged plan. See The Prepackaged Plan.

Under the prepackaged plan, holders of convertible notes and the lenders under our existing credit agreement (as well as the holders of all other claims and interests) would receive the same treatment with respect to their claims (and interests) as they would receive in the recapitalization plan, the CD&R Fund would receive the same 250,000 shares of Series B convertible preferred stock contemplated by the CD&R investment and the Company would enter into the ABL agreement. Existing holders of our common stock would continue to hold such common stock. See The Prepackaged Plan.

If we do not receive acceptances from a sufficient number of holders of impaired claims in an impaired class of claims to allow the prepackaged plan to be confirmed under the Bankruptcy Code, including confirmation through the nonconsensual cram-down provisions of section 1129(b) of the Bankruptcy Code with respect to non-accepting impaired claims classes, the prepackaged plan will not be confirmed or become effective.

The voting record date for determining the holders of claims entitled to vote on the prepackaged plan is August 28, 2009. See The Prepackaged Plan Holders of Claims Entitled to Vote; Voting Record Date.

# Conditions to the Effective Date of the Prepackaged Plan

**Voting Record Date** 

The effective date of the prepackaged plan will not occur until the conditions set forth below have been satisfied or waived:

the confirmation order has been entered and no stay of such order is in effect;

the receipt of proceeds from the CD&R investment;

the consummation of the term loan refinancing; and

the consummation of the ABL financing.

We retain the right to waive any condition in our sole and absolute discretion, subject to our obligations under the investment agreement. See The Prepackaged Plan Conditions to the Effective Date of the Prepackaged

Plan and The Restructuring Description of the CD&R Investment The Investment Agreement Commencement of a Reorganization Case in Connection With the Prepackaged Plan Covenant.

**Voting Agent** 

Financial Balloting Group LLC.

19

# Capitalization

The following table sets forth our capitalization (1) as of August 2, 2009 on a preliminary, unaudited basis and (2) on an as adjusted basis, giving effect to the pro forma impact of the transactions contemplated by the recapitalization plan, which include (1) the retirement of the convertible notes (assuming 100% of the convertible notes are retired), (2) the CD&R Investment, (3) the term loan refinancing and (4) the ABL financing. The pro forma capitalization presented in this section does not give effect to the pro forma impact of the transactions contemplated by the prepackaged plan. The filing of a prepackaged plan would result in the application of restart accounting which could significantly change to recorded value of asset, liabilities and stockholders equity.

We use the assumptions above for illustrative purposes only. This table should be read in conjunction with the Selected Consolidated Financial and Other Data and Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information elsewhere in this prospectus/disclosure statement, the financial statements and schedules and related notes for the fiscal year ended 2008 that are included in the consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ended in 2008, which are attached as Exhibit 99.1 to our current report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on September 10, 2009 and the consolidated financial statements and related notes for the quarters ended February 1, 2009, May 3, 2009 and August 2, 2009 contained in our Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, which are incorporated by reference into this prospectus/disclosure statement.

	As of Aug Actual Unaudited, except for	Adjusted usands,		
Cash and cash equivalents(1)(4)	\$ 105,376	\$	63,124	
Restricted Cash(2) Note Payable Debt \$125 Million Senior Secured Revolving Credit Facility	13,224 962		13,224 962	
\$400 Million Term Loan, due 2010 (\$150 Million Term Loan, due 2014, amended and restated) 2.125% Convertible Senior Subordinated Notes, Due 2024 Industrial Revenue Bond	293,290 180,000 420		150,000 420	
Total Debt	473,710		150,420	
Series B Convertible Preferred Stock: \$1.00 par value per share, 250,000 shares authorized, issued and outstanding, as adjusted			212,579	
Stockholders equity (deficit): Series A Preferred Stock: \$1.00 par value per share, 1,000,000 shares authorized, none issued and outstanding Common Stock: \$0.01 par value per share, 100,000,000 shares authorized; 22,683,165 issued; and 19,982,173 outstanding, actual; 100,000,000 shares authorized; 93,217,165 issued; and 90,516,173 outstanding as adjusted(3)(4)	227		929	

Additional paid-in capital(4) Retained earnings (deficit)(4) Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)(4) Transpury stock at cost	203,401 (103,882) (917) (117,050)	384,974 (215,324) 975 (117,050)
Treasury stock, at cost  Total stockholders equity (deficit)	(117,030)	(117,050) 54,504
Total capitalization	\$ 456,451	\$ 418,465
Book Value per share Basic Diluted	(0.91) (0.91)	0.60 0.60
20		

### **Table of Contents**

- (1) Cash equivalents are stated at cost plus accrued interest, which approximates fair value. Cash equivalents are highly liquid debt instruments with an original maturity of three months or less and may consist of time deposits with a number of commercial banks with high credit ratings, Eurodollar time deposits, certificates of deposit and commercial paper.
- (2) Restricted cash is stated at cost plus accrued interest, which approximates fair value. Restricted cash is held as deposited collateral for letters of credit.
- (3) Share amounts as presented reflect the 70,200,000 shares of common stock to be issued to repay a portion of the convertible notes and the 334,000 shares of common stock to be issued related to the accelerated vesting of shares issued under the 2003 Long-Term Stock Incentive Plan. If fully converted, the Series B convertible preferred stock would result in an additional 196,109,194 shares of common stock outstanding.
- (4) See Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet and Notes to Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Balance Sheet for explanations of significant adjustments to cash and cash equivalents, additional paid-in capital, accumulated other comprehensive loss, and retained deficit.

21

# **Selected Consolidated Financial and Other Data**

The following table sets forth selected consolidated financial and other data for each of the fiscal years ended in 2008, 2007, 2006, 2005 and 2004 and for the nine months ended August 2, 2009 and July 27, 2008. Operating results for the fiscal nine months period ended August 2, 2009 and July 27, 2008 are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for the full fiscal year. The selected consolidated financial and other data below is only a summary and should be read in conjunction with Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations and our consolidated financial statements contained in Part III, Item 15, (a)(1) and (a)(2) of our annual reports on Form 10-K (except with respect to the consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ended in 2008, which are attached as Exhibit 99.1 to our current report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on September 10, 2009) and in Part I, Item 1 of our quarterly reports on Form 10-Q and with the current reports filed by us with the SEC, which are incorporated by reference herein. See Where You Can Find More Information and Incorporation of Certain Documents by Reference. The historical financial information presented may not be indicative of our future performance.

	Nine Mor	ths Ended					
	August 2,	August 2, July 27, 2009 2008		2007	2005	2004	
	2009	2008	<b>2008(1)</b> (In thousar	ids, except per s	2006 share data)	2005	2004
			<b>X</b>	, 11	,		
Statement of Operations Data:							
Sales	\$ 723,522	\$ 1,255,228	\$ 1,764,159	\$ 1,625,068	\$ 1,571,183	\$ 1,130,066	\$ 1,084,863
Cost of sales Lower of cost or	568,773	940,095	1,325,624	1,221,463	1,187,151	850,699	822,722
market adjustment	39,986						
Asset impairment	5,944						
Gross Profit	108,819	315,133	438,535	403,605	384,032	279,367	262,141
Selling, general and administrative							
expenses Goodwill and other intangible asset	158,564	210,501	283,825	271,871	246,044	174,897	165,165
impairments	622,564						
Restructuring charge	7,488	909					
Income (loss) from							
operations	(679,797)	103,723	154,710	131,734	137,988	104,470	96,976
Interest income	360	917	1,085	725	5,432	5,019	68
Interest expense Loss on debt	(13,029)	(17,859)	(23,535)	(28,829)	(24,915)	(14,459)	(15,126)
refinancing Other (expense)							(9,879)
income, net	757	1,022	(1,880)	1,195	527	1,181	2,618

Edgar Filing: NCI BUILDING SYSTEMS INC - Form S-4

Income (loss) before income taxes	(691,709)		87,803	130,380	104,825	119,032	96,211	74,657
Provision (benefit) for income taxes	(46,863)		33,536	51,499	41,096	45,236	40,260	29,767
Net income (loss)	(644,846)		54,267	78,881	63,729	73,796	55,951	44,890
Earnings (loss) per share:								
Basic	\$ (33.12)	\$	2.81	\$ 4.08	\$ 3.25	\$ 3.70	\$ 2.73	\$ 2.28
Diluted	\$ (33.12)	\$	2.79	\$ 4.05	\$ 3.06	\$ 3.45	\$ 2.68	\$ 2.24
Weighted average shares outstanding:								
Basic	19,468		19,308	19,332	19,582	19,959	20,501	19,709
Diluted	19,468		19,455	19,486	20,793	21,395	20,857	19,996
Ratio of Earnings to	•		,	,	•	,	,	•
Fixed Charges(2)	(	3)	5.40	5.95	4.27	5.30	6.93	5.48
				22				
1								

#### **Table of Contents**

- (1) Fiscal 2008 includes 53 weeks of operating activity.
- (2) For purposes of calculating the ratio of earnings to fixed charges: (a) earnings are defined as earnings (loss) from continuing operations before provision for income taxes and fixed charges; and (b) fixed charges consist of net interest expense on all indebtedness, deferred financing charges and an estimate of the interest within rental expense.
- (3) The pre-tax loss from continuing operations for the fiscal nine months ended August 2, 2009 were not sufficient to cover fixed charges by a total of \$676,787. As a result, the ratio of earnings to fixed charges has not been computed for this period.

	<b>Nine Months Ended</b>					Fiscal Year								
	A	2009		July 27, 2008		2008(1)				2005		2004		
						(In thousands, except per share data)								
Statement of Cash Flows and Balance Sheet Data: Cash flow from operating														
activities	\$	75,340	\$	3,224	\$	40,194	\$	137,625	\$	121,514	\$	118,267	\$	23,730
Total assets		627,635		1,396,696		1,380,701		1,343,058		1,299,701		990,219		786,426
Total debt		473,710		474,630		474,400		497,037		497,984		373,000		216,700
Stockholders equity		(19 221)		500 650		622 820		520 606		409 400		444 144		401 177
(deficit) Cash dividends per share(2)		(18,221)		598,650		623,829		539,696		498,409		444,144		401,177

- (1) Fiscal 2008 includes 53 weeks of operating activity.
- (2) We did not pay dividends on our common stock for any of the periods referred to above.

23

## Selected Unaudited Pro Forma Consolidated Financial Data

The following selected unaudited pro forma consolidated financial data for the year ended November 2, 2008, and as of and for the nine months ended August 2, 2009 has been derived by the application of pro forma adjustments to our historical consolidated financial statements. The selected unaudited pro forma consolidated financial data is presented for illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily indicative of the financial position or results of operations that would have actually been reported had the recapitalization plan occurred at the beginning of the periods presented, nor is it indicative of our future financial position or results of operations.

The unaudited pro forma financial information presented in this prospectus/disclosure statement does not give effect to the pro forma impact of the transactions contemplated by the prepackaged plan. The filing of a prepackaged plan would result in the application of restart accounting which could significantly change to recorded value of asset, liabilities and stockholders equity.

The unaudited pro forma adjustments were prepared based on the assumptions we believe are reasonable. The unaudited pro forma summary selected consolidated balance sheet as of August 2, 2009, gives effect to the recapitalization plan as if it had occurred on August 2, 2009. The unaudited pro forma summary selected condensed consolidated statements of operations for the year ended November 2, 2008, and the nine months ended August 2, 2009, give effect to the recapitalization plan as if it had occurred on October 29, 2007.

Due to the fact that the transactions contemplated by the recapitalization plan have not yet been completed, except as indicated, the unaudited pro forma summary selected financial information assumes that:

100% of the convertible notes are exchanged for a combination of \$500 in cash and 390 shares of common stock for each \$1,000 principal amount of the convertible notes and accrued and unpaid interest thereon;

the conversion price of the Series B convertible preferred stock to be issued in the CD&R investment is \$1.2748 per share of common stock;

the restructuring is effected through the consummation of the recapitalization plan as opposed to the prepackaged plan;

the market price for common stock for all computations is \$2.61 per share, which was the closing market price on September 4, 2009; and

the fair market value of the derivative liability related to default dividend rates is expected to be \$7.5 million (\$4.6 million net of tax) in all periods.

If (1) the consideration offered in this exchange offer changes, (2) the conversion price of the Series B convertible preferred stock changes (see The Restructuring Description of the CD&R Investment Certain Terms of the Series B Convertible Preferred Stock Convertibility and Anti Dilution Adjustments ) and/or (3) we are required to file the prepackaged plan (see The Prepackaged Plan ), the unaudited pro forma adjustments could be materially different. These adjustments could result in significant differences in the estimates for the embedded derivative liability of the Series B convertible preferred stock, the estimated beneficial conversion feature of the Series B convertible preferred stock, and the estimated debt extinguishment cost of the convertible notes.

The selected unaudited pro forma consolidated financial information has been derived from our consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ended in 2008, which are attached as Exhibit 99.1 to our current report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on September 10, 2009 and our consolidated financial statements for the quarterly period ended August 2, 2009, which are included in our quarterly report on Form 10-Q, each of which is incorporated herein by reference and should be read in conjunction with Selected Consolidated Financial and Other Data and Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information and the consolidated financial statements and related notes included in this prospectus/disclosure statement. Our financial statements and schedules included in this prospectus/disclosure statement. Our financial statements and schedules included in this prospectus/disclosure statement have been prepared on the assumption that we have the ability to continue as a going concern. The financial statements do not include any adjustments related to the recoverability and classification of asset carrying amounts or the amount and classification of liabilities that might result should we be unable to continue as a going concern.

24

	Pro Forma (unaudited) Nine							
	Months Ended August 2, 2009			ear Ended				
				ovember 2, 2008				
	(In thousands, except per share data)							
Statement of Operations Data:								
Sales	\$	723,522	\$	1,764,159				
Net income (loss)		(642,241)		89,214				
Dividends and accretion on Series B convertible preferred stock		28,898		35,119				
Net income (loss) available to common stockholders Earnings (loss) per share:	\$	(671,139)		54,095				
Basic	\$	(2.15)	\$	0.18				
Diluted	\$	(2.15)	\$	0.18				
Weighted average shares outstanding:								
Basic		90,002		89,866				
Diluted		90,002		89,866				
		Pro Forma (unaudited) As of August 2, 2009 (In thousands, except per share data)						
Balance Sheet Data:								
Total assets	\$			591,154				
Total debt				150,420				
Series B convertible preferred stock				212,579				
Stockholders equity				54,504				
25								

## RISK FACTORS

Before you participate in this exchange offer or vote on the prepackaged plan, you should carefully consider the risks described below. You should also consider the other information included or incorporated by reference in this prospectus/disclosure statement before deciding whether to participate in this exchange offer or how to vote on the prepackaged plan.

# Risks Relating to NOT Accepting the Exchange Offer or Rejecting the Prepackaged Plan

The following risks specifically apply to the extent a holder of convertible notes elects not to participate in this exchange offer or to vote against the prepackaged plan. There are additional risks attendant to being an investor in our securities that you should review, whether or not you elect to tender your convertible notes. These risks are described in Risk Factors in Part I, Item 1A of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended November 2, 2008 and Part II, Item 1A of our Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q for the quarterly periods ended February 1, 2009, May 3, 2009 and August 2, 2009, each of which is incorporated by reference herein.

If the minimum tender condition is not met for this exchange offer and we cannot implement the recapitalization plan, there nonetheless may be sufficient votes to accept the prepackaged plan to accomplish the restructuring.

The consummation of this exchange offer is conditioned upon, among other things, satisfaction of the minimum tender condition. If we are not able to complete the recapitalization plan because the minimum tender condition is not met or waived or for any other reason, but we receive acceptances from a sufficient number of holders of impaired claims in an impaired class of claims to allow the prepackaged plan to be confirmed under the Bankruptcy Code, including confirmation through the nonconsensual cram-down provisions of section 1129(b) of the Bankruptcy Code with respect to non-accepting impaired claims classes, as an alternative to the recapitalization plan, we may elect and, under the terms of the investment agreement, we may be required, to seek confirmation of the prepackaged plan in a chapter 11 proceeding.

To obtain confirmation of the prepackaged plan without invoking the cram-down provisions of the Bankruptcy Code, each class of claims or interests that is impaired must vote to accept the prepackaged plan. An impaired class of claims (such as holders of convertible notes) is deemed to accept a plan of reorganization if the holders of at least two-thirds (2/3) in amount and more than one-half (1/2) in number of the claims in such class who actually cast ballots vote to accept the prepackaged plan. If the prepackaged plan is confirmed by the bankruptcy court, it will bind all holders of claims against, and equity interests in, the Company regardless of whether they voted for, against or did not vote at all on the prepackaged plan.

Therefore, assuming the prepackaged plan satisfies the other requirements of the Bankruptcy Code, a significantly smaller number of claim holders can bind other claim holders to the terms of the prepackaged plan than are required to effect this exchange offer and the other transactions contemplated by the recapitalization plan. Additionally, since claims and equity interests are grouped in classes for the purpose of voting on the prepackaged plan, holders of claims and interests may be bound by the decisions of other claim or interest holders in a way that they otherwise would not outside of bankruptcy.

The confirmation and effectiveness of the prepackaged plan are subject to certain conditions that may not be satisfied and are different from those under the recapitalization plan. We cannot assure you that all requirements for confirmation and effectiveness of the prepackaged plan will be satisfied or that the bankruptcy court will conclude that

the requirements for confirmation and effectiveness of the prepackaged plan have been satisfied. See The Prepackaged Plan Confirmation of the Prepackaged Plan and The Prepackaged Plan Conditions to the Effective Date of the Prepackaged Plan.

26

#### **Table of Contents**

If we are not able to consummate the exchange offer, the prepackaged plan or the CD&R investment, we do not expect that we will be able to meet our obligations to repurchase the convertible notes pursuant to the rights of the holders thereof to such repurchase on November 15, 2009, and we will likely be in default under our existing credit agreement, the convertible notes indenture, and our swap agreement on November 6, 2009 and our obligations under such agreements may become immediately due and payable.

The consummation of the exchange offer or, in the alternative, confirmation of the prepackaged plan, is a condition to the CD&R investment and the term loan refinancing to accomplish the restructuring. If we are unable to consummate the restructuring, we do not expect that we will have, or have access to, sufficient liquidity to meet our debt obligations. As a result, we will have an immediate need to pursue other alternatives to manage our liquidity needs, including potentially filing for bankruptcy protection on terms other than as contemplated by the prepackaged plan. See Risk Factors If we do not consummate the restructuring by November 6, 2009, adverse capital and credit market conditions may significantly and adversely affect our ability to otherwise refinance our existing debt.

Unless we consummate the restructuring, we do not expect that we will have, or have access to, sufficient liquidity to meet our debt repayment/repurchase obligations, including any potential acceleration of our existing term loan indebtedness and our obligation to repurchase the convertible notes at the option of the holders thereof on November 15, 2009, the next scheduled repurchase date. Due to our non-compliance as of August 2, 2009 with the required leverage, senior leverage and interest coverage ratios in our existing credit agreement, our outstanding indebtedness of approximately \$293.3 million thereunder may be declared immediately due and payable as early as November 6, 2009, the date the current waiver from the lenders under our existing credit agreement expires. In the event that we do not repay such borrowings upon acceleration, the lenders under our existing credit agreement could exercise their remedies as secured creditors with respect to the collateral securing such borrowings. A failure to pay or refinance such borrowings will also result in a default under the convertible notes indenture, which could also then be declared immediately due and payable, and under our swap agreement, which could then be terminated by the counterparty thereto. If all such indebtedness, which totaled approximately \$473.7 million as of August 2, 2009 and such amounts payable pursuant to the termination of the swap agreement, were to become due and payable on November 6, 2009, it would result in a material adverse effect on our financial condition, operations and debt service capabilities. As of August 2, 2009, excluding restricted cash, we had a current cash balance of approximately \$105.4 million to address our liquidity needs. For a description of our non-compliance with the financial ratio covenants under our existing credit agreement, see our quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended August 2, 2009, our current reports on Form 8-K filed on May 21, 2009, July 15, 2009 and August 27, 2009 and Incorporation of Certain Documents by Reference.

In such event, we will have an immediate need to pursue other alternatives to manage our liquidity needs, including potentially filing for bankruptcy protection on terms other than as contemplated by the prepackaged plan. We do not expect, and there can be no assurance, that any alternative to such bankruptcy filing would be found. There can be no assurance as to the value, if any, that would be available to holders of convertible notes in the case of any such bankruptcy filing. The convertible notes are unsecured obligations of the Company and rank junior to the secured obligations under our existing credit facility. Accordingly, upon any distribution to our creditors in any foreclosure, dissolution, winding-up, liquidation or reorganization, or other bankruptcy proceeding relating to us or our property, the holders of our term loans under our existing credit facility will be entitled to be paid in full before any payment may be made with respect to the convertible notes.

27

#### **Table of Contents**

If we are unable to consummate this exchange offer, the prepackaged plan or the CD&R investment, the Company will face an immediate liquidity crisis that could likely result in the Company filing for bankruptcy protection on terms other than as contemplated by the prepackaged plan, which could materially adversely affect the relationships between us and our existing and potential customers, employees, partners and other stakeholders.

We believe that seeking relief under the Bankruptcy Code by filing for bankruptcy protection on terms other than as contemplated by the prepackaged plan could materially adversely affect the relationships between us and our existing and potential customers, employees, partners and other stakeholders. For example:

such a bankruptcy filing could erode our customers confidence in our ability to provide our products and services and, as a result, there could be a significant and precipitous decline in our revenues, profitability and cash flow:

employees could be distracted from performance of their duties, or more easily attracted to other career opportunities;

it may be more difficult to attract or replace key employees;

lenders and other partners could seek to terminate their relationship with us, require financial assurances or enhanced performance, or refuse to provide credit on the same terms as prior to the reorganization case;

we could be forced to operate in bankruptcy for an extended period of time while we tried to develop a reorganization plan that could be confirmed, which we believe may impair our business and prospects;

our suppliers, vendors, and service providers could terminate their relationship with us or require financial assurances or enhanced performance;

we may not be able to obtain debtor-in-possession financing to sustain us during the bankruptcy case under the Bankruptcy Code; or

if we are not able to confirm and implement a plan of reorganization or if sufficient debtor-in-possession financing is not available, we may be forced to liquidate under chapter 7 of the Bankruptcy Code.

In addition, any distributions that you may receive in respect of your convertible notes under a liquidation or under a protracted reorganization case or cases under the Bankruptcy Code other than in connection with the prepackaged plan would likely be substantially delayed and the value of any potential recovery likely would be adversely impacted by such delay.

Furthermore, in the event of any foreclosure, dissolution, winding-up, liquidation or reorganization, or other bankruptcy proceeding other than in connection with the prepackaged plan, there can be no assurance as to the value, if any, that would be available to holders of convertible notes. The convertible notes are unsecured obligations of the Company and rank junior to the secured obligations under our existing credit facility. Accordingly, upon any distribution to our creditors in any foreclosure, dissolution, winding-up, liquidation or reorganization, or other bankruptcy proceeding relating to us or our property other than in connection with the prepackaged plan, the holders of our indebtedness under our existing credit facility will be entitled to be paid in full before any payment may be made with respect to the convertible notes. If you do not tender your convertible notes or vote to accept the prepackaged plan, you may receive less value for the convertible notes in the event of any foreclosure, dissolution, winding-up, liquidation or reorganization, or other bankruptcy proceeding other than the prepackaged plan than you

would under the restructuring.

# Risks Relating to Accepting the Exchange Offer or to the Effectiveness of the Prepackaged Plan and Becoming Holders of Common Stock

The following risks specifically apply only to holders of common stock issued pursuant to this exchange offer or, in the alternative, the prepackaged plan, and should be considered, along with the other risk factors, by holders of convertible notes. There are additional risks attendant to being an investor in our securities that you should review, whether or not you elect to tender your convertible notes. These risks are described in Risk Factors in Part I, Item 1A of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended November 2, 2008, and Part II, Item 1A

28

#### **Table of Contents**

of our Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q for the quarterly periods ended February 1, 2009, May 3, 2009 and August 2, 2009, each of which is incorporated by reference herein.

The exchange ratio for this exchange offer or, in the alternative, the prepackaged plan does not reflect any independent valuation of the convertible notes or shares of common stock.

We have not obtained or requested, and do not intend to obtain or request, a fairness opinion from any banking or other firm as to the fairness of the exchange ratios or the relative values of convertible notes and shares of common stock. If you tender your convertible notes or vote to accept the prepackaged plan and the exchange offer is consummated or the prepackaged plan is confirmed and becomes effective, you may or may not receive more than or as much value as you would if you choose to keep your convertible notes (whether this exchange offer was or was not consummated) or if the prepackaged plan did not become effective and in the event of any foreclosure, dissolution, winding-up, liquidation or reorganization, or other bankruptcy proceeding other than in connection with the prepackaged plan, you may have a smaller claim than if you had retained your convertible notes and you may recover less than you would have had you retained your convertible notes.

The consummation of each of this exchange offer and the prepackaged plan is subject to satisfaction of certain conditions, including the receipt of proceeds from the CD&R investment.

The consummation of this exchange offer is subject to the receipt of proceeds from the CD&R investment (which is itself subject to several conditions, including the consummation of the term loan refinancing and the ABL financing and the expiration or termination of any waiting period required to consummate the CD&R investment under the Austrian Act (see The Restructuring Description of the CD&R Investment The Investment Agreement Conditions to the CD&R Investment )), the minimum tender condition and effectiveness of the registration statement of which this prospectus/disclosure statement forms a part. See The Exchange Offer Conditions to Completion of the Exchange Offer.

The effective date of the prepackaged plan is subject to the entry of the confirmation order and the absence of a stay of such order, the receipt of proceeds from the CD&R investment, the consummation of the term loan refinancing, the consummation of the ABL financing and such other conditions as to which the Company and the CD&R Fund may reasonably agree. See The Prepackaged Plan Conditions to the Effective Date of the Prepackaged Plan.

There can be no assurance that any of such conditions will be met.

Holders of the convertible notes who participate in this exchange offer or, in the alternative, receive common stock pursuant to the prepackaged plan will lose their rights under the convertible notes indenture.

Holders whose convertible notes are accepted for exchange and receive shares of common stock, or holders who receive shares of common stock pursuant to the prepackaged plan, will lose all rights associated with the convertible notes. Please see 
The Exchange Offer Material Differences in the Rights of Holders of Convertible Notes and Common Stock for a more detailed description of the material differences in your rights as a result of the restructuring.

#### There are risks associated with the common stock.

The value of the common stock may be adversely affected by a number of factors, including many of the risks described in this prospectus/disclosure statement. If, for example, our stockholders decide to sell a substantial number of their shares of common stock, the value of the common stock could decline. Similarly, if we fail to comply with the covenants in our existing credit agreement (which are also incorporated into our existing swap agreement), the

amended credit agreement, the ABL agreement or the convertible notes indenture, as applicable, resulting in an event of default thereunder, certain of our outstanding indebtedness could be accelerated, which could have a material adverse effect on the value of the common stock.

29

# If our common stock is deemed a penny stock, its liquidity will be adversely affected.

As of September 4, 2009, the closing stock price for our common stock was \$2.61 per share. If the market price for our common stock falls below \$1.00 per share, our common stock may be deemed to be a penny stock. If our common stock is considered a penny stock, it would be subject to rules that impose additional sales practices on broker-dealers who sell our securities. For example, broker-dealers must make a special suitability determination for the purchaser and have received the purchaser s written consent to the transaction prior to sale. Also, a disclosure schedule must be delivered to each purchaser of a penny stock, disclosing sales commissions and current quotations for the securities. Monthly statements are also required to be sent disclosing recent price information for the penny stock held in the account and information on the limited market in penny stocks. Because of these additional conditions, some brokers may choose not to effect transactions in penny stocks. This could have an adverse effect on the liquidity of our common stock.

# The common stock is junior to all of our other securities, including our existing and future indebtedness and the Series B convertible preferred stock.

The common stock is the most junior of all of our securities. As a result, our existing and future indebtedness and other non-equity claims, as well as our preferred stock, including the Series B convertible preferred stock, will rank senior to the common stock as to rights upon any foreclosure, dissolution, winding-up, liquidation or reorganization, or other bankruptcy proceeding relating to the Company. In the event of any distribution or payment of our assets in any foreclosure, dissolution, winding-up, liquidation or reorganization, or other bankruptcy proceeding, our creditors and holders of our preferred stock will have a superior claim and interest, as applicable, to the interests of holders of our common stock. If any of the foregoing events occur, we cannot assure you that there will be sufficient assets for distribution in respect of the common stock. In addition, in the event of a change of control, holders of the Series B convertible preferred stock may be entitled to superior rights relative to the holders of common stock, including a right to require redemption by the Company of such Series B convertible preferred stock. See The Restructuring Description of the CD&R Investment Certain Terms of the Series B Convertible Preferred Stock Change of Control Redemption Right.

The issuance of shares of common stock in this exchange offer or, in the alternative, pursuant to the prepackaged plan and the issuance of shares of Series B convertible preferred stock upon consummation of the CD&R investment will dilute the ownership interest of our existing stockholders and may not be fully reflected in the current market price of our common stock and we cannot predict the price at which our common stock will trade following the restructuring.

As of September 4, 2009, we had approximately 19,981,585 shares of common stock issued and outstanding, excluding shares held by us as treasury stock. Assuming that we complete the restructuring and all outstanding convertible notes are tendered and accepted in this exchange offer or retired pursuant to the prepackaged plan, based on the number of shares of common stock authorized, issued and outstanding as of September 4, 2009, at the closing of, and after giving effect to, the restructuring:

holders of convertible notes would receive 70,200,000 shares of common stock, or approximately 24.5% of our voting power;

the CD&R Fund would receive 250,000 shares of Series B convertible preferred stock, or approximately 68.5% of our voting power;

our current stockholders would continue to hold approximately 19,981,585 shares of common stock, or approximately 7.0% of our voting power.

The average daily trading volume of our common stock on the NYSE during the three months ending August 2, 2009, was approximately 1.21 million shares. Given these low trading volumes relative to the number of shares of common stock outstanding, any sales in the public market of the shares of common stock issuable in this exchange offer or, in the alternative, pursuant to the prepackaged plan, are likely to adversely affect the prevailing market price of our common stock.

This issuance of the common stock in this exchange offer and the Series B convertible preferred stock in the CD&R investment could materially depress the price of our common stock if holders of a large number of shares of

30

#### **Table of Contents**

common stock attempt to sell all or a substantial portion of their holdings following the restructuring. Pursuant to the lock-up agreement, we agreed to enter into a registration rights agreement that will provide registration rights to the noteholders who are parties to the lock-up agreement in the event that this exchange offer is consummated. See The Restructuring The Lock-Up Agreement. In accordance with the terms of the lock-up agreement, such registration rights agreement would, among other things and subject to certain conditions, obligate us to file with the SEC a shelf registration statement covering resales of the common stock received by such noteholders on a delayed or continuous basis. Upon effectiveness of such shelf registration statement, holders of notes that executed the lock-up agreement, which hold more than 79% of the aggregate principal amount of the outstanding convertible notes, would be able to freely transfer their shares of common stock received pursuant to the exchange offer. We cannot predict what the demand for our common stock will be following the restructuring, how many shares of our common stock will be offered for sale or be sold following the restructuring, or the price at which our common stock will trade following the restructuring.

The Series B convertible preferred stock may be dilutive to our stockholders from and after the closing of the restructuring. The Series B convertible preferred stock will accrue dividends, which may be paid in cash or in kind. If dividends on the Series B convertible preferred stock are paid in kind, they will dilute the ownership interest of our stockholders. In addition, the dividend rate of the Series B convertible preferred stock will increase upon the occurrence of certain events which constitute defaults under the terms of the Series B convertible preferred stock, which may cause further dilution. Furthermore, the Series B convertible preferred stock also provides for anti-dilution rights, which may dilute the ownership interest of stockholders in the future.

Upon issuance, the Series B convertible preferred stock will accrue dividends at a rate *per annum* of 12.00% if paid in kind or at a rate *per annum* of 8.00% if paid in cash, unless and until such dividends are reduced to 0.00%, which will occur if the trading price per share of common stock equals or exceeds two times a specified target price (which is equal to \$1.2748 at the closing of the restructuring, but is subject to adjustments thereafter) for each trading day during any period of 20 consecutive trading days occurring after the 30-month anniversary of the closing of the restructuring.

If dividends on the Series B convertible preferred stock are paid in kind, it will dilute the ownership interest of stockholders, including holders of convertible notes who become holders of common stock pursuant to this exchange offer or pursuant to the prepackaged plan.

Furthermore, upon the occurrence of a default, the applicable dividend rate is subject to increase by:

6.00% per annum, if the default is the result of a failure by us after June 30, 2011 to reserve and keep available for issuance a number of shares of common stock equal to 110% of the number of shares of common stock issuable upon conversion of all outstanding shares of Series B convertible preferred stock; or

3.00% per annum for any other default.

See The Restructuring Description of the CD&R Investment Certain Terms of the Series B Convertible Preferred Stock Dividends.

After giving effect to the restructuring, we do not expect to have sufficient authorized but unissued shares of common stock to enable the conversion of all 250,000 shares of Series B convertible preferred stock to be issued to the CD&R Fund pursuant to the CD&R investment. Pursuant to the stockholders agreement (see The Restructuring Description of the CD&R Investment The Stockholders Agreement ), from and after the closing of the restructuring, we will use our best efforts and take all corporate actions necessary to obtain approval from holders of our common stock of an

amendment to Article FOURTH, section 1 of our restated certificate of incorporation to increase the number of authorized shares of common stock. However, there is no assurance that we will be able to obtain such approval. In the event that we do not obtain such approval prior to June 30, 2010, the dividend rate with respect to the Series B convertible preferred stock will increase by 3.00% *per annum*, and if we do not obtain such approval prior to June 30, 2011, the dividend rate will increase by an additional 3.00% *per annum* (resulting in an aggregate increase of 6.00% *per annum*) as described in The Restructuring Description of the CD&R Investment Certain Terms of the Series B Convertible Preferred Stock Dividends Default Dividend Rate. See The Restructuring Description of the CD&R Investment The Stockholders Agreement Agreement to Seek

31

#### **Table of Contents**

Amendments to our Restated Certificate of Incorporation. In such event, stockholders ownership interest in the Company will be further diluted to the extent that dividends paid in respect of such additional default dividend rate are dividends paid in kind.

As further described in The Restructuring Description of the CD&R Investment Certain Terms of the Series B Convertible Preferred Stock Convertibility and Anti Dilution Adjustments, the conversion price of the Series B convertible preferred stock is subject to adjustment, including if the Company issues common stock or other securities below the then-current market price or, during the first three years after the closing of the restructuring, below the then-current conversion price. Adjustments to the conversion price will dilute the ownership interest of stockholders.

## At the closing of the CD&R investment, we will enter into a stockholders agreement with the CD&R Fund pursuant to which the CD&R Fund will have substantial governance and other rights.

At the closing of the CD&R investment, we will enter into a stockholders agreement with the CD&R Fund setting forth certain terms and conditions regarding the CD&R investment and the ownership of the CD&R Fund s shares of Series B convertible preferred stock. Pursuant to the stockholders agreement with the CD&R Fund, subject to certain ownership and other requirements and conditions, the CD&R Fund will have the right to appoint a majority of directors to our board of directors, including the Lead Director or Chairman of the Executive Committee of our board of directors, and will have consent rights over a variety of significant corporate and financing matters, including, subject to certain customary exceptions and specified baskets, sales and acquisitions of assets, issuances and redemptions of equity, incurrence of debt, the declaration or payment of extraordinary distributions or dividends and changes to the Company s line of business. In addition, the CD&R Fund will be granted subscription rights under the terms and conditions of the stockholders agreement. See The Restructuring Description of the CD&R Investment The Stockholders Agreement.

Further, effective as of the closing, the Company will be required to have taken all corporate action and filed all election notices or other documentation with the NYSE necessary to elect to take advantage of the exemptions to the requirements of sections 303A.01, 303A.04 and 303A.05 of the NYSE Listed Company Manual and, for so long as we qualify as a controlled company within the meaning set forth in the NYSE Listed Company Manual or any similar provision in the rules of a stock exchange on which the securities of the Company are quoted or listed for trading, we have agreed to use our reasonable best efforts to take advantage of the exemptions therein. See The Restructuring Description of the CD&R Investment The Stockholders Agreement Agreement with Respect to Controlled Company Status.

## The Series B convertible preferred stock to be issued in connection with the CD&R investment has substantial rights and will rank senior to the common stock.

Assuming consummation of the CD&R investment, if your convertible notes are accepted for exchange for cash and shares of common stock in this exchange offer or if you receive cash and common stock under the prepackaged plan, your shares of common stock will rank junior as to dividend rights, redemption payments and rights (including as to distribution of assets) in any liquidation, dissolution, or winding-up of the affairs of the Company and otherwise to the shares of Series B convertible preferred stock to be issued to the CD&R Fund in connection with the CD&R investment. The terms of the Series B convertible preferred stock will entitle the holders thereof to vote on an as-converted basis (without taking into account any limitations on convertibility that may then be applicable) with the holders of common stock. At the closing of the restructuring, we expect that the CD&R Fund will have a majority voting position and holders of common stock will be in the minority. See The Restructuring Description of the CD&R Investment Certain Terms of the Series B Convertible Preferred Stock Voting Rights. In addition, certain actions by the Company, including, upon the occurrence of certain specified defaults, the adoption of an annual budget, the hiring and firing, or the changing of the compensation, of executive officers and the commitment, resolution or agreement to

effect any business combination, among others, require the prior affirmative vote or written consent of the holders representing at least a majority of the then-outstanding shares of Series B convertible preferred stock, voting together as a separate class. See The Restructuring Description of the CD&R Investment Certain Terms of the Series B Convertible Preferred Stock Voting Rights Class Voting Rights and The Restructuring Description of the CD&R Investment Certain Terms of the Series B Convertible Preferred Stock Voting Rights Special Contingent Voting Rights. This level of control, together with the

32

#### **Table of Contents**

CD&R Fund s rights under the stockholders agreement, could discourage others from initiating any potential merger, takeover or other change of control transaction that may otherwise be beneficial to our business or our stockholders. See The Restructuring Description of the CD&R Investment The Stockholders Agreement.

Furthermore, the terms of the Series B convertible preferred stock also provide for anti-dilution rights, which may dilute the ownership interest of stockholders in the future, and change of control redemption rights, which may entitle the holders of Series B convertible preferred stock to receive higher value for their shares of Series B convertible preferred stock than the shares of common stock would receive in the event of a change of control (see The Restructuring Description of the CD&R Investment Certain Terms of the Series B convertible preferred Stock Convertibility and Anti-Dilution Adjustments and see The Restructuring Description of the CD&R Investment Certain Terms of the Series B Convertible Preferred Stock Change of Control Redemption Right ). In addition, the terms of the Series B convertible preferred stock also provide that the CD&R Fund will participate in common stock dividends, receive preferred dividends and have preferential rights in liquidation, including make whole rights (see The Restructuring Description of the CD&R Investment Certain Terms of the Series B Convertible Preferred Stock Dividends ).

#### The trading price of our common stock has been and may continue to be volatile.

The trading price of our common stock has fluctuated in the past and is subject to significant fluctuations in response to the following factors, some of which are beyond our control:

variations in quarterly operating results;

deviations in our earnings from publicly disclosed forward-looking guidance;

changes in earnings estimates by analysts;

our announcements of significant contracts, acquisitions, strategic partnerships or joint ventures;

general conditions in the metal components and engineered building systems industries;

uncertainty about current global economic conditions;

fluctuations in stock market price and volume; and

other general economic conditions.

During fiscal 2008, the sale prices of our common stock on the NYSE ranged from a high of approximately \$40.95 per share to a low of approximately \$14.25 per share. Since the beginning of fiscal 2009, the sale prices of our common stock on the NYSE ranged from a high of approximately \$19.35 per share to a low of approximately \$1.76 per share. In recent years, the stock market in general has experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations that have affected the market price for many companies in industries similar to ours. Some of these fluctuations have been unrelated to the operating performance of the affected companies. These market fluctuations may decrease the market price of the common stock in the future.

If we cannot meet the NYSE s continued listing requirements, the NYSE may delist our common stock, and such a delisting could have an adverse impact on the liquidity and market price of the common stock.

Our common stock is currently listed on the NYSE. In the future, we may not be able to meet the NYSE s continued listing requirements, which include, among other things: (1) that the average closing price of our common stock be above \$1.00 over 30 consecutive trading days; (2) that our average global market capitalization over a consecutive 30 trading-day period is at or above \$50.0 million or, if our average global market capitalization over a consecutive 30 trading-day period is less than \$50.0 million, that our total stockholders equity is at or above \$50.0 million; and (3) that the average market capitalization be at least \$15.0 million over 30 consecutive trading days. The closing price of our common stock on September 4, 2009 was \$2.61 per share, and our market capitalization was approximately \$52.2 million as of such date.

A delisting of our common stock could negatively affect holders of common stock and negatively affect us by, among other things, reducing the liquidity and market price of our common stock; reducing the number of investors willing to hold or acquire our common stock, which could negatively affect our ability to raise equity financing;

33

#### **Table of Contents**

decreasing the amount of news and analyst coverage for our company; and limiting our ability to issue additional securities or obtain additional financing in the future.

#### We are not currently paying dividends on our common stock and have no current plans to do so in the future.

Historically, we have not paid dividends on our common stock and have no current plans to do so in the future. Furthermore, the terms of our existing credit agreement restrict our ability to do so, and we expect that, if the term loan refinancing or the ABL financing is consummated, the amended credit agreement or the ABL agreement, respectively, will have similar restrictions. In addition, under the terms of the Series B convertible preferred stock, the holders of such shares would participate in any declared common stock dividends and also receive preferred dividends, reducing the cash available to holders of common stock. See The Restructuring Description of the CD&R Investment Certain Terms of the Series B Convertible Preferred Stock. Our other future indebtedness, if any, may also restrict payment of dividends on our common stock. Also, assuming the consummation of the CD&R investment, we may not declare or pay any extraordinary dividend or distribution without the prior consent of the CD&R Fund pursuant to the stockholders agreement. See The Restructuring Description of the CD&R Investment The Stockholders Agreement Consent Rights.

In addition, the terms of the Series B convertible preferred stock will limit the circumstances under which the Company will be able to pay dividends or make distributions on junior securities, including common stock. Specifically, at all times during which shares of Series B convertible preferred stock are issued and outstanding, we may not (1) declare, pay or set aside for payment any dividends or distributions upon any junior securities, except for certain limited exceptions or (2) repurchase, redeem or otherwise acquire any junior securities for any consideration or pay any moneys or make available for a sinking fund for the redemption of any shares of such junior securities, except for certain limited exceptions, unless, in each case, the Company has access to sufficient lawful funds to redeem in full all shares of the Series B convertible preferred stock then issued and outstanding. In addition, subject to certain limited exceptions, at any time during which a default under the terms of the Series B convertible preferred stock is occurring, we may not declare or pay or set apart for payment any dividend or other distribution with respect to any junior securities, or redeem, purchase or otherwise acquire for any consideration any junior securities. See The Restructuring Description of the CD&R Investment Certain Terms of the Series B Convertible Preferred Stock Dividends Restrictions with Respect to Junior Securities Dividends.

#### We may issue securities senior to the common stock without your approval.

We may authorize, create or increase the authorized amount of any class or series of stock that ranks senior to the common stock with respect to the payment of dividends or amounts payable upon liquidation, dissolution or winding-up without the consent of the holders of the outstanding common stock, subject to applicable laws and our obligations under the stockholders agreement.

Change-of-control, consent or notice provisions in agreements may be triggered upon the completion of this exchange offer or, in the alternative, the effectiveness of the prepackaged plan.

We may be a party to agreements that contain change-of-control, consent or notice provisions that may be triggered following the issuance of the shares of common stock in this exchange offer, or in the alternative, pursuant to the prepackaged plan and/or the consummation of the CD&R investment. These change-of-control, consent or notice provisions, if triggered and not waived by any beneficiaries of those provisions, could result in termination of an agreement or in unanticipated expenses following the restructuring and could adversely affect our results of operations and financial condition.

If we file for bankruptcy protection after the consummation of this exchange offer, there is a risk that any cash consideration received in this exchange offer may be determined to be a preferential transfer and the court may require that such consideration be returned to the Company.

If a holder of convertible notes chooses to exchange its convertible notes in this exchange offer and receives cash consideration and if a bankruptcy involving the Company is commenced within 90 days after the consummation of this exchange offer (or one year after the consummation of this exchange offer if the holder of convertible notes is an insider of the Company), the bankruptcy court may determine that the holder of convertible notes

34

#### **Table of Contents**

received preferential treatment to the detriment of other unsecured creditors. In that event, any value received by such holder may be required to be returned. The holder of convertible notes would then have a claim against the bankruptcy estate equal to the value of the avoided transfer.

We may incur tax liability or lose tax attributes, and our ability to use certain of our tax attributes may be limited, as a result of the consummation of the recapitalization plan or the prepackaged plan.

We may incur cancellation-of-indebtedness income, which we refer to as COD income, for U.S. federal income tax purposes as a result of the consummation of the recapitalization plan or the prepackaged plan.

To the extent that we were considered insolvent from a tax perspective immediately prior to the consummation of the recapitalization plan, any such COD income generally would be excluded from our taxable income. Alternatively, if the discharge of our liability were to occur in a chapter 11 bankruptcy case pursuant to the prepackaged plan, any COD income from such discharge generally would be excluded from our taxable income.

If and to the extent any COD income is excluded from taxable income pursuant to the insolvency exception or the bankruptcy exception described above, we generally will be required to reduce certain of our tax attributes, including, but not limited to, our net operating losses, loss carryforwards, credit carryforwards and tax basis in certain assets. This may result in a significant reduction in, and possible elimination of, certain of our tax attributes.

If any COD income is not excluded from our taxable income and we do not have sufficient losses to offset fully such COD income, we may incur tax liability from such COD income. We may make an election under recently enacted section 108(i) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, which we refer to as the Internal Revenue Code, to defer the inclusion of all or a portion of any COD income resulting from the consummation of the recapitalization plan or the prepackaged plan, with the amount of deferred COD income becoming includible in taxable income ratably over a five-taxable-year period beginning in, if such consummation occurs in 2009, the fifth taxable year after such consummation.

Notwithstanding our ability to utilize our available losses to offset any such COD income for regular U.S. federal income tax purposes, we may nonetheless be subject to tax under the alternative minimum tax provisions of the Internal Revenue Code. Furthermore, if we make the election under section 108(i) of the Internal Revenue Code to defer our COD income, we may incur current state income tax liability with respect to such deferred COD income in states that do not recognize the election.

Because we are expected to undergo an ownership change under section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code as a result of the restructuring, our ability to use our loss carryforwards, if any, and certain other tax attributes may be subject to limitation under section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code.

#### Risks Relating to the Prepackaged Plan

## The prepackaged plan may have a material adverse effect on our operations.

The prepackaged plan solicitation or any subsequent commencement of a prepackaged chapter 11 case could adversely affect the relationships between us and our customers, employees, partners and others. There is a risk, due to uncertainty about our future, that:

customers could seek alternative suppliers;

such a bankruptcy filing could erode our customers confidence in our ability to provide our products and services and, as a result, there could be a significant and precipitous decline in our revenues, profitability and cash flow;

it may be more difficult to attract or replace key employees;

employees could be distracted from performance of their duties or more easily attracted to other career opportunities; and

our suppliers, vendors, and service providers could terminate their relationship with us or require financial assurances or enhanced performance.

35

#### **Table of Contents**

These factors could adversely affect our ability to obtain confirmation of the prepackaged plan.

#### Our business may be negatively affected if we are unable to assume our executory contracts.

The prepackaged plan provides for the assumption of all executory contracts and unexpired leases other than those leases and contracts that we specifically reject. Our intention is to preserve as much of the benefit of our existing contracts and leases as possible. However, some limited classes of executory contracts may not be assumed in this way. In these cases, we would need to obtain the consent of the counterparty to maintain the benefit of the contract. There is no guaranty that such consent would either be forthcoming or that conditions would not be attached to any such consent that make assuming the contracts unattractive. We would then be required to either forego the benefits offered by such contracts or to find alternative arrangements to replace them. We intend to attempt to pass through to the reorganized company all licenses in respect of patents, trademarks, copyright or other intellectual property that cannot otherwise be assumed pursuant to the Bankruptcy Code. The counterparty to any contract that we seek to pass through may object to our attempt to pass through the contract and require us to seek to assume or reject the contract or seek approval of the bankruptcy court to terminate the contract. In such an event, we could lose the benefit of the contract, which could harm our business.

## We may not be successful in obtaining first day orders to permit us to pay our key suppliers in the ordinary course of business.

We have tried to address potential concerns of our key customers, vendors, employees, licensors/licensees and other key parties in interest that might arise from the filing of the prepackaged plan through a variety of provisions incorporated into or contemplated by the prepackaged plan, including our intention to seek appropriate court orders to permit us to pay our accounts payable to key parties in interest in the ordinary course, assume contracts with such parties in interest and in the case of those key vendors who have agreed to continue to extend business terms to us during and after our bankruptcy proceeding, to provide for the payments of prepetition accounts payable. However, there can be no guaranty that we will be successful in obtaining the necessary approvals of the bankruptcy court for such arrangements or for every party in interest we may seek to treat in this manner, and as a result, our business might suffer.

#### The bankruptcy court may not confirm the prepackaged plan.

In the event that the conditions to the recapitalization plan are not satisfied or, with the consent of the CD&R Fund, waived, including, for example, the minimum tender condition, but we receive acceptances from a sufficient number of holders of impaired claims in an impaired class of claims to allow the prepackaged plan to be confirmed under the Bankruptcy Code, including confirmation through the nonconsensual cram-down provisions of section 1129(b) of the Bankruptcy Code with respect to non-accepting impaired claims classes, as an alternative to the recapitalization plan, we may elect and, under the terms of the investment agreement, we may be required, to seek confirmation of the prepackaged plan in a chapter 11 bankruptcy proceeding. See The Restructuring Description of the CD&R Investment Agreement Commencement of a Reorganization Case in Connection with the Prepackaged Plan Covenant.

We cannot assure you that the prepackaged plan, if filed, will be confirmed by the bankruptcy court. Section 1129 of the Bankruptcy Code, which sets forth the requirements for confirmation of a plan of reorganization, requires, among other things, a finding by the bankruptcy court that the plan is feasible, that all claims and interests have been classified in compliance with the provisions of section 1122 of the Bankruptcy Code, and that, under the plan, each holder of a claim or interest within each impaired class either accepts the plan or receives or retains cash or property of a value, as of the date the plan becomes effective, that is not less than the value such holder would receive or retain

if the debtor were liquidated under chapter 7 of the Bankruptcy Code. See The Prepackaged Plan Confirmation of the Prepackaged Plan.

There can be no assurance that a bankruptcy court will conclude that the feasibility test and other requirements of section 1129 of the Bankruptcy Code have been met with respect to the prepackaged plan.

If the prepackaged plan is filed, there can be no assurance that modifications to such plan would not be required for confirmation, or that such modifications would not require a resolicitation of votes on the prepackaged plan. We

36

#### **Table of Contents**

believe that, if the prepackaged plan is confirmed, it would not be followed by a liquidation or an immediate need for further financial reorganization and that holders of claims and interests would receive or retain value that is not less than the value such holders would receive or retain if we were liquidated under chapter 7 of the Bankruptcy Code.

Moreover, the bankruptcy court could determine that our disclosures made in this document are inadequate and that the votes in favor of the prepackaged plan do not count. We would then have to commence the solicitation process again, which would include re-filing a plan of reorganization and disclosure statement. Typically, this process involves a 90-day or longer period and includes a court hearing for the required approval of a disclosure statement, followed (after bankruptcy court approval) by another solicitation of claim and interest holder votes for the plan of reorganization, followed by a confirmation hearing for the bankruptcy court to determine whether the requirements for confirmation have been satisfied, including the requisite claim and (if applicable) interest holder acceptances.

If the prepackaged plan is not confirmed, our reorganization case may be converted to a case under chapter 7 of the Bankruptcy Code, pursuant to which a trustee would be appointed or elected to liquidate our assets for distribution in accordance with the priorities established by the Bankruptcy Code. A discussion of the effects that a chapter 7 liquidation would have on the recoveries of holders of claims and interests and our liquidation analysis are set forth under The Prepackaged Plan Liquidation Analysis. We believe that liquidation under chapter 7 of the Bankruptcy Code would result in (1) smaller distributions being made to creditors than those provided for in the prepackaged plan because of (a) the likelihood that our assets would have to be sold or otherwise disposed of in a less orderly fashion over a short period of time, (b) additional administrative expenses involved in the appointment of a trustee, and (c) additional expenses and claims, some of which would be entitled to priority, which would be generated during the liquidation and from the rejection of leases and other executory contracts in connection with a cessation of our operations, and (2) no distributions being made to holders of our common stock.

If (1) our reorganization case is dismissed or converted into a case under chapter 7 of the Bankruptcy Code, or we filed a motion or other pleading with the bankruptcy court seeking the dismissal or conversion of the prepackaged plan proceeding or (2) if the bankruptcy court (a) grants relief that is materially inconsistent with the investment agreement or the prepackaged plan in any respect or (b) enters an order confirming any plan of reorganization other than the prepackaged plan, the CD&R Fund would have the right to terminate the investment agreement. See The Restructuring Description of the CD&R Investment Termination of the Investment Agreement.

If we commence a chapter 11 bankruptcy proceeding, other parties in interest might be permitted to propose alternative plans of reorganization that may be less favorable to certain of our constituencies than the prepackaged plan.

If our reorganization case is commenced, other parties in interest could seek authority from the bankruptcy court to propose an alternative plan of reorganization. Under the Bankruptcy Code, a debtor-in-possession initially has the exclusive right to propose and solicit acceptances of a plan of reorganization. However, such exclusivity period can be reduced or terminated upon order of the bankruptcy court. If such an order were to be entered, other parties in interest would then have the opportunity to propose alternative plans of reorganization.

If other parties in interest were to propose an alternative plan following expiration or termination of our exclusivity period, such a plan may be less favorable to existing equity interest holders and may seek to exclude these holders from retaining any shares of common stock under their plan. Alternative plans of reorganization also may treat less favorably the claims of a number of other constituencies, including our employees, our trading partners and customers. We consider maintaining relationships with our employees, customers and trading partners as critical to maintaining the value of our business as we restructure, and have sought to treat those constituencies accordingly. However, proponents of alternative plans of reorganization may not share our assessment and seek to impair the claims of such constituencies to a greater degree. If there were competing plans of reorganization, our reorganization

case is likely to become longer and more complicated. If this were to occur, or if our employees or other constituencies important to our business reacted adversely to an alternative plan of reorganization, the adverse

37

#### **Table of Contents**

consequences discussed in the first risk factor in this section discussing risks related to the prepackaged plan could also occur.

If a bankruptcy proceeding is commenced by a third party against us or our subsidiaries (other than a bankruptcy contemplated by the prepackaged plan), the CD&R Fund may terminate the investment agreement if such proceeding has not been dismissed within 30 days of its commencement. See The Restructuring Description of the CD&R Investment Termination of the Investment Agreement.

#### The bankruptcy court may disagree with our classification of claims and interests.

Section 1122 of the Bankruptcy Code provides that a plan may place a claim or an interest in a particular class only if such claim or interest is substantially similar to the other claims or interests of such class. We believe that the classification of claims and interests under the prepackaged plan complies with the requirements set forth in the Bankruptcy Code; however, once a chapter 11 case has been commenced, a claim or interest holder could challenge the classification. In such event, the cost of the prepackaged plan and the time needed to confirm the prepackaged plan may increase and we cannot assure you that the bankruptcy court will agree with our classification of claims and interests. If the bankruptcy court concludes that the classification of claims and interests under the prepackaged plan does not comply with the requirements of the Bankruptcy Code, we may need to modify the prepackaged plan. Such modification could require a resolicitation of votes on the prepackaged plan. If the bankruptcy court determined that our classification of claims and interests was not appropriate, the prepackaged plan may not be confirmed.

#### The bankruptcy court may find the solicitation of acceptances inadequate.

Usually, a plan of reorganization is filed and votes to accept or reject the plan are solicited after the filing of a petition commencing a chapter 11 case. Nevertheless, a debtor may solicit votes prior to the commencement of a chapter 11 case in accordance with section 1126(b) of the Bankruptcy Code and bankruptcy rule 3018(b). Section 1126(b) of the Bankruptcy Code and bankruptcy rule 3018(b) require that:

the plan of reorganization be transmitted to substantially all creditors and other interest holders entitled to vote;

the time prescribed for voting is not unreasonably short; and

the solicitation of votes is in compliance with any applicable nonbankruptcy law, rule or regulation governing the adequacy of disclosure in such solicitation or, if no such law, rule or regulation exists, votes be solicited only after the disclosure of adequate information.

Section 1125(a)(1) of the Bankruptcy Code describes adequate information as information of a kind and in sufficient detail as would enable a hypothetical reasonable investor typical of holders of claims and interests to make an informed judgment about the plan. With regard to solicitation of votes prior to the commencement of a bankruptcy case, if the bankruptcy court concludes that the requirements of Bankruptcy Rule 3018(b) have not been met, then the bankruptcy court could deem such votes invalid, whereupon the prepackaged plan could not be confirmed without a resolicitation of votes to accept or reject the prepackaged plan. While we believe that the requirements of section 1126(b) of the Bankruptcy Code and Bankruptcy Rule 3018 will be met, there can be no assurance that the bankruptcy court will reach the same conclusion.

Even if all classes of claims that are entitled to vote accept the prepackaged plan, we may fail to meet all conditions precedent to effectiveness of the prepackaged plan or the prepackaged plan may not become effective.

Although we believe that the effective date of the prepackaged plan will occur very shortly after confirmation of the prepackaged plan, there can be no assurance as to such timing.

The confirmation and effectiveness of the prepackaged plan are subject to certain conditions that may not be satisfied. We cannot assure you that all requirements for confirmation and effectiveness required under the prepackaged plan will be satisfied or that the bankruptcy court will conclude that the requirements for confirmation

38

#### **Table of Contents**

and effectiveness of the prepackaged plan have been satisfied. See The Prepackaged Plan Confirmation of the Prepackaged Plan and The Prepackaged Plan Conditions to Effective Date of the Prepackaged Plan.

If the conditions precedent to the effective date, including entry of the confirmation order, the receipt of proceeds from the CD&R investment, the consummation of the term loan refinancing, the consummation of the ABL financing and such other condition as to which the Company and the CD&R Fund may reasonably agree, have not occurred, the prepackaged plan may be vacated by the bankruptcy court.

Furthermore, in the event that the CD&R Fund does not fund the CD&R investment, and without a suitable alternative new investment, we do not believe the prepackaged plan would meet the confirmation requirement of section 1129 of the Bankruptcy Code that the plan be feasible. See The Prepackaged Plan Confirmation of the Prepackaged Plan. In that event, we will not seek confirmation of the prepackaged plan and your vote in favor of the prepackaged plan will be disregarded.

The lock-up agreement may be terminated by a number of holders that executed the lock-up agreement holding not less than two-thirds in aggregate principal amount of all convertible notes held by all holders that executed the lock-up agreement if an event occurs that would provide either the Company or the CD&R Fund with the right to terminate the investment agreement under the terms of the investment agreement, which includes certain triggers relating to the timing of events in the prepackaged plan proceeding (see The Restructuring Description of the CD&R Investment The Investment Agreement Termination of the Investment Agreement ).

We cannot predict the amount of time that we would spend in bankruptcy for the purpose of implementing the prepackaged plan, and a lengthy bankruptcy proceeding would disrupt our business, as well as impair the prospect for reorganization on the terms contained in the prepackaged plan.

While we expect that a chapter 11 bankruptcy filing solely for the purpose of implementing the prepackaged plan would be of short duration (*e.g.*, 60 days) and would not be unduly disruptive to our business, we cannot be certain that this would be the case. Although the prepackaged plan is designed to minimize the length of the bankruptcy proceeding, it is impossible to predict with certainty the amount of time that we may spend in bankruptcy, and we cannot be certain that the prepackaged plan would be confirmed. Even if confirmed on a timely basis, a bankruptcy proceeding to confirm the prepackaged plan could itself have an adverse effect on our business. There is a risk, due to uncertainty about our future, that:

customers could seek alternative sources of products from our competitors, including competitors that have comparatively greater financial resources and that are in little or no relative financial distress;

employees could be distracted from performance of their duties or more easily attracted to other career opportunities; and

business partners could terminate their relationship with us or require financial assurances or enhanced performance.

A lengthy bankruptcy proceeding would also involve additional expenses and divert the attention of management from operation of our business, as well as creating concerns for employees, suppliers and customers.

The disruption that a bankruptcy proceeding would inflict upon our business could increase with the length of time it takes to complete the proceeding, and the severity of that disruption would depend upon the attractiveness and feasibility of the prepackaged plan of reorganization from the perspective of the constituent parties on whom we depend, including vendors, employees and customers. If we are unable to obtain confirmation of the prepackaged plan

on a timely basis, because of a challenge to the prepackaged plan or a failure to satisfy the conditions to the effectiveness of the prepackaged plan, we may be forced to operate in bankruptcy for an extended period while we try to develop a different reorganization plan that can be confirmed. A protracted bankruptcy case could increase both the probability and the magnitude of the adverse effects described above.

39

#### **Table of Contents**

## We may be unable to obtain adequate financing or authority to use cash collateral during the pendency of the bankruptcy proceeding.

On or shortly after commencing the prepackaged chapter 11 bankruptcy case, we intend to ask the bankruptcy court to authorize us to obtain debtor-in-possession financing and/or to use cash collateral to fund the prepackaged chapter 11 bankruptcy case. Such financing arrangements and access to cash collateral will provide liquidity during the pendency of the prepackaged chapter 11 bankruptcy case. There can be no assurance that the bankruptcy court will approve such financing arrangements or the use of cash collateral on the terms requested. Moreover, if the prepackaged chapter 11 bankruptcy case takes longer than expected to conclude, we may exhaust our financing and available cash collateral. There is no assurance that we will be able to obtain additional financing or an extension of the right to use cash collateral. In such case, the liquidity necessary for the orderly functioning of our businesses may be materially impaired.

## We may seek to amend, waive, modify or withdraw the prepackaged plan any time prior to the confirmation of the prepackaged plan.

We reserve the right, prior to the confirmation or substantial consummation thereof, subject to the provisions of section 1127 of the Bankruptcy Code and Bankruptcy Rule 3019, to amend the terms of the prepackaged plan or waive any conditions thereto, if and to the extent such amendments or waivers are necessary or desirable to consummate the prepackaged plan. The potential impact of any such amendment or waiver on the holders of claims and interests cannot presently be foreseen, but may include a change in the economic impact of the prepackaged plan on some or all of the classes or a change in the relative rights of such classes. All holders of claims and interests will receive notice of such amendments or waivers required by applicable law and the bankruptcy court. If, after receiving sufficient acceptances, but prior to confirmation of the prepackaged plan, we seek to modify the prepackaged plan, the previously solicited acceptances will be valid only if (i) all classes of adversely affected creditors and interest holders accept the modification in writing or (ii) the bankruptcy court determines, after notice to designated parties, that such modification was *de minimis* or purely technical or otherwise did not adversely change the treatment of holders accepting claims and interests.

# If we are unable to obtain confirmation of the prepackaged plan on a timely basis, then, in accordance with the terms of the investment agreement, the investment agreement may be terminated and we will not receive the proceeds of the CD&R investment.

If the reorganization case in connection with the prepackaged plan has been commenced and the effective date of the prepackaged plan has not occurred by a date that is no later than four weeks and ten days after the entry of the order confirming the prepackaged plan (provided, that the party seeking to so terminate has not breached in any material respect its obligations under the investment agreement in any manner that has been a proximate cause of the failure to consummate the CD&R investment on or before such date), either we or the CD&R Fund may terminate the investment agreement. The CD&R Fund also has the right to terminate the investment agreement if:

at any time after eight weeks after the filing of the prepackaged plan, the bankruptcy court has not entered the confirmation order with respect to the prepackaged plan on or prior to such date; or

the bankruptcy court enters an order denying confirmation of the prepackaged plan or the confirmation order is vacated or reversed and does not become a final order within four weeks and ten days after the entry of the confirmation order. See 
The Restructuring Description of the CD&R Investment The Investment Agreement Termination of the Investment Agreement.

The distribution of proceeds in the prepackaged plan will be delayed until after the effective date.

If we file a chapter 11 case and the prepackaged plan is confirmed, the date of the distributions to be made pursuant to the prepackaged plan will be delayed until after the effective date of the prepackaged plan. We estimate that the process of obtaining court approval of the prepackaged plan will last approximately 30 days from the date of the commencement of our chapter 11 case but it could last considerably longer. The distribution would be delayed for a minimum of 11 days thereafter and may be delayed for a substantially longer period.

40

#### **Table of Contents**

In the event that the restructuring is accomplished through the confirmation and effectiveness of the prepackaged plan, the Company would need to adopt fresh start accounting, which may have a material effect on the Company s financial statements, and certain of the fair values established under fresh start reporting may differ materially from the values recorded on the Company s historical financial statements and reflected or projected in this prospectus/disclosure statement.

In the event the restructuring is accomplished through the confirmation and effectiveness of the prepackaged plan pursuant to the Bankruptcy Code, the Company would need to adopt fresh start reporting as of its emergence from chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code, in accordance with applicable accounting rules. These rules require the Company to revalue its assets and liabilities to current estimated fair value, re-establish shareholders equity at the reorganization value determined in connection with the plan of reorganization, and record any portion of the reorganization value which cannot be attributed to specific tangible or identified intangible assets as goodwill. The adoption of fresh start accounting may have a material effect on the Company s financial statements, and certain of the fair values established under fresh start reporting may differ materially from the values recorded on the Company s historical financial statements and reflected or projected in this prospectus/disclosure statement. As a result, the Company s financial statements published for periods following its emergence from chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code will not be comparable with those prepared before that date or contained herein.

#### Other Risks Relating to the Company

Our industry is currently experiencing a downturn which, if sustained, could materially and adversely affect our business, liquidity and results of operations.

The United States economy is currently undergoing a period of slowdown and unprecedented volatility, which is having an adverse effect on our business. During fiscal 2008, McGraw-Hill s estimate of low-rise new construction starts for buildings less than five stories declined by 15.1% in square feet compared to 2007. This industry decline contributed to a 34% decline in our total tons shipped. During the first nine months of fiscal 2009, our external tons shipped declined 41% as compared to the same period of 2008, and McGraw-Hill is currently predicting a 35% decline in square footage for nonresidential construction activity in calendar 2009.

Continued uncertainty about current economic conditions has had a negative effect on our business and will continue to pose a risk to our business as our customers may postpone spending in response to tighter credit, negative financial news and/or declines in income or asset values, which could have a material negative effect on the demand for our products. Other factors that could influence demand include fuel and other energy costs, conditions in the nonresidential real estate markets, labor and healthcare costs, access to credit and other macroeconomic factors. From time to time, our industry has also been adversely affected in various parts of the country by declines in nonresidential construction starts, including, but not limited to, high vacancy rates, changes in tax laws affecting the real estate industry, high interest rates and the unavailability of financing. Sales of our products may be adversely affected by weakness in demand for our products within particular customer groups, or a recession in the general construction industry or particular geographic regions. These and other economic factors could have a material adverse effect on demand for our products and on our financial condition and operating results.

We cannot predict the ultimate severity or length of the current economic crisis, or the timing or severity of future economic or industry downturns. Any economic downturn, particularly in states where many of our sales are made, could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition, including potential asset impairments.

Current challenges in the credit markets may adversely affect our business and financial condition.

The financial turmoil that affected the banking system and financial markets beginning in the second half of 2007 has resulted in a tightening in the credit markets, a low level of liquidity in many financial markets, and extreme volatility in fixed income, credit, currency and equity markets. The current challenges in the credit markets have had, and may continue to have, a negative impact on our business and our financial condition. We may face significant challenges if conditions in the financial markets do not improve, including raw material shortages resulting from the insolvency of key suppliers and the inability of customers to obtain credit to finance purchases of our products. In addition, declining customer spending may result in higher levels of order cancellations than we

41

#### **Table of Contents**

have historically experienced, and may drive us to sell our products at lower prices, which would have an adverse effect on our margins and profitability.

If we do not consummate the restructuring by November 6, 2009, we expect to violate the financial covenants in our existing credit agreement, which would be an event of default under our existing credit agreement and could cause all of our existing indebtedness to be declared immediately due and payable.

Our existing credit agreement requires compliance with various covenants and provisions customary for agreements of this nature, including a restricted payments test, and a minimum ratio of Consolidated EBITDA (as defined in our existing credit agreement) to interest expense of 5.0 to 1 and maximum ratios of total debt and senior debt to Consolidated EBITDA of 4.0 to 1 and 2.75 to 1, respectively. Such covenants and provisions are also incorporated by reference into our swap agreement. As of August 2, 2009, we continued not to be in compliance with the required leverage, senior leverage and interest coverage ratios in our existing credit agreement, although we were in compliance with the remaining covenants.

We have obtained a waiver from the lenders under our existing credit agreement, including waivers of our financial maintenance covenants, which is effective through November 6, 2009.

If we are unable to consummate the restructuring either through the recapitalization plan or, in the alternative, the prepackaged plan, or otherwise to refinance our outstanding debt by November 6, 2009, we expect that we will fail to be in compliance with the financial covenants under our existing credit agreement as of such date. Absent an extension of the waiver, such violations will constitute an event of default under our existing credit agreement, and the lenders under our existing credit agreement could elect to declare all \$293.3 million of our outstanding borrowings thereunder immediately due and payable. In the event that we do not repay such borrowings upon acceleration, the lenders under our existing credit agreement could exercise their remedies as secured creditors with respect to the collateral securing such borrowings. A failure to pay or refinance such borrowings will also result in a default under the convertible notes indenture, which could also then be declared immediately due and payable, and under our swap agreement, which could then be terminated by the counterparty thereto. If all such indebtedness, which totaled approximately \$473.7 million as of August 2, 2009 and such amounts payable pursuant to the termination of the swap agreement, were to become due and payable on November 6, 2009, it would result in a material adverse effect on our financial condition, operations and debt service capabilities. As of August 2, 2009, excluding restricted cash, we had a current cash balance of approximately \$105.4 million to address our liquidity needs. For a description of our non-compliance with the financial ratio covenants under our existing credit agreement, see our quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended August 2, 2009, our current reports on Form 8-K filed on May 21, 2009, July 15, 2009 and August 27, 2009, and Incorporation of Certain Documents by Reference.

In such event, we will immediately need to pursue other alternatives to manage our liquidity needs, including potentially commencing a bankruptcy on terms other than as contemplated by the prepackaged plan.

If we do not consummate the restructuring by November 6, 2009, adverse capital and credit market conditions may significantly and adversely affect our ability to otherwise refinance our existing debt.

If we do not consummate the restructuring either through the recapitalization plan or, in the alternative, through the prepackaged plan, adverse capital and credit market conditions may significantly and adversely affect our ability to otherwise refinance our existing debt. Beginning in the third quarter of 2008 and continuing into 2009, the credit markets have been very volatile and have presented very unattractive terms and conditions for the few companies entering into credit transactions during that period. The credit markets have favored investment grade securities and securities issued to companies within non-cyclical industries during that period. In the event that we need to complete an alternative refinancing, lenders, if willing to provide credit, may seek more restrictive lending provisions and

higher interest rates that may reduce our borrowing capacity and increase our costs. Also, given the increased stress in the financial sector, current or future lenders may become unwilling or unable to continue to advance funds under any agreements in place. We can make no assurances that we will be able to refinance our indebtedness, or that any such refinancing will be under terms that are as favorable to us as past credit agreements or the agreements as contemplated by the restructuring. If we are unable to refinance our indebtedness in a timely

42

#### **Table of Contents**

fashion, our cash from operations may be insufficient to meet our debt obligations. In addition, the failure to obtain sufficient financing may constrain our ability to operate or grow our business and affect our strategy.

If we do not consummate the restructuring by November 6, 2009, we will need to pursue all other alternatives to refinance our existing debt. Any refinancing of our existing debt using equity will likely be highly dilutive to our existing stockholders and could adversely affect the price of our common stock.

If we do not consummate the restructuring either through the recapitalization plan or, in the alternative, through the prepackaged plan, by November 6, 2009, we will need to pursue all other alternatives to refinance our existing debt, including an equity refinancing. At our current market valuation, any equity refinancing of our debt would be highly dilutive to our existing stockholders, which may be more or less dilutive than the restructuring. In addition, the issuance and sale of substantial amounts of common stock, or the announcement that such issuances and sales may occur, could adversely affect the market price of our common stock.

## Our future operational and financial performance may vary materially from the financial projections contained in this prospectus/disclosure statement.

In order to comply with the feasibility test of section 1129 of the Bankruptcy Code, we have provided financial projections in this prospectus/disclosure statement. See The Prepackaged Plan Confirmation of the Prepackaged Plan, The Prepackaged Plan Feasibility of the Prepackaged Plan and Unaudited Projected Consolidated Financial Information for Restructuring under the Prepackaged Plan. These projections are based upon a number of assumptions and estimates, including that the financial restructuring will be implemented in accordance with its current terms.

Financial projections are necessarily speculative in nature and one or more of the assumptions and estimates underlying these projections may prove not to be valid. We believe the assumptions and estimates underlying these projections to be reasonable, but they are by their very nature inherently uncertain and subject to significant business, economic and competitive risks and uncertainties, many of which are beyond our control to predict or mitigate. See Risk Factors Other Risks Relating to the Company. Accordingly, our financial condition and results of operations following the implementation of the recapitalization plan or the prepackaged plan are likely to vary significantly from those set forth in the financial projections. Consequently, the financial projections should not be regarded as a representation by us, our advisors or any other person that the results suggested by the projections will be achieved. Holders of convertible notes are cautioned to read the financial projections in conjunction with the Selected Consolidated Financial and Other Data elsewhere in this prospectus/disclosure statement, the financial statement and schedules and related convertible notes for the fiscal year ended 2008 that are attached as Exhibit 99.1 to our current report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on September 10, 2009 and the consolidated financial statements and related convertible notes for the quarters ended February 1, 2009, May 3, 2009 and August 2, 2009 contained in our Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, which are incorporated by reference into this prospectus/disclosure statement, and not to place undue reliance on the financial projections in determining whether to tender your convertible notes or vote to accept or reject the prepackaged plan.

## We may not be able to service our debt or obtain future financing and we may be limited operationally.

We may incur additional debt from time to time to finance acquisitions, capital expenditures or for other purposes if we comply with the restrictions in our existing credit agreement, and if the restructuring is consummated, the amended credit agreement and the ABL agreement.

The debt that we carry may have important consequences to us, including the following:

our ability to obtain additional financing, if necessary, for working capital, capital expenditures, acquisitions or other purposes may be impaired or additional financing may not be available on favorable terms;

we must use a portion of our cash flow to pay the principal and interest on our debt. These payments reduce the funds that would otherwise be available for our operations and future business opportunities;

a substantial decrease in our net operating cash flows could make it difficult for us to meet our debt service requirements and force us to modify our operations; and

43

#### **Table of Contents**

we may be more vulnerable to a downturn in our business or the economy generally.

If we cannot service our debt, we will be forced to take actions such as reducing or delaying acquisitions and/or capital expenditures, selling assets, restructuring or refinancing our debt, or seeking additional equity capital. We can give no assurance that we can do any of these things on satisfactory terms or at all.

## Restrictive covenants in our existing and future credit agreements may adversely affect us.

We must comply with operating and financing restrictions in our existing credit agreement and swap agreement. These restrictions affect, and in many respects limit or prohibit, our ability to:

incur additional indebtedness;
make restricted payments, including dividends or other distributions;
incur liens;
make investments, including joint venture investments;
sell assets;
repurchase our debt, including our convertible notes, and our capital stock; and
merge or consolidate with or into other companies or sell substantially all our assets.

If the term loan refinancing is consummated on the terms contemplated in the form of the amended credit agreement attached hereto as Annex J, we will need to comply with the operating and financing restrictions in such amended credit agreement in lieu of the restrictions under our existing credit agreement. We expect that these restrictions will affect and, in many respects, limit or prohibit our ability to:

incur additional indebtedness;
incur guarantee obligations;
make dividends and other restricted payments;
create liens;
make investments;
dispose of assets;
prepay other indebtedness;
make acquisitions;
engage in mergers;

change the nature of our business; and

engage in certain transactions with affiliates.

We may also have similar restrictions with any future debt.

We are required to make mandatory payments under our existing credit agreement upon the occurrence of certain events, including the sale of assets and the issuance of debt or equity securities, in each case subject to certain limitations and conditions set forth in our existing credit agreement. Our existing credit agreement also requires us to achieve specified financial and operating results and satisfy set financial tests relating to our leverage, interest coverage and senior debt ratios. These restrictions could limit our ability to plan for or react to market conditions or to meet extraordinary capital needs or otherwise could restrict our activities. In addition, under certain circumstances and subject to the limitations set forth in our existing credit agreement, we are required to pay down our existing term loan to the extent we generate positive cash flow each fiscal year. These restrictions could also adversely affect our ability to finance our future operations or capital needs or to engage in other business activities that would be in our interest.

44

#### **Table of Contents**

If the term loan refinancing is consummated on the terms contemplated in the form of the amended credit agreement attached hereto as Annex J, such amended credit agreement will have provisions requiring us, subject to certain limitations and conditions set forth therein, to prepay the term loans thereunder upon the occurrence of certain events, including specified sales of assets, certain debt offerings and certain insurance recovery and condemnation events. In addition, if the term loan refinancing is consummated on the terms contemplated in the form of the amended credit agreement attached hereto as Annex J, under certain circumstances and subject to the limitations set forth therein, we will be required to pay down the outstanding term loans thereunder in an amount equal to 50% of annual excess cash flow (as defined in the form of the amended credit agreement attached hereto as Annex J) for any fiscal year ending on or after October 31, 2010. These restrictions could adversely affect our ability to finance our future operations or capital needs or to engage in other business activities that would be in our interest.

In addition, if the ABL financing is consummated, we will need to comply with the operating and financing restrictions in, and make the mandatory repayments required by, the ABL agreement in addition to those described above. The terms of the ABL financing remain subject to final negotiation and completion of definitive documentation. Under the investment agreement, these terms must either (1) reflect the terms and conditions summarized in the ABL term sheet attached as Annex K or (2) be, in the CD&R Fund s sole discretion (exercised in good faith), no less favorable (as to each item and in the aggregate) to the Company and the CD&R Fund (as a prospective stockholder of the Company) than the terms and conditions summarized in the ABL term sheet and, in each case described in clauses (1) and (2), otherwise will be either (a) in the CD&R Fund s reasonable discretion (exercised in good faith), consistent with and no less favorable to the Company and the CD&R Fund (as a prospective stockholder of the Company) than the terms and conditions of asset-based revolving credit financing transactions for companies sponsored by CD&R, or (b) in the CD&R Fund s sole discretion (exercised in good faith), acceptable to the CD&R Fund.

## Our businesses are seasonal, and our results of operations during our first two fiscal quarters may be adversely affected by seasonality.

The metal coil coating, metal components and engineered building systems businesses, and the construction industry in general, are seasonal in nature. Sales normally are lower in the first calendar quarter of each year compared to the other three quarters because of unfavorable weather conditions for construction and typical business planning cycles affecting construction. This seasonality adversely affects our results of operations for the first two fiscal quarters. Prolonged severe weather conditions can delay construction projects and otherwise adversely affect our business.

## Price volatility and supply constraints in the steel market could prevent us from meeting delivery schedules to our customers or reduce our profit margins.

Our business is heavily dependent on the price and supply of steel. The steel industry is highly cyclical in nature, and steel prices have been volatile in recent years and may remain volatile in the future. Steel prices are influenced by numerous factors beyond our control, including general economic conditions domestically and internationally, the availability of raw materials, competition, labor costs, freight and transportation costs, production costs, import duties and other trade restrictions. Steel prices increased through most of fiscal 2008 due to cost increases in iron, ore, coke, steel scrap, ocean freight and transportation costs. However, rapidly declining demand due to the effects of the credit crisis and global economic slowdown on the construction, automotive and industrial markets has resulted in many steel manufacturers around the world announcing plans to cut production by closing plants and furloughing union and non-union workers. Steel suppliers such as U.S. Steel and Arcelor Mittal are among these manufacturers who have cut production.

We do not have any long-term contracts for the purchase of steel and normally do not maintain an inventory of steel in excess of our current production requirements. However, from time to time, we may purchase steel in advance of

announced steel price increases. We can give you no assurance that steel will remain available or that prices will not continue to be volatile. While most of our contracts have escalation clauses that allow us, under certain circumstances, to pass along all or a portion of increases in the price of steel after the date of the contract but prior to delivery, we may, for competitive or other reasons, not be able to pass such price increases along. If the

45

#### **Table of Contents**

available supply of steel declines, we could experience price increases that we are not able to pass on to our customers, a deterioration of service from our suppliers or interruptions or delays that may cause us not to meet delivery schedules to our customers. Any of these problems could adversely affect our results of operations and financial condition.

We rely on a few major suppliers for our supply of steel, which makes us more vulnerable to supply constraints and pricing pressure, as well as the financial condition of those suppliers.

We rely on a few major suppliers for our supply of steel and may be adversely affected by bankruptcy, change in control, financial condition or other factors affecting those suppliers. During the first nine months of fiscal 2009, we purchased approximately 28% of our steel requirements from one vendor. No other vendor accounted for over 10% of our steel requirements during the first nine months of fiscal 2009. Due to unfavorable market conditions and our inventory supply requirements, during the first nine months of fiscal 2009 we purchased insignificant amounts of steel from foreign suppliers. Limiting purchases to domestic suppliers further reduces our available steel supply base. Therefore, recently announced cutbacks, a prolonged labor strike against one or more of our principal domestic suppliers, or financial or other difficulties of a principal supplier that affects its ability to produce steel, could have a material adverse effect on our operations. Furthermore, if one or more of our current suppliers is unable for financial or any other reason to continue in business or to produce steel sufficient to meet our requirements, essential supply of our primary raw materials could be temporarily interrupted and our business could be adversely affected. However, alternative sources, including foreign steel, are currently believed to be sufficient to maintain required deliveries.

#### We may recognize additional goodwill or other intangible asset impairment charges.

As of February 1, 2009, we estimated the market implied fair value of our goodwill was less than its carrying value by approximately \$508.9 million, which was recorded as a goodwill impairment charge in the first quarter of fiscal 2009. This charge was an estimate based on the result of the preliminary allocation of fair value in the second step of the goodwill impairment test. However, due to the timing and complexity of the valuation calculations required under the second step of the test, we finalized our allocation of the fair value during the second quarter of fiscal 2009 with regard to property, plant and equipment and intangible assets in which their respective values are dependent on property, plant and equipment.

Based on our Phase III restructuring plan to close certain of our manufacturing facilities, management determined that there was an indicator to require us to perform another interim goodwill impairment test for each of our reporting units that had goodwill remaining as of May 3, 2009. As a result of this impairment indicator, we updated the first step of our goodwill impairment test in the second quarter of fiscal 2009 and determined that our carrying value exceeded our fair value at most of our reporting units with goodwill remaining in each of our operating segments, indicating that goodwill was potentially impaired. As a result, we initiated the second step of the goodwill impairment test. As of May 3, 2009, we determined the market implied fair value of our goodwill was less than its carrying value by approximately \$102.5 million, which has been recorded as a goodwill impairment charge in the second quarter of fiscal 2009. The goodwill impairment charge from this triggering event was finalized in the second quarter of fiscal 2009.

In addition, a future triggering event, such as a decline in our cash flow projections, may cause additional impairments based on factors such as our stock price, projected cash flows, assumptions used, control premiums or other variables. Any future triggering event, such as declines in our cash flow projections, may also cause additional intangible asset impairments.

Failure to retain or replace key personnel could hurt our operations.

Our success depends to a significant degree upon the efforts, contributions and abilities of our senior management, plant managers and other highly skilled personnel, including our sales executives. These executives and managers have many accumulated years of experience in our industry and have developed personal relationships with our customers that are important to our business. If we do not retain the services of our key personnel or if

46

#### **Table of Contents**

we fail to adequately plan for the succession of such individuals, our customer relationships, results of operations and financial condition may be adversely affected.

If we are unable to enforce our intellectual property rights, or if our intellectual property rights become obsolete, our competitive position could be adversely affected.

We utilize a variety of intellectual property rights in our services. We have a number of U.S. patents, pending patent applications and other proprietary rights, including those relating to metal roofing systems, metal overhead doors, our pier and header system, our Long Bay® System and our building estimating and design system. We also have several registered trademarks and pending registrations in the United States. We view our portfolio of process and design technologies as one of our competitive strengths. We may not be able to successfully preserve these intellectual property rights in the future and these rights could be invalidated, circumvented or challenged. If we are unable to protect and maintain our intellectual property rights, or if there are any successful intellectual property challenges or infringement proceedings against us, our business and revenue could be materially and adversely affected.

### We incur costs to comply with environmental laws and have liabilities for environmental cleanups.

Because we have air emissions, discharge wastewater, own and operate real property, and handle hazardous substances and solid waste, we incur costs and liabilities to comply with environmental laws and regulations and may incur significant additional costs as those laws and regulations or their enforcement change in the future or if there is an accidental release of hazardous substances into the environment. The operations of our manufacturing facilities are subject to stringent and complex federal, state and local environmental laws and regulations. These include, for example, (1) the federal Clean Air Act and comparable state laws and regulations that impose obligations related to air emissions, (2) the federal RCRA and comparable state laws that impose requirements for the storage, treatment, handling and disposal of waste from our facilities and (3) the CERCLA and comparable state laws that regulate the cleanup of hazardous substances that may have been released at properties currently or previously owned or operated by us or at locations to which we have sent waste for disposal. Failure to comply with these laws and regulations may trigger a variety of administrative, civil and criminal enforcement measures, including the assessment of monetary penalties, the imposition of remedial requirements, personal injury, property or natural resource damages claims and the issuance of orders enjoining future operations. For more information about costs we have incurred for environmental matters in recent years, see Item 3. Legal Proceedings and Item 7. Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations in our annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended November 2, 2008.

#### The industries in which we operate are highly competitive.

We compete with all other alternative methods of building construction, which may be viewed as more traditional, more aesthetically pleasing or having other advantages over our products. In addition, competition in the metal components and metal buildings markets of the building industry and in the metal coil coating segment is intense. It is based primarily on:

quality;
service;
on-time delivery;
ability to provide added value in the design and engineering of buildings;

price;

speed of construction in buildings and components; and

personal relationships with customers.

We compete with a number of other manufacturers of metal components and engineered building systems and providers of coil coating services ranging from small local firms to large national firms. In addition, we and other

47

#### **Table of Contents**

manufacturers of metal components and engineered building systems compete with alternative methods of building construction. If these alternative building methods compete successfully against us, such competition could adversely affect us.

In addition, several of our competitors have recently been acquired by steel producers. Competitors owned by steel producers may have a competitive advantage on raw materials that we do not enjoy. Steel producers may prioritize deliveries of raw materials to such competitors or provide them with more favorable pricing, both of which could enable them to offer products to customers at lower prices or accelerated delivery schedules.

Our acquisition strategy may be unsuccessful if we incorrectly predict operating results or are unable to identify and complete future acquisitions and integrate acquired assets or businesses.

We have a history of expansion through acquisitions, and we believe that as our industry continues to consolidate, our future success will depend, in part, on our ability to complete acquisitions. Growing through acquisitions and managing that growth will require us to continue to invest in operational, financial and management information systems and to attract, retain, motivate and effectively manage our employees. Pursuing and integrating acquisitions, including our acquisition of Robertson-Ceco II Corporation, involves a number of risks, including:

the risk of incorrect assumptions or estimates regarding the future results of the acquired business or expected cost reductions or other synergies expected to be realized as a result of acquiring the business;

diversion of management s attention from existing operations;

unexpected losses of key employees, customers and suppliers of the acquired business;

conforming the financial, technological and management standards, processes, procedures and controls of the acquired business with those of our existing operations; and

increasing the scope, geographic diversity and complexity of our operations.

Although we expect acquisitions to be an integral part of our future growth, we can provide no assurance that we will be successful in identifying or completing any acquisitions or that any businesses or assets that we are able to acquire will be successfully integrated into our existing business. We cannot predict the effect, if any, that any announcement or consummation of an acquisition would have on the trading prices of our securities.

#### Our acquisition strategy subjects us to numerous risks that could adversely affect our results of operations.

Acquisitions are an essential part of our growth strategy, and our ability to acquire additional businesses or operations on favorable terms is important to our long-term growth. Depending on conditions in the acquisition market, it may be difficult or impossible for us to identify businesses or operations for acquisition, or we may not be able to make acquisitions on terms that we consider economically acceptable. Even if we are able to identify suitable acquisition opportunities, our acquisition strategy depends upon, among other things, our ability to obtain financing and, in some cases, regulatory approvals, including under the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976, as amended, and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, which we refer to as the HSR Act.

Our incurrence of additional debt, contingent liabilities and expenses in connection with our acquisition of Robertson-Ceco II Corporation, or in connection with any future acquisitions, could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations. Furthermore, our financial position and results of operations may fluctuate significantly from period to period based on whether significant acquisitions are completed in particular

periods. Competition for acquisitions is intense and may increase the cost of, or cause us to refrain from, completing acquisitions.

48

#### **Table of Contents**

#### CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This prospectus/disclosure statement contains forward-looking statements. Any statements about our expectations, beliefs, plans, objectives, assumptions, future events or performance are not historical facts and may be forward-looking. These statements are often, but not always, made through the use of words or phrases such as anticipate, estimate, plans, projects, continuing, ongoing, expects, management believes, we believe. similar words or phrases. Accordingly, these statements involve estimates, assumptions and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from those expressed in them. Our actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in such forward-looking statements as a result of several factors more fully described under the caption Risk Factors and elsewhere in this prospectus/disclosure statement, including the exhibits hereto. All forward-looking statements are necessarily only estimates of future results and there can be no assurance that actual results will not differ materially from expectations, and, therefore, you are cautioned not to place undue reliance on such statements. Any forward-looking statements are qualified in their entirety by reference to the factors discussed throughout this prospectus/disclosure statement. Further, any forward-looking statement speaks only as of the date on which it is made, and we undertake no obligation to update any forward-looking statement to reflect events or circumstances after the date on which the statement is made or to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated events, except as required by law.

Forward-looking statements regarding future events and our future performance, including the expected completion and timing of the restructuring and other information relating thereto, involve risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially. These risks and uncertainties include, without limitation, the following items:

industry cyclicality and seasonality and adverse weather conditions;

ability to service or refinance our debt;

fluctuations in customer demand and other patterns;

raw material pricing and supply;

competitive activity and pricing pressure;

the ability to make strategic acquisitions accretive to earnings;

general economic conditions affecting the construction industry;

the current financial crisis and U.S. recession;

changes in laws or regulations;

our ability to obtain, on reasonable terms, if at all, the financing we will need in the future to meet our debt maturities and debt service obligations and to execute our business strategies;

the volatility of our stock price and the potential risk of delisting from the NYSE;

the potential dilution associated with future equity or equity-linked financings that we may undertake to raise additional capital and the risk that the equity pricing may not be favorable to us;

our ability to comply with the financial tests and covenants in our existing and future debt obligations;

the significant demands on our liquidity while current economic and credit conditions are severely affecting our operations, including the potential for acceleration on our outstanding indebtedness and our potential obligation to repurchase convertible notes upon consummation of the CD&R investment and on November 15, 2009 if this exchange offer is not fully subscribed and we do not have sufficient cash to satisfy the obligation of the remaining amount of convertible notes outstanding and of our other outstanding indebtedness;

the satisfaction of the conditions to consummate the recapitalization plan or, in the alternative, the prepackaged plan;

the impact of the prepackaged plan on our operations, credibility and valued relationships;

49

#### **Table of Contents**

the uncertainty surrounding the restructuring, including our ability to retain employees, customers and vendors;

the occurrence of any event, change or other circumstances that could give rise to the termination of the investment agreement;

the failure of the CD&R investment to close for any other reason;

the failure of the Company to enter into or consummate the term loan refinancing and/or the ABL financing for any reason;

the amount of the costs, fees, expenses and charges related to the restructuring; and

other risks detailed in the section titled Risk Factors and other factors and matters contained or incorporated in this prospectus/disclosure statement.

Although our management believes that the expectations reflected in the forward-looking statements are reasonable, we cannot guarantee future results, levels of activity, performance or achievements. Undue reliance should not be placed on these forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date of this prospectus/disclosure statement. We undertake no obligation to publicly release the results of any revisions to these forward-looking statements that may arise from changing circumstances or unanticipated events, except as otherwise required by law.

50

#### **Table of Contents**

#### RECENT DEVELOPMENTS

As widely reported, worldwide financial markets began experiencing extreme disruptions in the second half of 2007, including, among other things, extreme volatility in security prices, severely diminished liquidity and credit availability, rating downgrades of certain investments and declining valuations of others. In addition, during the same period, the U.S. economy has been contracting, as evidenced by reduced demand for a range of goods and services and a declining gross domestic product. These economic developments affect our business in a number of ways. The overall decline in economic conditions has reduced demand for our products. In addition, the tightening of credit in financial markets adversely affects the ability of our customers to obtain financing for construction projects. These factors have resulted in a decrease in, or cancellation of, orders for our products and have also affected the ability of our customers to make payments. The uncertainty surrounding future economic activity levels and diminished credit availability along with steel price volatility have resulted in significantly decreased activity levels for our business.

During the first nine months of fiscal 2009, our sales volumes were significantly below expectations, primarily in the engineered buildings and components segments. When we began fiscal 2009, McGraw-Hill predicted a 12% decline in nonresidential construction in 2009. Subsequently, McGraw-Hill revised its forecast further downward and, as of July 2009, was predicting a 35% decline in nonresidential construction activity in 2009. McGraw-Hill reported a 48% decline in the period from January 2009 through July 2009 of nonresidential square footage compared to the same prior year period and approximately a 62% decline from January 2009 through July 2009 of nonresidential construction square footage in our commercial and industrial sectors compared to the same prior year period. McGraw-Hill also reported a 41.8% reduction in low-rise nonresidential (five stories or less) square-footage starts during the first nine months of fiscal 2009 compared with the same period in fiscal 2008.

51

#### **Table of Contents**

#### THE RESTRUCTURING

#### Overview

We are proposing the restructuring to address the Company s immediate need for liquidity in light of a potentially imminent default under, and acceleration of, our existing credit facility, which may occur as early as November 6, 2009 (which may, in turn, also lead to the acceleration of our other indebtedness, including under the convertible notes indenture), and the high likelihood that we will be required to repurchase the convertible notes on November 15, 2009, the first scheduled mandatory repurchase date under the convertible notes indenture.

The restructuring consists of four related transactions:

the CD&R investment, which involves a \$250.0 million investment by the CD&R Fund in the form of a private placement to the CD&R Fund of 250,000 shares of Series B convertible preferred stock (see The Restructuring Description of the CD&R Investment );

a retirement of all of the convertible notes (see The Restructuring Retirement of the Convertible Notes );

the term loan refinancing, which involves the refinancing of our existing credit facility under which we will repay approximately \$143.3 million of the \$293.3 million in principal amount of term loans outstanding under our existing credit facility and enter into an amendment to our existing credit agreement providing for a modification of the terms and maturity of the \$150.0 million balance (see The Restructuring Description of the Term Loan Refinancing and the ABL Financing The Term Loan Refinancing ); and

the ABL financing, which involves our entry into an ABL agreement for a \$125.0 million asset-based loan facility (see 
The Restructuring Description of the Term Loan Refinancing and the ABL Financing 
The ABL Financing ).

Each of the transactions comprising the restructuring may be accomplished through either the out-of-court recapitalization plan or, in the alternative, the in-court prepackaged plan. If the restructuring is being accomplished through the recapitalization plan, the retirement of the convertible notes tendered in the exchange offer would be accomplished through this exchange offer and the refinancing of our existing credit facility would be accomplished through an amendment to our existing credit agreement. In the alternative, if the restructuring is being accomplished through the prepackaged plan, the retirement of the convertible notes as well as the refinancing of our existing credit facility would be accomplished through the prepackaged plan.

The closing of the exchange offer is conditioned on the satisfaction or, with the consent of the CD&R Fund, waiver of the minimum tender condition, which requires that at least 95% of the aggregate principal amount of outstanding convertible notes are validly tendered and not withdrawn in this exchange offer. If the restructuring is accomplished through the recapitalization plan, we intend, but are not required, to retire any remaining convertible notes outstanding after the consummation of this exchange offer by exercising our redemption right under the convertible notes indenture on or after November 20, 2009; if we do not so exercise our redemption right, such remaining convertible notes will otherwise be retired pursuant to the terms of the convertible notes indenture.

For a more detailed description of this exchange offer, see The Exchange Offer.

The restructuring, if successful, will increase the Company s capital and liquidity levels and reduce the amount of its outstanding debt. Specifically, upon the completion of the restructuring, we will reduce our outstanding indebtedness by (1) using the proceeds from the CD&R investment to retire the convertible notes by either funding the aggregate cash consideration in this exchange offer or, in the alternative, by paying holders of convertible notes pursuant to the prepackaged plan and (2) using the proceeds from the CD&R investment and a portion of the Company s existing cash on hand to repay approximately \$143.3 million in principal amount of term loans under our existing credit facility.

We expect our indebtedness to be reduced from approximately \$473.7 million as of August 2, 2009 to approximately \$150.4 million at the closing of the restructuring, consisting of \$150.0 million in principal amount of term loans under the amended credit agreement and \$0.4 million of our industrial revenue bond. See Capitalization.

The ABL financing contemplated by the restructuring would provide us with up to \$125.0 million in liquidity subject to availability under a borrowing base for working capital purposes and future expansion. Based on

52

#### **Table of Contents**

discussions with prospective lenders under the ABL agreement, we expect that because of borrowing base constraints, initial availability under the ABL agreement would be substantially less than the \$125.0 million commitment, and may be as low as \$45.0 million.

Assuming we are able to complete the restructuring, we expect that, for the foreseeable future, cash generated from operations, together with the proceeds of the ABL financing, will be sufficient to allow us to fund our operations, to increase working capital as necessary to support our strategy and to fund planned capital expenditures and expansions (including approximately \$5.0 million expected, for the remainder of fiscal 2009).

In the event that we cannot effect the restructuring either through the recapitalization plan or the prepackaged plan because the conditions to the recapitalization plan or the prepackaged plan have not been satisfied or waived, we will face an immediate liquidity crisis. Absent the consummation of the restructuring, we do not expect, and we cannot assure you, that we will have, or have access to, sufficient liquidity to meet our debt repayment/repurchase obligations, including any potential acceleration of our existing term loan indebtedness and our obligation to repurchase the convertible notes at the option of the holders thereof on November 15, 2009, the next scheduled repurchase date. Due to our non-compliance with the required leverage, senior leverage and interest coverage ratios in our existing credit agreement, our outstanding indebtedness of approximately \$293.3 million thereunder may be declared immediately due and payable as early as November 6, 2009, the date of expiration of the current waiver from the lenders under our existing credit agreement. In the event that we do not repay such borrowings upon acceleration, the lenders under our existing credit agreement could exercise their remedies as secured creditors with respect to the collateral securing such borrowings. A failure to pay or refinance such borrowings will also result in a default under the convertible notes indenture, which could also then be declared immediately due and payable, and under our swap agreement, which could then be terminated by the counterparty thereto. If all such indebtedness, which totaled approximately \$473.7 million as of August 2, 2009, and such amounts payable pursuant to the termination of the swap agreement were to become due and payable on November 6, 2009, it would result in a material adverse effect on our financial condition, operations and debt service capabilities. As of August 2, 2009, excluding restricted cash, we had a current cash balance of approximately \$105.4 million to address our liquidity needs. For a description of our non-compliance with the financial ratio covenants under our existing credit agreement, see our quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended August 2, 2009, our current reports on Form 8-K filed on May 21, 2009, July 15, 2009 and August 27, 2009 and Incorporation of Certain Documents by Reference.

In the event that we experience a liquidity crisis as described above, it could likely result in us filing for bankruptcy protection on terms other than as contemplated by the prepackaged plan. If we commence such a bankruptcy filing, holders of convertible notes may receive consideration that is substantially less than what is being offered under the restructuring.

## **Background to the Restructuring**

In 2004, the Company entered into its existing senior secured credit facility and issued the convertible notes. The existing senior secured credit facility was initially comprised of a \$125 million revolving credit facility and a \$400 million term loan due on June 18, 2010. The revolving credit facility expired in June of 2009 and approximately \$293.3 million of the term loans remain outstanding. The convertible notes mature in November 2024, but, on certain specified dates, the first of which is November 15, 2009, holders of convertible notes may, at their option, require the Company to purchase all or a portion of their convertible notes at a repurchase price equal to 100% of the principal amount of such convertible notes, plus accrued and unpaid interest thereon. The convertible notes are convertible into 24.9121 shares of common stock per \$1,000 principal amount of the convertible notes (which equates to a conversion price of approximately \$40.14 per share), but, in lieu of issuing all of such shares upon conversion, the Company is required to pay, in respect of a portion of such shares, cash up to the principal amount of the convertible notes and to issue shares of common stock in respect of the remaining value of the convertible notes that are so converted.

#### **Table of Contents**

Until the middle of 2008, in light of the trading range of the common stock (which was generally at or above the conversion price for the convertible notes), the Company s results of operations and cash flow, and the general robustness of the credit markets, the Company believed that:

it was not likely that holders of convertible notes would exercise their rights to require the Company to repurchase their convertible notes in November 2009 instead of converting their convertible notes into common stock;

the Company could refinance the convertible notes on commercially acceptable terms in the event that such holders were to exercise their rights; and

it was not likely that the Company would have difficulty obtaining a new credit facility or an extension of the existing credit facility on commercially acceptable terms at the expiration of the existing credit facility.

In March 2008, in light of the nearing maturities of the existing credit facility, the Company began to explore alternatives for refinancing its existing credit facility.

In the second half of 2008, the Company s business began to be severely negatively affected by the domestic and global recession and, in particular, by the dramatic reduction in new non-residential construction in the United States. In addition, financial turmoil affecting the banking system and financial markets resulted in severe tightening in the credit markets, and the Company s stock price declined dramatically, from approximately \$40 per share in early August 2008, to as low as approximately \$15 per share in mid-October 2008. In late August to early September 2008, in light of these events and the increasing likelihood that holders of convertible notes would elect to exercise their rights to require the Company to repurchase their convertible notes at the earliest scheduled repurchase date (November 15, 2009), management began to explore the Company s alternatives for refinancing the convertible notes and continued to explore alternatives for refinancing its existing credit facility.

In late 2008, the Company retained J.P. Morgan Securities Inc. to assist the Company in discussions with our key relationship banks and to explore a comprehensive range of potential alternatives to strengthen the Company s balance sheet and enhance our long-term financial and competitive position, including but not limited to capital raises and strategic investments. Around this time, we also began to engage in discussions with a number of private equity investors about a potential investment in the Company.

In late November 2008, a representative of CD&R contacted the Company about a potential transaction involving the Company and a private investment fund managed by CD&R, and in December 2008, CD&R and the Company entered into a customary confidentiality agreement with respect to such potential transaction. In January 2009, representatives of CD&R met with representatives of the Company s senior management team. At this meeting, Company representatives conducted a management presentation in which they described the Company s operations and business.

From early February 2009 through early March 2009, the Company and CD&R negotiated the terms of a potential significant, minority investment in the Company of \$200 million, and CD&R and its representatives and advisors engaged in a due diligence investigation of the Company s business. During this period, the global financial crisis continued and the economic outlook for the non-residential construction industry in general, and for the Company specifically, continued to deteriorate, and the Company s share price fell precipitously, to below \$4 per share. On March 10, 2009, the Company issued its earnings release for its fiscal quarter ended January 31, 2009, in which it reported, among other things, that the effects of worsening economic conditions on our end markets and the rapid decline in steel prices caused tonnage volume shipped in the first quarter to decline 45% sequentially and 40% year-over-year, and that as a result of substantially lower utilization rates and high inventory costs, the Company

reported an operating loss for the period that was significantly increased by non-cash impairment charges. In March 2009, as a result of the worsening conditions in the capital markets, the downturn in the Company s end markets and the effect of these developments on the operating performance of and business forecast plan for the Company, CD&R indicated to the Company and its representatives that it no longer believed that the terms of the potential investment then under discussion were sufficient to address the Company s capital structure needs, and, while maintaining its interest in a potential transaction involving the Company, CD&R indicated to the Company and its representatives that it intended to revise such terms for a potential transaction that would provide a more comprehensive recapitalization and restructuring of the Company s balance sheet.

54

#### **Table of Contents**

In early March 2009, the Company engaged Greenhill & Co., LLC as an additional financial advisor.

In early April 2009, CD&R outlined to management the revised terms of a potential investment in the Company that would provide a more comprehensive solution to the Company s capital needs. The revised terms increased the amount of CD&R s potential investment in the Company from \$200 million to \$250.0 million and provided for a transaction in which a private investment fund managed by CD&R would purchase from the Company \$250.0 million of preferred stock that would be convertible into 80% of the outstanding common stock of the Company on a fully diluted basis. In addition, in connection with the transaction, the private investment fund managed by CD&R would have the ability to appoint a majority of the directors of the Company and obtain other rights customarily afforded to controlling stockholders. The revised terms also indicated that the potential investment in the Company would be contingent upon the satisfaction of certain conditions aimed at addressing the Company's leverage and liquidity, including that (1) the Company would pay down a significant portion of the outstanding term loans and seek agreement of the lenders under its existing credit agreement to extend the maturity of the remaining term loans on amended terms, (2) the Company would have sufficient liquidity in the form of cash on the balance sheet and a committed revolver with a term commensurate with the extended remaining term loans and (3) the Company would launch and successfully complete an exchange offer for substantially all of the convertible notes. CD&R indicated that a potential investment on these terms was subject to satisfactory completion of CD&R s on-going due diligence investigation and other customary conditions.

From mid-March through May 2009, JP Morgan contacted approximately six industry participants and approximately 15 financial investors and private equity firms to gauge their interest in a potential investment in, or acquisition or recapitalization of, the Company. Only a few of these contacted firms were willing to execute a confidentiality agreement and begin discussions, and ultimately none expressed any interest in pursuing a transaction other than restructuring transactions at valuation levels that implied no recovery for holders of common stock and substantial impairment for holders of convertible notes. In particular, the Company received no indications of interest competitive with the value and commitment to completion offered by CD&R.

By late April 2009, CD&R and the Company, although not yet agreeing to the final terms of the transaction, had agreed on a basis for continuing discussions regarding a CD&R investment transaction, including that:

the Company would offer to pay down approximately \$143.0 million in principal amount of term loans outstanding under our existing credit facility and seek agreement of the term loan lenders to extend the maturity of the remaining \$150.0 million for a period of five years on amended terms;

the Company would seek the agreement of a group of lenders to commit to a new asset-backed revolving credit facility, in the amount of at least \$125.0 million;

the Company would launch an exchange offer to acquire substantially all of the convertible notes in exchange for a combination of cash and equity consideration; and

if the foregoing steps and transactions could be accomplished, at the concurrent closings of such transactions, CD&R would purchase from the Company \$250.0 million of preferred stock, which would be convertible into 75% of the outstanding common stock on a fully diluted basis, but before giving effect to dilution in respect of any common stock required to be issued in such exchange offer to holders of convertible notes.

Accordingly, in May and June 2009, the Company and its representatives together with CD&R and its representatives engaged in discussions with the agent banks and one other lead financial institution under the Company s existing credit agreement and revolving credit facility (which were bound by confidentiality obligations to the Company and were able to receive material non-public information about the Company).

During May 2009, in light of the dramatic decline during the first two fiscal quarters ended April 30, 2009 of the Company s results of operations, including its Adjusted EBITDA (a financial measure used and defined in the existing credit agreement), due to the continuing recession and economic crisis, the Company s management became concerned that the Company would fall out of compliance with several financial covenants under the existing credit agreement, which failure would result in a default that would allow the lenders to accelerate and demand immediate repayment of the entire outstanding term loans. If the Company were unable to make the

55

#### **Table of Contents**

required repayment, it would also be in default under the convertible notes indenture, which could then be declared immediately due and payable. In order to obtain additional time to complete a transaction with CD&R or an alternative refinancing or restructuring, on May 20, 2009, the Company obtained a waiver from its lenders, including waiver of its financial maintenance covenants and restrictions on the Company s ability to enter into an agreement for a substantial investment in the Company. The waiver was effective through July 15, 2009, with an automatic extension to September 15, 2009, upon the signing of a definitive agreement for an investment. In the press release announcing that the Company obtained the waiver from its lenders, the Company also announced that it had made significant progress with a leading private equity firm with regard to a substantial investment in the Company, and that it was in advanced stages of negotiations with that private equity firm. At the time of the press release, although CD&R continued to indicate a high level of commitment to completing a transaction with the Company, CD&R indicated that it was unwilling to allow its name to be associated with a transaction until definitive documentation was executed, and, given the conditions to a transaction set forth in CD&R s revised proposal with respect to the Company s leverage and liquidity, CD&R indicated that it was not prepared to execute definitive documentation until more progress was made with respect to the proposed refinancing.

On June 15, 2009, without yet reaching an agreement with the lenders under the Company s existing credit agreement, the Company s revolving credit facility matured, leaving the Company with cash on hand as its only source to address its liquidity needs.

In June 2009, senior management and an industry participant, which we refer to as the Industry Participant, spoke regarding the Industry Participant s potential interest in acquiring the Company. The Industry Participant had not shown interest when originally contacted by JP Morgan in the spring of 2009, but the Industry Participant explained that, due to improvements in its own business in the intervening two months, it had determined to reconsider a possible acquisition of the Company. In early and mid-July 2009, the Company s senior management, together with Greenhill, met twice in person with senior management of the Industry Participant and its financial advisor, and throughout July 2009, the Industry Participant engaged in due diligence of the Company while it continued to evaluate whether to proceed to make an acquisition proposal for the Company.

During June 2009, negotiations continued with CD&R with respect to the final terms of the CD&R investment in the Company, and negotiations continued between the Company and its representatives, on the one hand, and a group of the Company s lenders, on the other hand, with respect to the terms of the amendment and extension to the Company s existing credit agreement that would be a condition to a CD&R investment. In addition, during this period, the Company and its representatives, together with CD&R and its representatives, began negotiations with certain of the Company s lenders with respect to a new asset-backed revolving credit facility that would be a condition to a CD&R investment. In mid-July 2009, in order to obtain additional time to complete these negotiations and discussions, the Company obtained an extension of the credit agreement waiver, which had originally been set to expire on July 15, 2009, so that it would expire on August 14, 2009, which date would automatically extend to September 15, 2009 upon the signing of a definitive agreement for an investment.

Throughout July and the first half of August 2009, negotiations continued between the Company and CD&R with respect to the investment, and between the Company and the Industry Participant with respect to a potential acquisition of the Company. In addition, during this period, (a) the Company and its representatives, together with CD&R and its representatives, continued negotiations with certain of the Company s lenders with respect to the terms of a potential new asset-backed revolving credit facility and (b) CD&R and its representatives joined the Company and its representatives to continue discussions with certain of the Company s lenders with respect to the terms of a potential amendment of the Company s existing credit agreement to amend and extend a portion of the term loans outstanding thereunder. During this time, CD&R and the Company discussed that, if the consent of 100% of the lenders under the Company s existing credit agreement could not be obtained or if the holders of substantially all of the convertible notes opted not to tender their convertible notes in an exchange offer for a combination of cash and

Company common stock, then both the Company and CD&R would be willing to effect the CD&R investment and the restructuring of the Company s balance sheet through a prepackaged plan of reorganization. A prepackaged plan of reorganization would require acceptance by a smaller percentage of the lenders under our existing credit facility and holders of convertible notes, thereby increasing the likelihood that the CD&R investment and the restructuring of the Company s balance sheet could be achieved (see Summary The Prepackaged Plan ).

56

#### **Table of Contents**

On August 12, 2009, the Industry Participant informed the Company that it and its board of directors had determined not to make a proposal to acquire the Company. From August 12 through August 14, 2009, the Company and CD&R completed negotiation and documentation of the CD&R investment.

During the evening of August 13, 2009, the Company s board of directors met to consider the proposed investment and related transactions. The Company s board of directors had met in person and by telephone on numerous occasions over the previous weeks and months, including an in-person meeting on August 10, 2009, and had received numerous presentations from management regarding the Company s business, operations and prospects, and from management JP Morgan and Greenhill regarding the Company s search for a strategic, financial or restructuring solution to the Company s impending debt repayment obligations under the existing credit facility and the convertible notes, regarding the negotiations with and terms of the proposed transaction with CD&R and regarding possible outcomes and recovery scenarios to creditors and stockholders in the event the Company were to file for bankruptcy protection on terms other than as contemplated by the prepackaged plan. Among other things, the directors considered (1) the absence of interest from any third parties other than the Industry Participant, which had withdrawn its interest, (2) the potentially imminent default under, and acceleration of, the Company s existing credit facility (which default, in turn, could lead to the potential acceleration of the Company s other indebtedness, including under the convertible notes indenture), and that such default could have occurred as early as August 15, 2009 (the expiration date of the waiver then in effect, which waiver was subsequently extended to November 6, 2009), and (3) the high likelihood that the Company would be required to repurchase the convertible notes on November 15, 2009. At the August 13, 2009 board meeting, Greenhill delivered its opinion, subsequently confirmed in writing, that, as of such date, and based on and subject to, among other things, the limitations and assumptions set forth in the opinion, the consideration to be received by the Company pursuant to the proposed CD&R investment is fair, from a financial point of view, to the Company (which opinion was subsequently superseded by an updated opinion delivered to the Company s board of directors on August 31, 2009 and described below). See The Restructuring Opinion of Greenhill Relating to the CD&R Investment.

Based on the presentations and discussions at the August 13, 2009 meeting and at prior meetings, the Company s board of directors believed that, in the absence of a CD&R transaction, the Company would likely be forced to file for bankruptcy protection on terms other than as contemplated by the prepackaged plan, that such a bankruptcy filing would materially adversely affect the Company s business and destroy value (see Risk Factors Risks Relating to NOT Accepting the Exchange Offer or Rejecting the Prepackaged Plan ), that the CD&R transaction would result in the Company s receipt of \$250.0 million of additional capital and would create significant value for the Company, its creditors and shareholders, and that the CD&R transaction would create significantly greater value than would be created in a bankruptcy case with respect to a filing on terms other than as contemplated by the prepackaged plan or would likely be created in a restructuring in which either no new outside capital would be provided, or in which existing creditors would be required to contribute new capital. Following further discussion, the Company s board of directors unanimously approved the original investment agreement and the transactions contemplated thereby. During the evening of August 13, 2009, the Company, CD&R and their respective outside legal counsels finalized the original investment agreement, and in the early morning of August 14, 2009, the parties executed the original investment agreement and announced the transaction (see The Restructuring Description of the CD&R Investment ), including the Company s intention to commence an exchange offer to acquire the convertible notes in exchange for \$500 in cash and 125 shares of Common Stock for each \$1,000 in principal amount of convertible notes tendered and not withdrawn. On a pro forma basis, after taking into account the common stock that would be issued to holders of convertible notes under the terms of the proposed exchange offer, the CD&R Fund s ownership of the Company would be approximately 71.5% while holders of convertible notes would receive, in the aggregate, shares of common stock representing approximately 15.0% of the Company.

On August 21, 2009, the Company obtained another extension, dated as of August 20, 2009, of the credit agreement waiver to November 6, 2009, pursuant to which, in addition to waiving certain of the Company s financial covenants,

the term loan lenders waived any default or event of default resulting from the company s execution of the original investment agreement and/or arising from the issuance of the Series B convertible preferred stock.

57

#### **Table of Contents**

After the announcement of the execution of the original investment agreement, the Company began negotiations with representatives of a group of existing holders of convertible notes to increase the proposed consideration in the exchange offer. In connection therewith, the Company entered into confidentiality agreements with such representatives and began to negotiate with such holders, as well as the CD&R Fund, for an amended transaction.

On August 26, 2009, the Company, the CD&R Fund and a group of holders of convertible notes determined that there would be a basis for discussing amended terms to the exchange offer contemplated by the original investment agreement if holders of convertible notes representing more than two-thirds of the outstanding convertible notes would execute a lock-up and voting agreement committing such noteholders to tender their convertible notes in the amended exchange offer. Such amended terms contemplated that the CD&R Fund would continue to invest \$250.0 million in the Company but its pro forma ownership of the Company would be approximately 68.5%, and holders of convertible notes would receive \$500 cash and 390 shares of common stock for each \$1,000 principal amount of convertible notes tendered in such proposed exchange offer, representing, in the aggregate, approximately 24.5% of the ownership of the Company on a pro forma basis. On August 27, 2009, the Company issued a press release announcing its entry into negotiations with the CD&R Fund and the group of noteholders on the basis of such possible amended terms. On August 28, 2009, in light of the ongoing discussions among the Company, the CD&R Fund and the group of noteholders on possible revised terms for the exchange offer contemplated by the original investment agreement, the Company and the CD&R Fund executed an amendment to the investment agreement to extend the date by which the Company would be obligated to commence the exchange offer. From August 25, 2009 to August 29, 2009, the Company, the CD&R Fund and a group of noteholders, and their respective representatives, continued negotiations regarding terms of a lock-up and voting agreement.

On the evening of August 31, 2009, the Company s board of directors met to consider the proposed amended terms. Among other things, the directors weighed the costs and benefits of the increased certainty of success of the restructuring that a lock-up and voting agreement would provide against the reduced ownership of the Company by the current stockholders on a pro forma basis. At the August 31, 2009 board meeting, Greenhill delivered a revised opinion, subsequently confirmed in writing, that, as of such date, and based on and subject to, among other things, the limitations and assumptions set forth in the opinion, the consideration to be received by the Company pursuant to the revised proposed CD&R investment is fair, from a financial point of view, to the Company. This opinion superseded the opinion of Greenhill previously delivered to the Company s board of directors on August 13, 2009.

Following discussions, the Company s board of directors unanimously approved the amended terms contemplated by amendment no. 2 to the investment agreement (see Annex E). In addition, the Audit Committee met and redetermined that the delay necessary in securing stockholder approval prior to the issuance of the Series B convertible preferred stock and of the common stock pursuant to the exchange offer would seriously jeopardize the financial viability of the Company and approved the reliance by the Company on the exception to the NYSE s Shareholder Approval Policy contained in Paragraph 312.05 of the NYSE Listed Company Manual. The Audit Committee had previously determined the same in connection with the execution of the original investment agreement.

On August 31, 2009, (1) the Company and the CD&R Fund executed amendment no. 2 to the investment agreement which, among other things, amended the terms of the exchange offer contemplated by the original investment agreement to provide that holders of convertible notes would receive \$500 cash and 390 shares of common stock for each \$1,000 principal amount of convertible notes tendered in the exchange offer, and (2) concurrently with such execution, the Company and a group of noteholders representing more than 75% of the outstanding convertible notes executed the lock-up and voting agreement. Certain of the members of the group of noteholders also hold term loans and other obligations under our existing credit agreement and agreed to support the term loan refinancing as part of the lock-up and voting agreement. Subsequent to the execution of the lock-up agreement, additional holders of notes became party to the lock-up agreement, increasing the aggregate amount of convertible notes subject thereto to 79% of the outstanding convertible notes.

# **Reasons for the Restructuring**

The Company is pursuing the restructuring in order to address its imminent debt repayment and repurchase obligations. We are currently facing a potentially imminent default under, and acceleration of, our existing credit facility, which may occur as early as November 6, 2009 (which may, in turn, also lead to a default under, and

58

#### **Table of Contents**

acceleration of, our other indebtedness, including under the convertible notes indenture). In addition, there is a high likelihood that we will be required to repurchase the convertible notes on November 15, 2009, the first scheduled mandatory repurchase date under the convertible notes indenture. In short, we may be required to repay or repurchase \$473.7 million of our outstanding indebtedness by the middle of November. As of August 2, 2009, the Company had only approximately \$105.4 million of unrestricted cash with which to satisfy these obligations, and no realistic ability to obtain the necessary additional funds in the capital markets.

We expect that the restructuring, if successful, will increase the Company's capital and liquidity levels and reduce the amount of our outstanding debt. Specifically, upon the completion of the restructuring, we expect that our indebtedness would be reduced from approximately \$473.7 million as of August 2, 2009 to approximately \$150.4 million at the closing of the restructuring (consisting of \$150.0 million in principal amount of term loans under the amended credit agreement and \$0.4 million of our industrial revenue bond).

In addition, the ABL financing contemplated by the restructuring will provide us with liquidity in the range of \$45.0 million to \$125.0 million (based upon our borrowing base from time to time), for working capital purposes and future expansion.

Assuming we are able to complete the restructuring, we expect that, for the foreseeable future, cash generated from operations, together with the proceeds of the ABL financing, will be sufficient to allow us to service our debt, fund our operations, increase working capital as necessary to support our strategy and to fund planned capital expenditures and expansions (including approximately \$5 million expected for the remainder of fiscal 2009).

If we do not complete the restructuring either through the recapitalization plan or the prepackaged plan, we will face an immediate liquidity crisis. If we do not complete the restructuring, we do not expect, and we cannot assure you, that we will have, or have access to, sufficient liquidity (1) to meet our debt repayment/repurchase obligations, including any potential acceleration of our existing credit facility, which may occur as early as November 6, 2009 (which may, in turn, also lead to a default under, and acceleration of, our other indebtedness, including under the convertible notes indentures) and (2) to meet our obligation to repurchase the convertible notes at the option of the holders thereof on November 15, 2009, the next scheduled repurchase date.

In such event, we will have an immediate need to pursue other alternatives to manage our liquidity needs, including potentially filing for bankruptcy protection on terms other than as contemplated by the prepackaged plan. Based upon our efforts to identify alternatives to the restructuring described above under The Restructuring Background to the Restructuring, we do not expect, and there can be no assurance, that any alternative to such bankruptcy filing would be found.

We believe that a bankruptcy (other than the prepackaged plan) could result in recoveries to the companies creditors and equity holders substantially below those expected to result from the restructuring or prepackaged plan, and could materially adversely affect our business and prospects.

We therefore determined to pursue this restructuring because we believed that it was superior to any existing alternative.

#### Opinion of Greenhill Relating to the CD&R Investment

On August 31, 2009, Greenhill rendered its oral opinion, which was subsequently confirmed in writing, to our board of directors and which addressed, subject to the limitations and assumptions set forth in the opinion, only the fairness, from a financial point of view, to the Company of the consideration to be paid by the CD&R Fund for the Series B convertible preferred stock pursuant to the investment agreement. **GREENHILL S OPINION AND ANALYSIS DO** 

NOT ADDRESS ANY OTHER ASPECT OF THE RESTRUCTURING, INCLUDING THE FAIRNESS OF THIS EXCHANGE OFFER AND THE CONSIDERATION TO BE PAID TO THE HOLDERS OF CONVERTIBLE NOTES PURSUANT TO THIS EXCHANGE OFFER, AND DO NOT CONSTITUTE RECOMMENDATIONS AS TO WHETHER OR NOT A HOLDER OF CONVERTIBLE NOTES OR ANY OTHER PERSON SHOULD TENDER ITS CONVERTIBLE NOTES IN THIS EXCHANGE OFFER OR ACCEPT OR REJECT THE PREPACKAGED PLAN. GREENHILL S OPINION AND ANALYSIS WERE NOT PREPARED WITH A VIEW TOWARDS PUBLIC DISCLOSURE, AND GREENHILL BELIEVES ITS OPINION AND ANALYSIS ARE OF LITTLE OR NO RELEVANCE TO A

59

#### **Table of Contents**

# DECISION BY A HOLDER OF CONVERTIBLE NOTES OR ANY OTHER PERSON WHETHER OR NOT TO TENDER ITS CONVERTIBLE NOTES IN THIS EXCHANGE OFFER OR TO ACCEPT OR REJECT THE PREPACKAGED PLAN.

Based upon the express limitations contained in its opinion, Greenhill believes that holders of convertible notes and other persons (other than our board of directors) are not entitled to rely upon or otherwise use its opinion or analysis for any purpose, and Greenhill would intend to assert the substance of the noted limitations on use against any holder of convertible notes or other such person seeking to or otherwise claiming a right to rely upon or otherwise use such opinion or analysis.

Greenhill is not aware of any controlling court decision addressing the validity of such a claim. It is possible that holders of convertible notes or other persons could seek to assert a claim that they may rely upon or otherwise use the opinion or analysis, which Greenhill would intend to oppose. The validity of any such claim, if asserted, could only be finally determined by a court of competent jurisdiction. Subject to the foregoing, Greenhill has not objected to the inclusion of its opinion or the summary of its analysis as part of this prospectus/disclosure statement.

The foregoing factors should be taken into account in deciding whether Greenhill s opinion and analysis should be considered by readers of this document.

The full text of the written opinion of Greenhill, dated August 31, 2009, which sets forth, among other things, the assumptions made, procedures followed, matters considered and limits on the opinion and the review undertaken in connection with rendering the opinion, is attached as Annex L to this prospectus/disclosure statement and is incorporated herein by reference. This opinion replaced and superseded Greenhill s opinion, dated August 13, 2009. The summary of Greenhill s August 31, 2009 opinion that is set forth below is qualified in its entirety by reference to the full text of the opinion.

In connection with rendering the opinion described above, Greenhill, among other things:

reviewed the investment agreement, dated as of August 14, 2009, by and between the Company and the CD&R Fund, as amended by an amendment thereto, dated August 28, 2009, and as proposed to be amended by a draft of Amendment No. 2 thereto (including certain related documents), which as amended by such draft Amendment No. 2, we refer to as the draft investment agreement;

reviewed a draft of the form of certificate of designations, preferences and rights of the Series B convertible preferred stock included as an exhibit to the draft investment agreement;

reviewed the form of the amended credit agreement attached hereto as Annex J;

reviewed a draft of the ABL term sheet attached hereto as Annex K;

reviewed the form of the stockholders agreement attached hereto as Annex F;

reviewed the form of the indemnification agreement attached hereto as Annex I;

reviewed the form of the registration rights agreement attached hereto as Annex H;

reviewed a draft of the lock-up and voting agreement;

reviewed certain publicly available financial statements of the Company;

reviewed certain other publicly available business and financial information relating to the Company that Greenhill deemed relevant;

reviewed certain information, including financial forecasts and other financial and operating data concerning the Company, prepared by the management of the Company;

discussed the past and present operations and financial condition and the prospects of the Company with senior executives of the Company;

compared the equity value implied by the consideration to be paid for the Series B convertible preferred stock pursuant to the investment agreement with the trading valuations of certain publicly traded companies that Greenhill deemed relevant;

60

#### **Table of Contents**

compared the equity value implied by the consideration to be paid for the Series B convertible preferred stock pursuant to the investment agreement with that received in certain publicly available transactions that Greenhill deemed relevant;

compared the equity value implied by the consideration to be paid for the Series B convertible preferred stock pursuant to the investment agreement to the valuation derived by discounting future cash flows and a terminal value of the business at discount rates Greenhill deemed appropriate;

reviewed the illustrative bankruptcy recoveries by the Company s stockholders and creditors implied by management s projections under various scenarios;

participated, at the written request of the Company, in discussions and negotiations among representatives of the Company and its legal advisors and representatives of the CD&R Fund and its legal advisors; and

performed such other analyses and considered such other factors as Greenhill deemed appropriate.

Greenhill s opinion is for the information of our board of directors and was rendered to our board of directors in connection with their consideration of the CD&R investment. The opinion may not be used for any other purpose without Greenhill s prior written consent. Greenhill was not requested to opine as to, and Greenhill s opinion does not in any manner address, (1) the underlying business decision to proceed with or effect the CD&R investment or the restructuring, (2) any of the financial or other terms of the restructuring or (3) any plan of reorganization under chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code. Greenhill expressed no opinion as to the fairness of any portion or aspect of the CD&R investment or the restructuring to the holders of any class of securities, creditors or other constituencies of the Company, the fairness of any portion or aspect of the CD&R investment or the restructuring to any one class or group of the Company s security holders relative to any other class or group of the Company s security holders, or the solvency, creditworthiness or fair value of the Company under any applicable laws relating to bankruptcy, insolvency, fraudulent conveyance or similar matters. In particular, Greenhill expressed no opinion as to the prices at which any publicly-traded shares of common stock of the Company will trade at any future time. Greenhill s opinion was approved by a fairness committee. The opinion is not intended to be and does not constitute a recommendation to the members of our board of directors as to whether they should approve the CD&R investment or the investment agreement.

In giving its opinion, Greenhill assumed and relied upon, without independent verification, the accuracy and completeness of all information that was either publicly available or supplied or otherwise made available to it by management of the Company for the purposes of its opinion. Greenhill further relied upon the assurances of the management of the Company that they were not aware of any facts or circumstances that would make such information inaccurate or misleading. With respect to financial forecasts, projections and other data furnished or otherwise provided to it, Greenhill assumed that they were reasonably prepared on a basis reflecting the best then currently available estimates and good faith judgments of the management of the Company as to those matters, and Greenhill relied on such forecasts and data in arriving at its opinion. Greenhill expressed no opinion with respect to such financial projections and data or the assumptions upon which they were based. In addition, Greenhill did not make any independent appraisal of the assets or liabilities of the Company, nor was it furnished with any such valuations or appraisals. At the direction of our board of directors, Greenhill based its review of the potential recoveries by the Company s stockholders and creditors in a bankruptcy of the Company on those implied by management s projections under various scenarios. Greenhill has assumed that the CD&R investment will be consummated in accordance with the terms set forth in the final, executed investment agreement, the terms of which it has assumed are identical in all material respects to the draft investment agreement reviewed by Greenhill, without any waiver of any material terms or conditions set forth in the investment agreement, and that the CD&R investment

and restructuring will be effectuated as contemplated therein. Greenhill has assumed and relied upon, without independent verification, the accuracy of the representations and warranties contained in the investment agreement and that no indemnification payments will be made by the Company under the investment agreement. Greenhill has further assumed that all material governmental, regulatory and other consents and approvals necessary for the consummation of the CD&R investment will be obtained without any effect on the Company, the CD&R investment or the contemplated benefits of the CD&R investment in any way meaningful to its analysis. Greenhill s opinion was necessarily based on financial, economic, market and other conditions as in effect on, and the information made

61

#### **Table of Contents**

available to it as of, the date of the opinion. It should be understood that subsequent developments may affect its opinion, but Greenhill does not have any obligation to update, revise or reaffirm its opinion.

The following is a summary of the material financial and comparative analyses delivered by Greenhill to the Company s board of directors in connection with rendering its opinion described above. The summary set forth below does not purport to be a complete description of the analyses performed by Greenhill, nor does the order of analyses described represent relative importance or weight given to those analyses by Greenhill. Some of the summaries of the financial analyses include information presented in tabular format. The tables must be read together with the full text of each summary and are not alone a complete description of Greenhill s financial analyses.

#### **Financial Forecast**

For the purposes of Greenhill s analysis, the Company provided to Greenhill, and instructed Greenhill to rely on, the financial forecast prepared by management that is summarized below:

	FY2009 (P)			010 (P) (\$ in m	2011 (P) s)	FY2012 (P)		
Revenue	\$	961	\$	861	\$ 1,084	\$	1,331	
Gross Profit	\$	161	\$	190	\$ 252	\$	335	
Margin (%)		16.8%		22.1%	23.2%		25.2%	
Adjusted EBIT(1)	\$	(3)	\$	1	\$ 36	\$	93	
Margin (%)		(0.3)%		0.1%	3.4%		7.0%	
Adjusted EBITDA(1)	\$	36	\$	36	\$ 73	\$	127	
Margin (%)		3.8%		4.1%	6.7%		9.6%	
Capital Expenditures	\$	(23)	\$	(9)	\$ (50)	\$	(40)	

(1) Excludes the effects of the significant charges incurred in 2009 for lower of cost or market adjustments, asset impairments, goodwill and intangible asset impairments, and debt extinguishment and refinancing costs.

## **Comparable Company Analysis**

Greenhill reviewed revenue, adjusted equity value and enterprise value as multiples of estimated earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization, which we refer to as EBITDA, commonly referred to as trading multiples, of the Company and selected companies in the building products sector and selected steel producers with businesses deemed comparable to the Company for the purposes of this analysis. The companies reviewed by Greenhill are listed below:

#### **Building Products**

Kingspan Group Acuity Brands Armstrong World Industries Worthington Industries Simpson Manufacturing Interface Gibraltar Industries

#### Steel Producers with Businesses Comparable to the Company

Nucor Bluescope Steel

Apogee Quanex Building Products

Although no company is directly comparable to the Company, Greenhill selected these companies because it believed that they had characteristics that were instructive for purposes of its analysis. Greenhill reviewed the trading multiples for the selected companies based upon publicly available I/B/E/S estimates.

Based upon these multiples, and applying its professional judgment, Greenhill selected a range of EBITDA trading multiples from 7.0x to 9.5x and applied this range to management s forecasted EBITDA for each of 2009

62

#### **Table of Contents**

and 2010. This analysis indicated the following ranges of enterprise values, equity values and equity values per share for the Company:

	Currei	nt Tra	ading									Equit	y Val	ue pe	
arable Company Multiples				Enterprise Valuation Range					<b>Equity Value Range</b>				Share Range(2)		
dology	Low	-	High	EBITDA	Low	- (\$ in :	High millions,	Net Debt(1) except per	Low share data	- 1)	High	Low	-	Н	
EBITDA EBITDA	7.0x 7.0x	-		x \$ 36 x \$ 36	\$ 253 \$ 249		\$ 343 \$ 337	\$ 375 \$ 375	\$ (122) \$ (126)	-	\$ (32) \$ (37)	,	-	\$ ( \$ (	

- (1) Based on \$474 million debt outstanding less \$99 million in projected cash at November 1, 2009.
- (2) Based on 20.0 million fully-diluted shares outstanding.

Greenhill believes that the comparable company analysis is of little or no relevance to a decision by a holder of convertible notes whether or not to tender its convertible notes in this exchange offer or accept or reject the prepackaged plan because, given the Company s liquidity crisis and limited alternatives, Greenhill does not believe that the range of enterprise values implied by the analysis is likely to be a meaningful indicator of potential recoveries by any holder of convertible notes. In addition, Greenhill s opinion did not address, and the comparable company analysis should not be relied upon as indicating, the price at which the Company s common stock will trade at any future time.

## **Comparable Transaction Analysis**

Using publicly available information, Greenhill reviewed selected precedent transactions with a transaction value between \$200.0 million and \$1.5 billion announced since 2000 by companies in the building products and steel producers sector. Specifically, Greenhill reviewed the following transactions:

## **Building Products Transactions**

Date	Target	Acquiror
03/13/2008	Pavestone Co.	CRH
12/19/2007	IMSA Acero	Bluescope Steel
02/09/2007	ElkCorp	Building Materials Corp.
09/25/2006	Alcoa Home Exteriors	Ply Gem Industries
06/19/2006	APAC, Inc.	Oldcastle Materials
03/02/2006	Material Service Corp.	Hanson Aggregates
07/10/2002	Kiewit Materials	Rinker Materials
08/11/2000	Republic Group	Premier Construction Products
06/20/2000	Justin Industries	Berkshire Hathaway
06/02/2000	Celotex Ceiling Products	BPB

#### **Table of Contents**

#### **Steel Producers Transactions**

Date	Target	Acquiror
09/04/2008	Beta Steel	NLMK
07/28/2008	AmeriCast Technologies	Bradken Limited
06/16/2008	Bayou Steel	Arcelor Mittal
05/20/2008	Esmark	Severstal
12/09/2007	Claymont Steel	Evraz Group S.A.
06/21/2007	Novamerican Steel	Barzel Industries
06/13/2007	The Techs Holdings	Steel Dynamics
02/28/2007	Steel Technologies	Mitsui & Co.
12/29/2006	Harris Steel	Nucor Corp.
11/10/2006	Tube City IMS	Onex Corp.
04/26/2006	MMI Products	Oldcastle (CRH)
05/30/2002	Birmingham Steel	Nucor Corp.
05/25/2000	Steelscape	IMSA Acero

For each of the selected precedent transactions, Greenhill analyzed the enterprise value of the target company expressed as a multiple of EBITDA and revenue for the last twelve months. Based upon these multiples and applying its professional judgment, Greenhill selected a range of EBITDA transaction multiples from 7.5x to 9.0x and applied this range to management s forecasted EBITDA for each of 2009 and 2010. This analysis indicated the following ranges of enterprise values, equity values and equity value per shares for the Company:

rable Transaction	Transaction Multiples			Enterprise Valuation Range			Equity Value Range			Equity Value   Share Range				
lology	Low	-	High	EBITDA	Low	- (\$ in 1	High millions,	Net Debt(1) except per	Low share dat	- (a)	High	Low	-	
BITDA	7.5x	_	9.0x	\$ 36	\$ 271	_	\$ 325	\$ 375	\$ (104)	_	\$ (50)	\$ (5.21)	_	\$
BITDA	7.5x	-	9.0x	\$ 36	\$ 266	-	\$ 320	\$ 375	\$ (109)	-	\$ (55)	\$ (5.43)	-	\$

- (1) Based on \$474 million debt outstanding less \$99 million in projected cash at November 1, 2009.
- (2) Based on 20 million fully-diluted shares outstanding.

Greenhill believes that the comparable transaction analysis is of little or no relevance to a decision by a holder of convertible notes whether or not to tender its convertible notes in this exchange offer or accept or reject the prepackaged plan because, given the Company s liquidity crisis and limited alternatives, Greenhill does not believe that the range of enterprise values implied by the analysis is likely to be a meaningful indicator of potential recoveries by a holder of convertible notes. In addition, Greenhill s opinion did not address, and the comparable transaction analysis should not be relied upon as indicating, the price at which the Company s common stock will trade at any future time.

#### **Discounted Cash Flow Analysis**

Using a discounted cash flow methodology, Greenhill calculated the present values of the estimated future cash flows for the Company implied by management s forecast. In this analysis, Greenhill assumed a weighted average cost of capital of between 11.0% and 13.0% and EBITDA terminal multiples of between 6.0x and 8.0x. While Greenhill s discounted cash flow analysis implied a range of per share equity values of the Company of \$18.48 to \$32.14 and a range of enterprise values of the Company of \$745 million to \$1,018 million, Greenhill noted that such a traditional discounted cash flow analysis was of little utility because, among other things: (1) the analysis implicitly assumed that the Company s near-term liquidity crisis could be averted, the Company s existing stockholders would survive the near-term liquidity crisis and retain an equity interest, and the Company had no other actionable alternatives to the CD&R investment and restructuring other than filing for bankruptcy protection on terms other than as contemplated by the prepackaged plan; (2) the analysis was highly sensitive to the scale and timing of a recovery in the non-residential construction market, which was very uncertain; (3) the vast

64

#### **Table of Contents**

majority of the value in the discounted cash flow analysis was in the terminal value, which caused the total value to be very sensitive to small changes in terminal value and discount rate assumptions; and (4) a traditional weighted average cost of capital analysis did not reflect financing terms then-available to the Company. Greenhill noted the sensitivity of the calculated present values to potential delays in the recovery of the non-residential construction market by up to four years as well as to blended market costs of capital ranging from 15% to 25%, which costs of capital might be more indicative of the Company s true cost of capital given its liquidity position. Greenhill believes that these considerations make the discounted cash flow analysis of little or no relevance to a decision by a holder of convertible notes whether or not to tender its convertible notes in this exchange offer or to accept or reject the prepackaged plan.

## **Illustrative Bankruptcy Recovery Analysis**

Greenhill reviewed the illustrative bankruptcy recoveries by the Company s stockholders and creditors implied by management s projections under various scenarios. Greenhill applied EBITDA multiples of 7.0x to 9.5x to forecasted EBITDA for each of 2009 and 2010 to derive an implied enterprise value range for the Company. The implied enterprise value range for 2009 and 2010 ranged from \$253 million to \$343 million and from \$249 million to \$337 million, respectively. Greenhill then subtracted the amount of specified secured claims (the existing credit facility and industrial revenue bonds) and unsecured claims (the convertible notes), which resulted in potential remaining equity value per existing share ranging from a negative \$11.26 through a negative \$6.54 (*i.e.*, no recovery). In performing this analysis, Greenhill assumed that the Company s cash on hand would be required to pay bankruptcy expenses and for working capital needs and would therefore be unavailable to pay creditors.

Based on such analysis, Greenhill observed that the enterprise valuation of the Company would have to exceed 13.1x and 13.3x forecasted 2009 EBITDA and forecasted 2010 EBITDA, respectively, for current stockholders to attain any recovery under this analysis.

Greenhill s illustrative bankruptcy recovery analysis supported Greenhill s conclusion that in a standalone restructuring through bankruptcy, stockholders of the Company would be unlikely to retain any meaningful value. While the illustrative bankruptcy recovery analysis examined, among other things, illustrative potential recoveries for the holders of convertible notes, Greenhill did not conduct any independent valuation or appraisal of the assets or liabilities of the Company, nor was Greenhill furnished with any such appraisals, and at the Company s direction Greenhill based its analysis of the potential recoveries by the Company s stockholders and creditors in a bankruptcy on those implied by management s financial forecast. While Greenhill believes that the illustrative bankruptcy recovery analysis was an appropriate and reasonable way to generally analyze the nature of the potential stockholders recoveries in a bankruptcy of the Company, Greenhill believes that an analysis intended to provide reasonable estimates of potential creditor recoveries in a bankruptcy would be substantially more complex and would require, among other things, a valuation or appraisal of the assets and liabilities of the Company, and thus Greenhill believes that the illustrative bankruptcy recovery analysis is of little or no relevance to a decision by a holder of convertible notes whether or not to tender its convertible notes in this exchange offer or accept or reject the prepackaged plan. In this regard, Greenhill notes that in The Prepackaged Plan Liquidation Analysis the Company has set forth a liquidation analysis that is an estimate by the Company of the proceeds that may be generated as a result of the hypothetical chapter 7 liquidation of the Company s assets.

The consideration for the CD&R investment was determined through arm s length negotiations between the Company and the CD&R Fund and was approved by the Company s board of directors. Greenhill provided advice to the Company during these negotiations. Greenhill did not, however, recommend any specific amount of consideration to the Company or its board of directors, that any specific amount of consideration constituted the only appropriate consideration for the CD&R investment or that the terms of the CD&R investment are the most beneficial terms from the Company s perspective that could under the circumstances be negotiated among the parties to the CD&R investment.

Our board of directors selected Greenhill as the Company s financial advisor based on its qualifications and expertise in providing financial advice to acquirors, target companies and their respective boards of directors in merger and acquisition transactions. During the two years preceding the date of the opinion Greenhill was not engaged by, performed any services for or received any compensation from the Company or any other parties to the investment

65

#### **Table of Contents**

agreement (other than any amounts that were paid to it under the letter agreement pursuant to which Greenhill was retained as a financial advisor to the Company in connection with the CD&R investment) and at the date of the opinion Greenhill had no material relationships mutually understood to be contemplated with such parties. The Company has paid Greenhill a fee for delivering its opinion to the Company s board of directors, in addition to a monthly advisory fee and certain contingent transaction fees, which fees will become payable upon closing of the restructuring. As a result, a substantial portion of Greenhill s compensation is dependent upon the successful consummation of the CD&R investment. In addition, the Company has agreed to reimburse Greenhill for travel and other reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred in connection with, or arising out of Greenhill s activities under or contemplated by its engagement, including all reasonable fees and disbursement of its legal counsel, consultants and other advisors, and to indemnify Greenhill and its affiliates for certain liabilities, including liabilities under the federal securities laws, arising out of its engagement. Greenhill is also acting as the dealer-manager in connection with this exchange offer, for which it will be reimbursed for its reasonable out-of-pocket expenses and be indemnified for certain liabilities, including liabilities under the federal securities laws, and for which it may receive an additional fee.

Greenhill s opinion was one of many factors considered by the Company s board of directors in evaluating the CD&R investment and restructuring and should not be viewed as determinative of the views of the Company s board of directors with respect to the CD&R investment and restructuring.

#### **Description of the CD&R Investment**

On August 14, 2009, we entered into an investment agreement with the CD&R Fund, which we refer to as the original investment agreement, which was subsequently amended by (1) an amendment, dated as of August 28, 2009, and (2) an amendment no. 2, dated as of August 31, 2009, which we refer to as the amendments. The term investment agreement refers to the investment agreement, as amended. Pursuant to the investment agreement, subject to the terms and conditions therein, the Company agreed to sell, and the CD&R Fund agreed to purchase, for a total purchase price of \$250.0 million, an aggregate of 250,000 shares of a new class of our preferred stock, par value \$1.00 per share, to be designated the Series B Cumulative Convertible Participating Preferred Stock, at a price of \$1,000 per share.

#### **The Investment Agreement**

The following is a summary of the material terms and provisions of the investment agreement. While we believe this summary covers the material terms and provisions of the investment agreement, it may not contain all of the information that is important to you and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the investment agreement. The original investment agreement is included as Annex C and the amendments are included as Annex D and Annex E hereto, each of which we incorporate by reference into this document. We encourage you to read carefully the investment agreement in its entirety.

The investment agreement has been included to provide investors and security holders with information regarding its terms. It is not intended to provide any other factual information about the Company, the CD&R Fund, or CD&R or their respective subsidiaries and affiliates. The investment agreement contains representations and warranties by the Company, on the one hand, and by the CD&R Fund, on the other hand, each made solely for the benefit of the other. In the investment agreement, the assertions embodied in the representations and warranties are qualified by information in a confidential disclosure letter delivered in connection with the signing of the original investment agreement. The disclosure letter contains information that has been included in the Company of seneral prior public disclosures, as well as additional potentially nonpublic information. While the Company does not believe that the disclosure letter contains information required to be publicly disclosed under the securities laws other than information that has already been so disclosed, the disclosure letter contains information that modifies, qualifies and creates exceptions to the representations and warranties set forth in the investment agreement. Moreover, certain representations and warranties in the investment agreement were made as of a specified date, may be subject to a

contractual standard of materiality different from what might be viewed as material to stockholders, or may have been used for the purpose of allocating risk between the Company, on the one hand, and the CD&R Fund, on the other hand. Accordingly, the representations and warranties in the investment agreement should not be relied on by any persons as characterizations of the actual state of facts about the Company or the CD&R Fund at the time they were made or otherwise. In addition, information concerning the subject matter of the

66

#### **Table of Contents**

representations and warranties may change after the date of the original investment agreement, which subsequent information may or may not be fully reflected in the Company s public disclosures.

In this section of the prospectus/disclosure statement, we refer to (1) the investment agreement, (2) the stockholders agreement (see The Restructuring Description of the CD&R Investment The Stockholders Agreement), (3) the registration rights agreement (see The Restructuring Description of the CD&R Investment The Registration Rights Agreement), (4) the indemnification agreement (see The Restructuring Description of the CD&R Investment The Indemnification Agreement), (5) the certificate of designations (see The Restructuring Description of the CD&R Investment Certain Terms of the Series B Convertible Preferred Stock), (6) the ABL agreement, the amended credit agreement and the ancillary refinancing documents related to the ABL agreement and the amended credit agreement (see The Restructuring Description of the Term Loan Refinancing and the ABL Financing), and (7) the prepackaged plan (see The Prepackaged Plan) as the transaction documents. We refer to the concurrent closing of the CD&R investment, the term loan refinancing, the ABL financing and this exchange offer, or, in the alternative, the effectiveness of the prepackaged plan, as the closing.

#### Structure

Under the investment agreement, at the closing, the CD&R investment and the other transactions contemplated by the restructuring will be accomplished as follows:

the Company will issue, sell and deliver to the CD&R Fund, and the CD&R Fund will purchase from the Company, an aggregate of 250,000 shares of Series B convertible preferred stock for an aggregate purchase price of \$250.0 million, upon the terms and subject to the conditions of the investment agreement;

the Company and our subsidiaries, as applicable, will execute and deliver an amendment to our existing credit agreement (see The Restructuring Description of the Term Loan Refinancing and the ABL Financing The Term Loan Refinancing ); and

the Company and our subsidiaries, as applicable, will execute and deliver an ABL agreement (see The Restructuring Description of the Term Loan Refinancing and the ABL Financing The ABL Financing ).

Concurrently with the closing, but after the Company receives the proceeds from the CD&R investment, the Company will:

repay \$143.3 million in principal amount of term loans outstanding under our existing credit agreement that are not rolled into the amended credit agreement, together with all accrued and unpaid interest and all other interest due and payable as of the closing, and cash collateralize or backstop in full, or replace with or roll over and novate into letters of credit issued and outstanding under the ABL agreement, all letters of credit outstanding under our existing credit agreement;

pay all fees, costs, expenses and other obligations (including under the amended credit agreement, the ABL agreement and related documents) that are due and payable as of the closing;

(1) if the restructuring is being accomplished through the recapitalization plan, accept the convertible notes validly tendered and not withdrawn pursuant to this exchange offer and (2) if the restructuring is being accomplished through the prepackaged plan, pay the claims with respect to the convertible notes pursuant to the prepackaged plan;

reimburse the CD&R Fund for transaction expenses up to \$14.5 million (net of any transaction expenses that were previously reimbursed); and

pay CD&R a deal fee in an amount equal to \$8.25 million.

## The Exchange Offer; Solicitation of Acceptances of the Prepackaged Plan

We have agreed to commence this exchange offer and the solicitation for acceptances to the prepackaged plan under the terms of the investment agreement. Pursuant to the investment agreement, this exchange offer and the solicitation must be commenced and conducted on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth on Annex A to the investment agreement. We are prohibited from waiving any condition to this exchange offer or making any changes to the terms and conditions to this exchange offer without the prior consent of the CD&R Fund.

67

#### **Table of Contents**

We may extend this exchange offer beyond the initial expiration date without the prior consent of the CD&R Fund for a period of not more than 10 business days, if, at such date, any of the conditions to this exchange offer have not been satisfied or, with the prior written consent of the CD&R Fund, waived and, subject to the termination of the investment agreement, we are required to extend this exchange offer if it expires before the registration statement of which this prospectus/disclosure statement forms a part is declared effective.

In the event that the conditions to the recapitalization plan are satisfied, including the conditions to this exchange offer (which includes the minimum tender condition), the Company has agreed to accept for exchange all convertible notes validly tendered in this exchange offer.

#### Commencement of a Reorganization Case in Connection with the Prepackaged Plan Covenant

Under the investment agreement, we and the CD&R Fund have agreed that in the event that the conditions to the recapitalization plan are not satisfied or waived, we will seek to accomplish the restructuring through the prepackaged plan. Specifically, we agreed, among other things:

to use our reasonable best efforts to obtain acceptances from a sufficient number of holders of impaired claims in an impaired class of claims to allow the prepackaged plan to be confirmed under the Bankruptcy Code, including confirmation through the nonconsensual cram-down provisions of section 1129(b) of the Bankruptcy Code with respect to non-accepting impaired claims classes; and

if the conditions to this exchange offer are not satisfied or, with the prior written consent of the CD&R Fund waived, by the expiration date, but we have received, as of the expiration date, acceptances from a sufficient number of holders of impaired claims in an impaired class of claims to allow the prepackaged plan to be confirmed under the Bankruptcy Code, including confirmation through the nonconsensual cram-down provisions of section 1129(b) of the Bankruptcy Code with respect to non-accepting impaired claims classes:

to file chapter 11 petitions in the U.S. Bankruptcy Court for the District of Delaware and commence the prepackaged plan proceeding under the Bankruptcy Code;

to file certain first day motions and seek to obtain entry of the orders approving such motions;

to schedule a hearing in the U.S. Bankruptcy Court for the District of Delaware on the earliest date possible to consider confirmation of the prepackaged plan and approve this prospectus/disclosure statement;

to send notices to all persons to whom such notices are required to be sent under the Bankruptcy Code and to such other persons as ordered by the bankruptcy court, as soon as practicable after the commencement of the prepackaged plan proceeding;

to use our reasonable best efforts to obtain confirmation of the prepackaged plan by the U.S. Bankruptcy Court for the District of Delaware:

to use our reasonable best efforts to obtain the dismissal of any and all appeals and motions for reconsideration filed with respect to the prepackaged plan or with respect to the confirmation order relating to the prepackaged plan; and

to cause the prepackaged plan to become effective and the distributions provided for under the prepackaged plan to be commenced as promptly as possible on or following the day on which conditions to effectiveness set forth in the prepackaged plan have been satisfied or waived.

## Conditions to the CD&R Investment

Conditions to the CD&R Investment under the Recapitalization Plan. The obligation of the CD&R Fund, on the one hand, and the Company, on the other hand, to consummate the CD&R investment at the closing of the recapitalization plan is conditioned on the satisfaction or waiver by both the Company and the CD&R Fund of the following conditions:

the expiration or termination of any waiting period required to consummate the CD&R investment under the HSR Act (which condition was satisfied on September 8, 2009, when the U.S. Federal Trade Commission granted early termination of the waiting period under the HSR Act) and the Austrian Act;

68

#### **Table of Contents**

the absence of (1) any provision of any applicable law and any issued injunction, judgment, decree or other order that prohibits the closing, that restricts the CD&R Fund or its affiliates from owning, voting, or converting or exercising any Series B convertible preferred stock in accordance with its terms, or exercising the CD&R Fund s consent rights contemplated by the stockholders agreement and (2) any lawsuit by a governmental entity seeking to effect any of the foregoing;

the NYSE s confirmation that the issuance of the Series B convertible preferred stock and the restructuring are in compliance with the NYSE s stockholder approval policy; and the Company s proper, unconditional obtainment of an exception under Paragraph 312.05 of the NYSE Listed Company Manual to issue the Series B convertible preferred stock without stockholder approval (which confirmation was provided to the Company on August 13, 2009, subject to the Audit Committee s determination that the delay necessary in securing stockholder approval prior to the issuance of the Series B convertible preferred stock and of the common stock pursuant to the exchange offer would seriously jeopardize the financial viability of the Company and its approval of the Company s reliance on the exception contained in Paragraph 312.05 of the NYSE Listed Company Manual, which determination was made by the Audit Committee on August 13, 2009 and on August 31, 2009);

the Company s provision of notice to its stockholders as required by, and in compliance with, Paragraph 312.05 of the NYSE Listed Company Manual, and the expiration of the ten-day notice period set forth in such paragraph;

the Company s filing with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware of the certificate of designations for the Series B convertible preferred stock;

the expiration of this exchange offer and the satisfaction or waiver, with the prior consent of the CD&R Fund, of all of the conditions to this exchange offer; and

the sufficiency for the following applications of the proceeds from the CD&R investment, together with the Company s available cash, which sufficiency we refer to as the sufficiency of proceeds condition:

to repay \$143.3 million in principal amount of term loans outstanding under our existing credit agreement that are not rolled into the amended credit agreement, together with all accrued and unpaid interest and all other interest due and payable as of the closing;

to cash collateralize or backstop in full all letters of credit outstanding under our existing credit agreement that are not replaced with or rolled over and novated into letters of credit issued and outstanding under the ABL agreement;

to pay all fees, costs, expenses and other obligations relating to the recapitalization plan (including under the amended credit agreement, the ABL agreement and related documents) that are due and payable as of the closing;

to pay the cash consideration for all convertible notes validly tendered and not withdrawn under this exchange offer; and

to pay the maximum consideration necessary to repurchase or redeem all convertible notes not so tendered under this exchange offer pursuant to the convertible notes indenture.

The obligation of the Company to consummate the CD&R investment is conditioned on the satisfaction or waiver by the Company of the following conditions:

the truth and correctness (without regard to materiality or material adverse effect qualifications) of the representations and warranties of the CD&R Fund contained in the investment agreement (excluding the private placement representations (see Representation and Warranties below)) as of the date of the investment agreement and at and as of the date of the closing as if made at and as of such time (except to the extent expressly made as of an earlier date, in which case as of such earlier date), except where the failure of such representations and warranties to be true and correct, individually or in the aggregate, has not had, and would not reasonably be expected to have, a material adverse effect on the ability of the CD&R Fund to consummate the CD&R investment;

69

#### **Table of Contents**

the truth and correctness in all respects of the private placement representations at and as of the date of the investment agreement and at and as of the date of the closing as if made at and as of such time;

the receipt by the Company of a customary certificate of a senior officer of the CD&R Fund certifying to the satisfaction of the conditions described in the immediately preceding two bullet points;

the CD&R Fund s performance of and compliance in all material respects with all covenants and obligations in the investment agreement that are to be performed or complied with by it at or prior to the closing; and

the CD&R Fund s due execution and delivery of each of the stockholders agreement, the registration rights agreement and the indemnification agreement.

The obligation of the CD&R Fund to consummate the CD&R investment is conditioned on the satisfaction or waiver by the CD&R Fund of the following conditions:

the truth and correctness (without regard to materiality or material adverse effect qualifications) of the representations and warranties of the Company contained in the investment agreement (excluding those relating to capitalization and the lack of a material adverse change) as of the date of the investment agreement and at and as of the date of the closing as if made at and as of such time (except to the extent expressly made as of an earlier date, in which case as of such earlier date), except where the failure of such representations and warranties to be true and correct, individually or in the aggregate, has not had, and would not reasonably be expected to have, a material adverse effect;

the truth and correctness in all but *de minimis* respects of the representations and warranties of the Company relating to capitalization at and as of the date of the investment agreement and at and as of the date of the closing as if made at and as of such time (except to the extent expressly made as of an earlier date, in which case as of such earlier date);

the truth and correctness in all respects of the representations and warranties of the Company relating to the lack of a material adverse change at and as of the date of the closing as if made at and as of such time;

the Company s performance of, and compliance in, all material respects with all covenants and obligations in the investment agreement that are to be performed or complied with by it at or prior to the closing;

the Company s due execution and delivery of each of the stockholders agreement, the registration rights agreement and the indemnification agreement;

the Company s due authorization, execution and delivery of the amended credit agreement either (1) in the form of the amended credit agreement attached hereto as Annex J with such changes thereto deemed advisable by the CD&R Fund in its sole discretion (exercised in good faith) (see The Restructuring Description of the Term Loan Refinancing and the ABL Financing Term Loan Refinancing ), or (2) on terms and conditions that are, in the CD&R Fund s sole discretion (exercised in good faith), (x) no less favorable (as to each item (other than immaterial items) and in the aggregate) to the Company and the CD&R Fund (as a prospective shareholder of the Company) than the terms and conditions contemplated in the form of the amended credit agreement attached hereto as Annex J or (y) otherwise acceptable to the CD&R Fund;

the amended credit agreement and other related documents being in full force and effect;

the satisfaction of all conditions precedent to the effectiveness of the amended credit agreement and the other related documents;

the receipt by the CD&R Fund of copies of the amended credit agreement and the other related documents;

subject to the consummation of the CD&R investment, (1) the termination of the revolving commitments under our existing credit agreement, and (2) to the extent required by the amended credit agreement and the ABL agreement, the subordination of the security interests arising under the amended credit agreement and related documents with respect to the collateral securing the ABL financing on a first-priority basis to the security interests in such collateral;

the Company s due authorization, execution and delivery of the ABL agreement on terms and conditions that either (1) reflect the terms and conditions summarized in the ABL term sheet attached as Annex K or (2) are,

70

#### **Table of Contents**

in the CD&R Fund s sole discretion (exercised in good faith), no less favorable (as to each item and in the aggregate) to the Company and the CD&R Fund (as a prospective shareholder of the Company) than the terms and conditions summarized in the ABL term sheet and, in each case described in clauses (1) and (2), otherwise are either (a) in the CD&R Fund s reasonable discretion (exercised in good faith), consistent with and no less favorable (as to each item (other than immaterial items) and in the aggregate) to the Company and the CD&R Fund (as a prospective shareholder of the Company) than the terms and conditions of asset-based revolving credit financing transactions for companies sponsored by CD&R, or (b) in the CD&R Fund s sole discretion (exercised in good faith), acceptable to the CD&R Fund (see The Restructuring Description of the Term Loan Refinancing and the ABL Financing The ABL Financing );

the ABL agreement and the other related documents being in full force and effect;

the satisfaction of all conditions precedent to (1) the effectiveness of the ABL agreement and the other related documents, (2) the initial borrowings and any other extensions of credit thereunder other than delivery of a borrowing notice, and (3) the effectiveness of the documents related to the ABL agreement;

the receipt by the CD&R Fund of copies of the ABL agreement and the other related documents;

the due authorization, execution and delivery of each ancillary refinancing document contemplated by the term loan refinancing and the ABL financing on terms that are (1) consistent with the amended credit agreement and the ABL agreement, as applicable, and (2) otherwise either (a) in the CD&R Fund s reasonable discretion (exercised in good faith), consistent with and no less favorable (as to each item (other than immaterial items) and in the aggregate) to the Company and the CD&R Fund (as a prospective shareholder of the Company) than the terms and conditions of such agreement or document for companies sponsored by CD&R, or (b) in the CD&R Fund s sole discretion (exercised in good faith), acceptable to the CD&R Fund;

on the date of the closing, after giving effect to the closing, (A) the absence of (1) any breach or default under the amended credit agreement, the ABL agreement or the ancillary refinancing documents contemplated by the term loan refinancing and the ABL financing, (2) any allegations of breach or default by a person with the right to cause an acceleration of, or with the right to exercise any other remedy under the amended credit agreement, the ABL agreement or the ancillary refinancing documents contemplated by the term loan refinancing and the ABL financing, and (3) any notice of intention to terminate the amended credit agreement, the ABL agreement or the ancillary refinancing documents contemplated by the term loan refinancing and the ABL financing and (B) the absence of any default or event or circumstance that, with or without notice or lapse of time or both, would (1) constitute a breach, default or event of default under the amended credit agreement, the ABL agreement or the ancillary refinancing documents contemplated by the term loan refinancing and the ABL financing, (2) result in a termination of the amended credit agreement, the ABL agreement or the ancillary refinancing documents contemplated by the term loan refinancing and the ABL financing, (3) cause or permit the acceleration or any other change of the amended credit agreement, the ABL agreement or the ancillary refinancing documents contemplated by the term loan refinancing and the ABL financing, (4) cause or permit the acceleration or any other change in any right or obligation under the amended credit agreement, the ABL agreement or the ancillary refinancing documents contemplated by the term loan refinancing and the ABL financing, or (5) cause or permit the acceleration or any other change in the loss or impairment of any benefit under the amended credit agreement, the ABL agreement or the ancillary refinancing documents contemplated by the term loan refinancing and the ABL financing;

the Company reasonably believing that we and our subsidiaries will be able to satisfy all terms and conditions to be satisfied by any of them under the amended credit agreement, the ABL agreement or the ancillary refinancing documents contemplated by the term loan refinancing and the ABL financing;

no more than \$150.0 million in term loans being outstanding under the amended credit agreement after giving effect to the term loan refinancing;

the revolving credit commitments provided for under the ABL agreement being not less than \$125.0 million in aggregate;

71

#### **Table of Contents**

the available revolving credit commitments under the ABL agreement and the unrestricted cash available to the Company after applying any cash of the Company to the purposes set forth in the sufficiency of proceeds condition being not less than \$90.0 million in the aggregate;

the ability of the Company to satisfy all conditions to borrowings and other extensions of credit under the ABL agreement;

the approval by our board of directors, including the approval by the disinterested directors serving on our board pursuant to Article TENTH of our restated certificate of incorporation, of the investment agreement, the other transaction documents and the transactions contemplated thereby (which such approval, with respect to the agreements and transactions related to the CD&R investment and with respect to this exchange offer, was received on August 13, 2009);

to the extent that the Company has authorized and unissued shares of common stock sufficient to permit the conversion of all or a portion of the shares of Series B convertible preferred stock to be issued at the closing, (1) the due authorization for listing, subject to official notice of issuance, on the NYSE or such other exchange on which the common stock is then listed or quoted, of such shares of common stock and (2) the number of such shares of common stock issuable upon conversion of the Series B convertible preferred stock that are so duly authorized for listing is no less than 7.8 million shares;

the adoption and declaration of advisability, and the approval and recommendation, by our board of directors, of certain amendments to our restated certificate of incorporation to increase the number of authorized shares (see The Restructuring Description of the CD&R Investment The Stockholders Agreement Agreement to Seek Amendments to our Restated Certificate of Incorporation ); and

the receipt by the CD&R Fund of customary certificates of certain senior officers of the Company certifying to the satisfaction of certain of the conditions, including a certificate of our Chief Executive Officer or Chief Financial Officer certifying to the satisfaction of the sufficiency of proceeds condition.

Conditions to the CD&R Investment under the Prepackaged Plan. In the event that we seek to accomplish the restructuring through the prepackaged plan, the obligation of the CD&R Fund, on the one hand, and the Company, on the other hand, to consummate the CD&R investment is conditioned on the satisfaction or waiver by both the Company and the CD&R Fund of the following conditions in addition to the conditions to the closing of the recapitalization plan:

the confirmation order has been entered and no stay of such order is in effect; and

the satisfaction or waiver of all other conditions to the effectiveness of the prepackaged plan (see The Prepackaged Plan Conditions to the Effective Date of the Prepackaged Plan ),

and the following conditions to the closing of the recapitalization plan will not apply:

the NYSE s confirmation that the issuance of the Series B convertible preferred stock and the restructuring are in compliance with the NYSE s stockholder approval policy; and the Company s proper, unconditional obtainment of an exception under Paragraph 312.05 of the NYSE Listed Company Manual to issue the Series B convertible preferred stock without stockholder approval;

the Company s provision of notice to its stockholders as required by, and in compliance with, Paragraph 312.05 of the NYSE Listed Company Manual, and the expiration of the ten-day notice period set forth in such paragraph; and

the expiration of this exchange offer and the satisfaction or waiver, with the prior consent of the CD&R Fund, of all of the conditions to this exchange offer.

72

#### **Table of Contents**

### Termination of the Investment Agreement

The investment agreement may be terminated at any time prior to the consummation of the CD&R investment:

(1) by either the CD&R Fund or the Company, if:

by November 12, 2009:

the closing of this exchange offer has not occurred; and

acceptances from a sufficient number of holders of impaired claims in an impaired class of claims to allow the prepackaged plan to be confirmed under the Bankruptcy Code, including confirmation through the nonconsensual cram-down provisions of section 1129(b) of the Bankruptcy Code with respect to non-accepting impaired claims classes have not been received; or

the prepackaged plan proceeding has been commenced and the effective date of the prepackaged plan has not occurred by a date that is no later than four weeks and ten days after the entry of the order confirming the prepackaged plan;

provided, that the party seeking to so terminate has not breached in any material respect its obligations under the investment agreement in any manner that has been a proximate cause of the failure to consummate the CD&R investment on or before the date on which the investment agreement can be so terminated, which date we refer to as the outside date;

(2) by either the CD&R Fund or the Company in the event that any governmental entity issues an order or takes any other action (and such order or other action has become final and nonappealable):

restraining, enjoining or otherwise prohibiting the closing;

prohibiting or restricting the CD&R Fund or its affiliates from owning and exercising in full all exchange, conversion and voting rights of the Series B convertible preferred stock contemplated to be exercisable by the CD&R Fund; or

prohibiting or restricting the CD&R Fund from exercising its consent rights under the stockholders agreement;

provided that the party seeking to so terminate has not breached in any material respect its obligations under the investment agreement in any manner that was a proximate cause of such order or action;

# (3) by the CD&R Fund, if:

the Company terminates this exchange offer or this exchange offer expires in accordance with the terms of the investment agreement without the Company having accepted for purchase the convertible notes pursuant to this exchange offer, unless, in either case, the Company has commenced the prepackaged plan proceeding by the day following the date on which acceptances from a sufficient number of holders of impaired claims in an impaired class of claims to allow the prepackaged plan to be confirmed under the Bankruptcy Code, including confirmation through the nonconsensual cram-down provisions of section 1129(b) of the Bankruptcy Code with respect to non-accepting impaired claims classes have

been received and this exchange offer has expired pursuant to the terms of the investment agreement; or

this exchange offer has expired on or after the outside date and the conditions to this exchange offer have not been satisfied and acceptances from a sufficient number of holders of impaired claims in an impaired class of claims to allow the prepackaged plan to be confirmed under the Bankruptcy Code, including confirmation through the nonconsensual cram-down provisions of section 1129(b) of the Bankruptcy Code with respect to non-accepting impaired claims classes have not been received;

(4) by the CD&R Fund, if our board of directors:

approves or recommends to our stockholders a superior proposal (see Acceptance of Superior Proposal below);

formally withdraws its support for this exchange offer;

73

#### **Table of Contents**

makes a recommendation against this exchange offer or the restructuring;

recommends another company transaction proposal; or

resolves to effect any of the foregoing;

### (5) by the CD&R Fund, if:

the Company or any of our subsidiaries commence any case, proceeding or other action under any existing or future law of any jurisdiction, relating to bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization or similar laws relating to relief of debtors, which we refer to as a bankruptcy proceeding:

seeking to have an order for relief entered with respect to it, or seeking to adjudicate it a bankrupt or insolvent,

seeking reorganization, arrangement, adjustment, winding-up, liquidation, dissolution or composition or similar action with respect to it or its debts generally, or

seeking appointment of a receiver, trustee, custodian, conservator or other similar official for it or for all or any substantial part of its assets

in each case, other than with respect to the prepackaged plan proceeding;

any bankruptcy proceeding has been commenced against any of the Company and our subsidiaries other than the prepackaged plan proceeding and such bankruptcy proceeding has not been dismissed within 30 days of such commencement;

the Company or any of our subsidiaries have become unable, admit our inability or fail generally to pay our debts as they become due;

the Company or any of our subsidiaries make a general assignment for the benefit of our creditors;

the Company fails to comply with our obligations to commence the prepackaged plan proceeding (see Commencement of a Reorganization Case in Connection with the Prepackaged Plan Covenant above);

if the prepackaged plan proceeding has been commenced, at any time after 25 days after the filing of the prepackaged plan, if the bankruptcy court has not entered the order approving the motion relating to the fees and expenses payable to the CD&R Fund and CD&R under the investment agreement on or prior to such date;

if the prepackaged plan proceeding has been commenced, at any time after eight weeks after the filing of the prepackaged plan, if the bankruptcy court has not entered the confirmation order with respect to the prepackaged plan on or prior to such date;

if the prepackaged plan proceeding has been commenced, the prepackaged plan proceeding is dismissed or converted from a case under chapter 11 to one under chapter 7 of the Bankruptcy Code, or the Company files a motion or other pleading with the bankruptcy court seeking the dismissal or conversion of the prepackaged plan proceeding;

at any time, if the Company or any of our subsidiaries file a plan of reorganization or liquidation other than the prepackaged plan; or

if the prepackaged plan proceeding has been commenced, at any time, if the bankruptcy court (a) grants relief that is materially inconsistent with the investment agreement or the prepackaged plan in any respect or (b) enters an order confirming any plan of reorganization other than the prepackaged plan;

- (6) by the Company, to accept a superior proposal or if the bankruptcy court enters an order requiring the Company to terminate the investment agreement in order to accept a qualifying transaction (see Termination Fees; Transaction Expenses Following Termination below);
- (7) by either the CD&R Fund or the Company, if the prepackaged plan proceeding has been commenced and the bankruptcy court enters an order denying confirmation of the prepackaged plan, or the order

74

#### **Table of Contents**

confirming the prepackaged plan is vacated or reversed and does not become a final order within four weeks and ten days after the entry of such confirmation order; or

(8) by the mutual written consent of the CD&R Fund and the Company.

If the investment agreement is terminated and the CD&R investment is abandoned, except for the provisions relating to the indemnity obligations of the Company in connection with the CD&R losses for execution and performance of the investment agreement (see Indemnity below), confidentiality, the provisions described in Termination Fees; Transaction Expenses Following Termination below, the provisions relating to amendment, and waivers and certain other miscellaneous provisions in the investment agreement, the investment agreement forthwith becomes void and there will be no liability on the part of either party thereto.

### Termination Fees; Transaction Expenses Following Termination

In the event the investment agreement is terminated for any reason (other than in circumstances described in clause (8) above under Termination of the Investment Agreement and other than solely as a result of the failure of the parties to obtain the clearance or approval under the HSR Act) and the CD&R Fund has not taken any action, or failed to take any action, in breach of the investment agreement that proximately caused the event, condition or passage of time giving rise to the termination of the investment agreement or the failure of the closing to occur, then we will reimburse the CD&R Fund for all of its transaction expenses up to \$9.5 million in the aggregate (net of any transaction expenses already paid no later than two business days after submission of reasonable supporting documentation of such expenses).

In the event that the investment agreement is terminated:

in circumstances described in clause (4) or clause (6) above under Termination of the Investment Agreement; or

in circumstances described in clause (1) above under Termination of the Investment Agreement, and (a) within 12 months of the date of termination, the Company enters into a definitive agreement with respect to, or consummates, a transaction contemplated by any qualifying transaction (as described below), and (b) at the time of the termination, (x) the CD&R Fund is not in material breach of any of its material covenants and agreements contained in the investment agreement or its representations and warranties contained in the investment agreement and (y) the following conditions have been satisfied:

the expiration or termination of any waiting period required to consummate the CD&R investment under the HSR Act and the Austrian Act (each, as described on the front cover of this prospectus/disclosure statement);

the absence of (1) any provision of any applicable law and any issued injunction, judgment, decree or other order that prohibits the closing, that restricts the CD&R Fund or its affiliates from owning, voting, or converting or exercising any Series B convertible preferred stock in accordance with its terms, or exercising the CD&R Fund s consent rights contemplated by the stockholders agreement and (2) any lawsuit by a governmental entity seeking to effect any of the foregoing; or

in circumstances described in clause (3), clause (5) or clause (7) above under Termination of the Investment Agreement, and at the time of such termination, the CD&R Fund is not in material breach of any of its material covenants and agreements contained in the investment agreement or its representations and warranties contained in the investment agreement, and within 12 months of the date of termination, the Company enters into a definitive agreement with respect to, or consummates, a transaction contemplated by any qualifying transaction;

then the Company will pay to the CD&R Fund a termination fee in an amount equal to \$8.25 million and the Company will reimburse the CD&R Fund for up to \$9.5 million of its expenses relating to the restructuring (net of any amounts previously paid or reimbursed).

A qualifying transaction means any company transaction proposal (see No Solicitation Covenant below), which, in the case of a company transaction proposal that is a restructuring, reorganization, liquidation, dissolution or similar transaction, is a superior lender proposal (as described in No Solicitation Covenant below, without giving regard to the parenthetical in such definition).

75

#### **Table of Contents**

### Term Loan Refinancing Covenant

We have agreed to pay when due all interest, fees, expenses and other obligations arising under our existing credit agreement and related credit documents as and when they become payable, and to otherwise comply with and timely perform all of our obligations under such agreements and documents at all times during the term of the investment agreement, including during the pendency of the prepackaged plan proceeding (subject to the consent or approval of the U.S. Bankruptcy Court for the District of Delaware).

In addition, we have agreed to use our reasonable best efforts (and the CD&R Fund has agreed to use reasonable best efforts to cooperate with us in such efforts) to take all reasonable actions and to do all things reasonably necessary, proper or advisable, to amend our existing credit agreement on the terms and conditions provided in the form of the amended credit agreement attached hereto as Annex J or otherwise contemplated thereby. The CD&R Fund may make such additions, modifications, alterations, corrections or other changes to the form of the amended credit agreement attached hereto as Annex J as it deems advisable in its sole discretion (exercised in good faith) to:

add, provide or complete any schedule, annex, exhibit, numerical amount or other information that is omitted, missing or incomplete, or modify, alter, correct or change (including without limitation by deleting or replacing) any wording that is in brackets;

cure any ambiguity, mistake, omission or defect;

cure any inconsistency, including with any other provision of the same agreement or of the ABL agreement or any other transaction document or other agreement entered into in connection therewith;

address a material risk that (1) we will be unable to comply with the terms or conditions of the agreement or (2) by complying with the terms and conditions of the agreement we will be subject to a material risk of not complying with the terms and conditions of the ABL agreement or any other transaction document or other agreement entered into in connection therewith;

effect the intent evidenced by the form of the amended credit agreement attached hereto as Annex J; or

avoid adverse tax consequences to us or any of our subsidiaries.

In the event that we cannot amend our existing credit agreement on the terms and conditions contemplated in the previous paragraph for any reason, we have agreed to use our reasonable best efforts (and the CD&R Fund has agreed to use commercially reasonable efforts to cooperate with us in such efforts, including by actively assisting us in negotiation of related definitive documentation) to amend the terms of our existing credit agreement (1) on terms and conditions that are, in the CD&R Fund s sole discretion (exercised in good faith), (x) no less favorable (as to each item (other than immaterial items) and in the aggregate) to the Company and the CD&R Fund (as a prospective stockholder of the Company) than the terms and conditions contemplated in the form of the amended credit agreement attached hereto as Annex J or (y) otherwise acceptable to the CD&R Fund, and (2) to extend the maturity of \$150.0 million principal amount of the term loans outstanding under our existing credit agreement, as promptly as practicable but in any event no later than outside date (see Termination of the Investment Agreement above).

See The Restructuring Description of the Term Loan Refinancing and the ABL Financing The Term Loan Refinancing

Pursuant to the lock-up agreement, holders of convertible notes that executed the lock-up that also hold obligations under our existing credit agreement have agreed, subject to the terms contained in the lock-up agreement, (1) to support the term loan refinancing by accepting a portion of the repayment contemplated thereby and by executing an

amendment to our existing credit agreement in the form of the amended credit agreement attached hereto as Annex J and (2) to vote all their obligations under the existing credit agreement in favor of the prepackaged plan, among other things. See The Restructuring The Lock-Up Agreement.

# ABL Financing Covenant

We have agreed to use our reasonable best efforts (and the CD&R Fund has agreed to use commercially reasonable efforts to cooperate with us in such efforts) to take all reasonable actions and to do all things reasonably

76

#### **Table of Contents**

necessary, proper or advisable, to arrange and obtain revolving credit commitments for general corporate purposes from lenders on terms and conditions that reflect the terms and conditions summarized in the ABL term sheet attached as Annex K and otherwise are either (a) in the CD&R Fund s reasonable discretion (exercised in good faith), consistent with and no less favorable (as to each item (other than immaterial item) and in the aggregate) to the Company and the CD&R Fund (as a prospective stockholder of the Company) than the terms and conditions of asset-based revolving credit financing transactions for companies sponsored by CD&R, or (b) in the CD&R Fund s sole discretion (exercised in good faith), acceptable to the CD&R Fund.

In the event that revolving credit commitments cannot be obtained on terms and conditions described in the previous paragraph, we have agreed to use our reasonable best efforts (and the CD&R Fund has agreed to use commercially reasonable efforts to cooperate with us in such efforts, including by actively assisting us in our negotiation of related definitive documentation) to obtain alternative financing from alternative sources (A) that is on terms and conditions that (1) are, in the CD&R Fund sole discretion (exercised in good faith), no less favorable (as to each item and in the aggregate) to the Company and the CD&R Fund (as a prospective stockholder of the Company) than the terms and conditions summarized in the ABL term sheet and otherwise (2) are either (a) in the CD&R Fund sole reasonable discretion (exercised in good faith), consistent with and no less favorable to the Company and the CD&R Fund (as a prospective stockholder of the Company) than the terms and conditions of asset-based revolving credit financing transactions for companies sponsored by CD&R, or (b) in the CD&R Fund sole discretion (exercised in good faith), acceptable to the CD&R Fund, and (B) that provides revolving credit commitments in an aggregate principal amount that is not less than \$125.0 million, as promptly as practicable but in any event no later than the outside date.

See The Restructuring Description of the Term Loan Refinancing and the ABL Financing The ABL Financing.

### Conduct of Business Covenant

We have agreed that, except (1) as expressly permitted or required by the transaction documents or otherwise consented to by the CD&R Fund and (2) as set forth in the disclosure letter to the investment agreement, from the date of the original investment agreement to the date of the closing (or the termination of the investment agreement, if applicable), we and our subsidiaries will conduct our business in all material respects in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice provided that we may make such changes to the manner in which we conduct business as are required by the prepackaged plan proceeding.

In addition, during the same period, except as expressly permitted or required by the transaction documents, without the prior written consent of the CD&R Fund, neither we nor any of our subsidiaries:

will take any action that, if taken after the issuance of the Series B convertible preferred stock:

would require the written consent of or vote by holders of such Series B convertible preferred stock under the certificate of designations (see The Restructuring Description of the CD&R Investment Certain Terms of the Series B Convertible Preferred Stock Voting Rights ) or would require the consent of the CD&R Fund and its affiliates pursuant to the stockholders agreement (see The Restructuring Description of the CD&R Investment The Stockholders Agreement Consent Rights );

would trigger a redemption right under the certificate of designations (see The Restructuring Description of the CD&R Investment Certain Terms of the Series B Convertible Preferred Stock Change of Control Redemption Right ); or

would result in an adjustment to be made under the certificate of designations (see The Restructuring Description of the CD&R Investment Certain Terms of the Series B Convertible Preferred Stock Convertibility and

Anti Dilution Adjustments );

amend, modify, terminate or otherwise make any change to, directly or indirectly, our existing credit agreement and related credit documents except we may extend (and, as described in our current report on Form 8-K filed on August 27, 2009, on August 21, 2009, have extended) the current waiver from the lenders under our existing credit agreement;

77

#### **Table of Contents**

other than with respect to the prepackaged plan proceeding, commence a bankruptcy proceeding (see Termination of the Investment Agreement above); or

take any action that is in furtherance of the delisting of the common stock from the NYSE or the listing of the common stock on any other stock exchange or automated quotation system.

We also agree not to declare or pay any dividend or distribution on any of our securities on or prior to the closing.

### No Solicitation Covenant

We have agreed to cease any discussions or negotiations with any parties that may be ongoing with respect to a company transaction proposal (as described below). In addition, after the execution of the investment agreement, we agreed not to, and not to authorize or permit our subsidiaries to:

solicit, initiate or knowingly encourage any inquiry with respect to, or the making, submission or announcement of, any proposal that constitutes or could reasonably be expected to lead to a company transaction proposal;

participate in any negotiations regarding a company transaction proposal with, or furnish any nonpublic information relating to a company transaction proposal to, any person;

engage in discussions regarding a company transaction proposal with any person, except to notify such person of the restrictions in the investment agreement;

approve, endorse or recommend any company transaction proposal;

enter into any letter of intent or agreement in principle or any agreement providing for any company transaction proposal, except for a confidentiality agreement, which confidentiality provisions are no less restrictive to such person making the company transaction proposal than the provisions in the confidentiality agreement executed by the CD&R Fund with the Company is to the CD&R Fund, its affiliates, and their respective personnel and representatives; or

propose or agree to do any of the foregoing.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, if at any time prior to the closing, we receive a bona fide, written and unsolicited company transaction proposal and our board of directors determines in good faith, after consultation with outside counsel and our independent financial advisor, that such company transaction proposal constitutes a superior proposal (as described below) or is reasonably likely to result in a superior proposal, the Company may:

furnish nonpublic information to the person making such company transaction proposal, if:

prior to so furnishing such nonpublic information, we have (1) advised the CD&R Fund of the receipt of the company transaction proposal and made specified disclosures to the CD&R Fund regarding the terms and conditions of such company transaction proposal and (2) have received from such person making the company transaction proposal a customarily restrictive confidentiality agreement; and

all such nonpublic information has previously been provided to the CD&R Fund or is provided to the CD&R Fund prior to or substantially contemporaneously with the time it is provided to the person making such company transaction proposal; and

engage in discussions or negotiations with such person with respect to the company transaction proposal.

From 12:00 midnight, New York City time, on October 7, 2009 until the later of (1) any scheduled expiration date on which all of the conditions to this exchange offer have been satisfied (or, with the prior written consent of the CD&R Fund, waived) or acceptances from a sufficient number of holders of impaired claims in an impaired class of claims to allow the prepackaged plan to be confirmed under the Bankruptcy Code, including confirmation through the nonconsensual cram-down provisions of section 1129(b) of the Bankruptcy Code with respect to non-accepting impaired claims classes have been received and (2) the date on which all conditions to the CD&R investment have been satisfied (or in our reasonable judgment, such conditions are reasonably certain to be satisfied

78

#### **Table of Contents**

by the outside date (see Termination of the Investment Agreement above)), at any time at which (a) any of the conditions to this exchange offer has not been satisfied (or, with the prior written consent of the CD&R Fund, waived), acceptances from a sufficient number of holders of impaired claims in an impaired class of claims to allow the prepackaged plan to be confirmed under the Bankruptcy Code, including confirmation through the nonconsensual cram-down provisions of section 1129(b) of the Bankruptcy Code with respect to non-accepting impaired claims classes have not been received or any other condition to the CD&R investment has not been satisfied (and, in the Company s reasonable judgment, there is material uncertainty as to whether any such condition will be satisfied by the outside date) and (b) we are not in material breach of any of our material covenants and agreements contained in the investment agreement, then we may:

propose a contingency plan proposal (as described below) to any person that, to our knowledge, is not considering making, and, in the case of a holder of convertible notes or a lender under our existing credit agreement, has not since April 1, 2009 made, a company transaction proposal other than a contingency plan proposal;

participate in negotiations and engage in discussions regarding a contingency plan proposal with, or furnish nonpublic information relating to a contingency plan proposal to, any person that, to our knowledge, is not considering making, and, in the case of a holder of convertible notes or a lender under our existing credit agreement, has not since April 1, 2009 made, a company transaction proposal other than a contingency plan proposal; or

propose or agree to do any of the foregoing;

# so long as:

prior to furnishing any nonpublic information, we have (i) advised the CD&R Fund of the receipt of the contingency plan proposal and made specified disclosures to the CD&R Fund regarding the terms and conditions of such contingency plan proposal; and (ii) have received from such person making a customarily restrictive confidentiality agreement; and

all such nonpublic information has previously been provided to the CD&R Fund or is provided to the CD&R Fund prior to or substantially contemporaneously with the time it is provided to the person making such contingency plan proposal or to whom such contingency plan proposal has been made.

We have agreed (1) to promptly advise the CD&R Fund of the receipt of any request for nonpublic information relating to the Company or any of our subsidiaries other than requests for information not reasonably expected to be related to a company transaction proposal and (2) to keep the CD&R Fund fully informed of the status of any company transaction proposal or contingency plan proposal in connection with which we have provided nonpublic information.

A company transaction proposal means any inquiry, proposal or offer from any person or group of persons other than the CD&R Fund or its affiliates relating to any (1) direct or indirect acquisition or purchase of a business that constitutes 20% or more of the net revenues, net income or assets of the Company and our subsidiaries, taken as a whole, or 20% or more of any class or series of equity securities (or any indebtedness or other obligation that is exchangeable for or convertible into any such security, or any other right to acquire any such security, contingent or otherwise) of the Company, or (2) any tender offer or exchange offer, merger, reorganization, restructuring, consolidation, share exchange, business combination, recapitalization, liquidation, dissolution, equity infusion or similar transaction involving the Company (or any of our subsidiaries whose business constitutes 20% or more of the net revenues, net income or assets of the Company and our subsidiaries, taken as a whole) that if consummated would

result in any person or group of persons beneficially owning 20% or more of the voting rights of any class or series of capital stock of the Company.

A contingency plan proposal means any proposal relating to any merger, restructuring, reorganization, recapitalization, liquidation, dissolution or similar transaction involving us or any of our subsidiaries that our board of directors in good faith determines does not constitute a superior proposal or a superior lender proposal and is not reasonably likely to result in a superior proposal or a superior lender proposal, which determination is made after consultation with outside counsel and our independent financial advisor and assumes consummation of the restructuring.

79

#### **Table of Contents**

A superior lender proposal means any proposal involving any person making more than a *de minimis* investment or commitment (other than a person who is as of the date hereof a holder of convertible notes or a lender under our existing credit agreement) relating to a restructuring, reorganization, liquidation, dissolution or similar transaction pursuant to which (1) holders of convertible notes would receive consideration in respect of the convertible notes that is of equal or greater total market value than such holders would receive pursuant to the restructuring, or (2) the lenders under our existing credit agreement would receive cash in repayment of the outstanding borrowings under our existing credit agreement in an amount equal to or greater than pursuant to the term loan refinancing, or would receive consideration in respect of their rights under our existing credit agreement and related credit documents that are of equal or greater total market value and security than such lenders under our existing credit agreement would receive pursuant to the term loan refinancing and that does not include any equity security.

A superior proposal means a bona fide written proposal or offer from any person or group of persons other than the CD&R Fund or its affiliates not solicited in violation of the investment agreement relating to any direct or indirect acquisition or purchase of a business that constitutes 50% or more of our net revenues, net income or assets, or 50% or more of any class or series of our securities, any tender offer or exchange offer that if consummated would result in any person or group of persons beneficially owning 50% or more of the voting rights of any class or series of our capital stock, any merger, reorganization, consolidation, share exchange, business combination, recapitalization, liquidation, dissolution, equity infusion or similar transaction involving us (or our subsidiaries whose business constitutes 50% or more of our net revenues, net income or assets) or any restructuring or reorganization of us, in each case, that our board of directors in good faith determines, would, if consummated, result in a transaction that is more favorable to us and our existing stockholders than the restructuring, which determination is made (1) after receiving the advice of our independent financial advisor, (2) after taking into account the likelihood (and likely timing) of consummation of such transaction on the terms set forth therein (as compared to the terms in the transaction documents) and (3) after taking into account all relevant legal (with the advice of outside counsel), financial (including the financing terms of any such proposal, the additional transaction costs and the effect of any termination fee, expenses or amounts payable under the investment agreement), regulatory or other aspects of such proposal and any other relevant factors permitted by applicable law.

# Acceptance of Superior Proposal

At any time prior to the closing, if we receive a superior proposal, our board of directors may terminate the investment agreement to enter into a definitive agreement with respect to such superior proposal, so long as:

we have provided prior written notice to the CD&R Fund at least five calendar days in advance of our intention to take such actions and providing disclosure of the terms and conditions of such superior proposal;

during such notice period, we and our independent financial advisor and outside counsel have negotiated with the CD&R Fund in good faith (to the extent the CD&R Fund desires to negotiate) to make such adjustments in the terms and conditions of the investment agreement so that such company transaction proposal ceases to constitute a superior proposal; and

at or prior to the time of termination of the investment agreement, we have paid the termination fee (see Termination Fees; Transaction Expenses Following Termination above).

In the event of any material revisions to the superior proposal, we have agreed to deliver a new written notice to the CD&R Fund and comply with the above enumerated requirements with respect to such new written notice, except that the new notice period will be two calendar days instead of four calendar days.

### Regulatory Filings and Third-Party Consents Covenant

We and the CD&R Fund have each agreed to cooperate and consult with the other and use our respective best efforts to take all actions, to file all documents, to do and to help the other party to do, all things necessary, proper or advisable to cause the conditions to this exchange offer and the closing to be satisfied as promptly as practicable and to consummate the restructuring, including (1) preparing and filing as promptly as practicable all documentation, effecting all necessary applications, notices, petitions, filings and other documents and obtaining all necessary

80

#### **Table of Contents**

permits, consents, waivers, clearances, approvals, authorizations, permits, orders, consents of, or any exemptions by, all governmental entities, (2) seeking all necessary or advisable consents of third parties to the restructuring and (3) using best efforts to cause the satisfaction, but not waiver, of the conditions to closing with respect to the expiration or termination of any waiting period require to consummate the CD&R investment under the HSR Act and the Austrian Act. In particular, we and the CD&R Fund have each agreed to use our respective best efforts to obtain, and use our respective best efforts to help the other obtain, as promptly as practicable, all approvals, authorizations, consents, clearances, expirations or terminations of waiting periods or exemptions required from all necessary governmental entities for the restructuring, including, but not limited to, filings and notifications with respect to, and expiration or termination of any applicable waiting period under, the HSR Act and any other applicable competition or merger control laws.

On August 28, 2009, each of the Company and the CD&R Fund made an appropriate filing of a Notification and Report Form pursuant to the HSR Act with respect to the CD&R investment and the CD&R Fund made an appropriate filing under the Austrian Act. The waiting period under the HSR Act was terminated on September 8, 2009. The review period under the Austrian Act will expire on September 25, 2009, unless the applicable governmental entity or the attorney with the applicable authority under the Austrian Act has requested (or both have waived their right to request) the initiation of an investigation prior to such date.

Each party specifically agreed not to agree or commit to contest the enforceability of the investment agreement under the Bankruptcy Code, or, except as otherwise provided in the investment agreement, agree or commit to delay or not to close any of the transactions contemplated by the investment agreement, without the express written consent of the other party.

Each party agreed to cooperate in all respects with each other in connection with any filing or submission and in connection with any investigation or other inquiry and to promptly (1) furnish to the other such necessary information and reasonable assistance as the other party may request in connection with the matters described in this section, (2) inform the other party of any communication from any governmental entity regarding the restructuring and of any communication received or given in connection with any legal, administrative or other proceeding by a private party or any investigation, proceeding or other action by the NYSE, in each case regarding the restructuring and (3) provide counsel for the other party with copies of all filings made by such party, and all correspondence between such party (and its advisors) with any governmental entity or the NYSE, and any other information supplied by such party and such party s subsidiaries to a governmental entity or the NYSE, in connection with the restructuring, subject to certain redactions. Each party also agreed to permit counsel for the other party to review in advance, and consider in good faith the views of the other parties in connection with, any proposed written communication to any governmental entity or the NYSE in connection with the restructuring unless it consults with the other party in advance and, to the extent not prohibited by such governmental entity or the NYSE, to give the other party the opportunity to attend and participate.

Each party agreed not to acquire or agree to acquire by merger or consolidation, or by purchasing a substantial equity interest in or a substantial portion of the assets of, or by any other manner, any business or any corporation, partnership, association or other business organization or division thereof or otherwise acquire or agree to acquire any assets that would delay or make materially more difficult the obtaining of any approvals, authorizations, consents, clearances, expirations or terminations of waiting periods or exemptions approval or authorization required under the HSR Act for the CD&R investment.

### Representations and Warranties

The investment agreement contains representations and warranties made by the Company to the CD&R Fund and representations and warranties made by the CD&R Fund to the Company.

We made customary representations and warranties in the investment agreement, which are, in some cases, subject to specified exceptions and qualifications (including qualifications that subject certain representations and

81

#### **Table of Contents**

warranties to a material adverse effect or materiality standard). Our representations and warranties relate to, among other things:

our and our subsidiaries proper organization, good standing and existence and corporate power to operate our and their properties and conduct our and their businesses;

our ownership of certain subsidiaries;

our capitalization;

the lack of registration rights or voting agreements with respect to our securities;

our corporate power and authority to enter into the transaction documents and to consummate the restructuring;

the enforceability of the transaction documents;

the absence of any violation of or conflict with or defaults under our and our subsidiaries organizational documents, certain convertible notes and instruments, or applicable law as a result of entering into the transaction documents and consummating the restructuring;

the absence of any violation of law or order applicable to us or our subsidiaries or any of our and their properties or assets;

the lack of any requirements for notice to, filing with, exemption or review by, or authorization, consent or approval of, any governmental entity or any other person under any provision of any material agreement or other instrument to which we are a party in connection with the execution and delivery of the transaction documents and consummating the restructuring;

certain of our SEC filings and the consolidated financial statements included therein;

the absence of undisclosed liabilities;

our disclosure controls and procedures and internal controls over financial reporting;

the absence of any material complaints, allegations, assertions or claims regarding our accounting or auditing practices;

the absence of any change, condition, event or development since the date of the investment agreement that would have, individually or in the aggregate, a material adverse effect on the Company;

the lack of action, claim, suit, proceeding or investigation against us or any of our subsidiaries;

our compliance with laws;

our possession of all licenses and permits necessary to own or lease our properties and carry on our business;

the due authorization of the Series B convertible preferred stock and other matters relating to the Series B convertible preferred stock;

tax matters;
our employee benefit plans;
our employees and compliance with labor laws;
our intellectual property;
our real property;
our title to assets;
environmental matters;
certain of our material contracts;

82

#### **Table of Contents**

the absence of undisclosed brokers or finders fees;

our compliance with the continued listing requirements of the NYSE;

our insurance policies;

our actions relating to certain state anti-takeover statutes and provisions in our restated certificate of incorporation;

approval by our board of directors of the transaction documents including the transactions contemplated thereby, including this exchange offer;

this prospectus/disclosure statement, the related registration statement and the Schedule TO filed in connection with this exchange offer;

our receipt of a fairness opinion from Greenhill;

the ABL agreement and other related credit documents contemplated by the ABL financing (including with respect to (1) the absence of any amendment or modification of such documents from and after execution and delivery thereof, (2) the validity and binding effect of such documents on the Company and each of our subsidiaries that is a party thereto, (3) the absence of default or breach (or allegations thereof) in any material respect under the terms of the ABL agreement or the other related documents, and (4) the absence of any default or event or circumstance that, with or without notice or lapse of time or both, would constitute a breach, default or event of default thereunder);

our existing credit agreement and the related credit documents (including with respect to our payment of any and all fees, expenses and other obligations that are due and payable in connection with our existing credit agreement and other related documents and the lack of revolving loans outstanding under our existing credit agreement);

the amended credit agreement and other related documents contemplated by the term loan refinancing (including with respect to (1) the absence of any amendment or modification of such documents from and after execution and delivery thereof, (2) the validity and binding effect of such documents on the Company and each of our subsidiary that are parties thereto, (3) the absence of default or breach in any material respect under (or allegations thereof) the terms of the amended credit agreement or the other related documents, and (4) the absence of any default or event or circumstance that, with or without notice or lapse of time or both, would constitute a breach, default or event of default thereunder); and

the solvency of the Company and our subsidiaries after giving effect to the closing.

In the investment agreement, the CD&R Fund makes customary representations and warranties, which are, in some cases, subject to specified exceptions and qualifications. The CD&R Fund s representations and warranties relate to, among other things:

its status and certain acknowledgements relating to the CD&R investment, which representations and warranties we refer to as the private placement representations, including:

its status as an accredited investor within the meaning of Rule 501 of Regulation D promulgated under the Securities Act;

its awareness that the sale of the Series B convertible preferred stock and the common stock issuable upon conversion of the Series B convertible preferred stock is being made in reliance on a private placement exemption from registration under the Securities Act;

its acquisition of the Series B convertible preferred stock and common stock issuable upon conversion of the Series B convertible preferred stock is for its own account;

that the Series B convertible preferred stock and common stock issuable upon conversion of the Series B convertible preferred stock are being offered in a transaction not involving any public offering within the

83

#### **Table of Contents**

meaning of the Securities Act and that there are transfer restrictions on the Series B convertible preferred stock and common stock issuable upon conversion of the Series B convertible preferred stock;

that the Series B convertible preferred stock and common stock issuable upon conversion of the Series B convertible preferred stock may bear a legend or other restriction; and

that it (1) is able to fend for itself in the transactions contemplated by the investment agreement; (2) has such knowledge and experience in financial and business matters as to be capable of evaluating the merits and risks of its prospective investment in the Series B convertible preferred stock and the common stock issuable upon conversion of the Series B convertible preferred stock; (3) has the ability to bear the economic risks of its prospective investment and can afford the complete loss of such investment; (4) acknowledges that it (a) has conducted its own investigation of the Company and the terms of the Series B convertible preferred stock and the common stock issuable upon conversion of the Series B convertible preferred stock, (b) has had access to the Company s public filings and to such financial and other information as it deems necessary to make its decision to purchase the Series B convertible preferred stock and the common stock issuable upon conversion of the Series B convertible preferred stock, and (c) has been offered the opportunity to ask questions of the Company and received answers thereto, as it deemed necessary in connection with the decision to purchase the Series B convertible preferred stock and common stock issuable upon conversion of the Series B convertible preferred stock and common stock issuable upon conversion of the Series B convertible preferred stock; and (5) understands that the Company is relying upon the truth and accuracy of its representations, acknowledgements and agreements;

that the common stock is listed on the NYSE and the Company is required to file reports containing certain business and financial information with the SEC pursuant to the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act, and that it is able to obtain copies of such reports;

its corporate or other power and authority to enter into the investment agreement and related agreements (including the stockholders agreement and the registration rights agreement) and to consummate the CD&R investment;

the lack of any requirements for notice to, filing with, exemption or review by, or authorization, consent or approval of, any governmental entity or any other person under any provision of any material agreement or other instrument to which we are a party in connection with the execution and delivery of the CD&R investment and related agreements (including the stockholders agreement and the registration rights agreement) and consummating the CD&R investment;

its lack of ownership of our capital stock;

its access to and the availability of funds in an amount equal to the Cash Proceeds;

information supplied by the CD&R Fund for this prospectus/disclosure statement, the related registration statement and the Schedule TO filed in connection with this exchange offer; and

its lack of competitive businesses.

For the purposes of the investment agreement, material adverse effect means any event, change, development, effect or occurrence that:

is material and adverse to the business, assets, results of operations or financial condition of the Company and our subsidiaries, taken as a whole; or

would materially impair the ability of the Company to perform our obligations under the transaction documents or to consummate the restructuring.

In determining whether a material adverse effect has occurred, any effect to the extent resulting from the following is excluded:

any change, development, occurrence or event affecting the businesses or industries in which the Company and its subsidiaries operate including general pricing changes (except to the extent that the effects of such

84

### **Table of Contents**

changes have a disproportionate impact on the Company and its subsidiaries, taken as a whole, relative to other businesses supplying to the non-residential construction industry);

changes in general domestic economic conditions, including changes in the financial, securities or credit markets, or changes in such conditions in any area in which the Company or its subsidiaries operate (except to the extent that the effects of such changes have a disproportionate impact on the Company and its subsidiaries, taken as a whole, relative to other businesses supplying to the non-residential construction industry);

changes in global or national political conditions, including any outbreak or escalation of hostilities, declared or undeclared acts of war or terrorism (except to the extent that the effects of such changes have a disproportionate impact on the Company and its subsidiaries, taken as a whole, relative to other businesses supplying to the non-residential construction industry);

the announcement of the transaction documents and the transactions contemplated thereby;

the failure of the Company to meet any internal or published projections, forecasts or revenue or earning predictions for any period (provided that the underlying causes of such failure may be considered in determining whether there is a material adverse effect on the Company);

any change in the trading prices of the common stock on the NYSE or of the convertible notes (provided that the underlying causes of such change may be considered in determining whether there is a material adverse effect on the Company); or

the announcement or commencement of the prepackaged plan proceeding.

# **Indemnity**

We have agreed to indemnify, defend and hold harmless the CD&R Fund and its affiliates and each of their respective officers, directors, partners, employees and agents, and each person who controls the CD&R Fund, which we refer to collectively as the CD&R indemnified parties, from and against, and pay or reimburse such persons for:

CD&R losses for NCI breaches of representations and warranties, which means any and all losses, liabilities, damages and expenses arising from or relating to any inaccuracy in or breach of any representation or warranty when made or deemed made by us in or pursuant to the investment agreement;

CD&R losses for NCI breaches of covenants, which means any and all losses, liabilities, damages and expenses arising from or relating to our failure to perform any covenant or agreement under the investment agreement; or

CD&R losses for execution and performance of the investment agreement, which means any and all losses, liabilities, damages and expenses arising out of or resulting from our authorization and approval and our and/or the CD&R Fund s execution, delivery, performance or termination of the investment agreement or the transactions contemplated thereby (other than any losses, liabilities, damages and expenses attributable to acts, errors or omissions in violation of the investment agreement on the part of the CD&R Fund or any CD&R Indemnified Parties and other than any losses, liabilities, damages and expenses attributable to the economic risks of the CD&R Fund s investment decision) that the CD&R Fund or the CD&R Indemnified Parties are subject to, named in or made party to any litigation by any person other than us.

Our obligation to indemnify the CD&R indemnified parties is effective from and after the closing with respect to the CD&R losses for NCI breaches of representations and warranties and the CD&R losses for NCI breaches of covenants

and is effective from and after the execution of the investment agreement with respect to the CD&R losses for execution and performance of the investment agreement.

Our obligation to indemnify the CD&R indemnified parties is subject to:

a *de minimis* exception of \$50,000, under which we are not required to pay any amounts in respect of losses, liabilities, damages and expenses in connection with or related to any individual claim (or any series of related claims (including any class action)) unless such losses exceed \$50,000;

85

#### **Table of Contents**

a basket of \$5.0 million, under which we are not required to pay any amounts in respect of losses, liabilities, damages or expenses (other than losses, liabilities, damages or expenses excluded because they do not meet the *de minimis* exception described in the immediately preceding bullet point) until such losses exceed \$5.0 million, following which time all losses above such amount will be subject to indemnification; and

a cap of \$75.0 million.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, CD&R losses for NCI breaches of representations and warranties in respect of certain enumerated fundamental representations, CD&R losses for NCI breaches of covenants and CD&R losses for execution and performance of the investment agreement will be payable without regard to the \$75.0 million cap described above (however, CD&R losses for NCI breaches of representations and warranties in respect of certain enumerated fundamental representations and CD&R losses for NCI breaches of covenants will be taken into account in determining whether such \$75.0 million cap has been reached) and CD&R losses for execution and performance of the investment agreement are payable without regard to the \$5.0 million basket described above and are not taken into account in determining whether the \$5.0 million basket has been reached. We will not be required to pay more than \$250.0 million to the CD&R Fund under the investment agreement, inclusive of all fees, expense reimbursements or amounts payable under our indemnification obligation.

The CD&R Fund has agreed to indemnify, defend and hold harmless us and our affiliates and each of our and their respective officers, directors, partners, employees and agents, which collectively we refer to as the NCI indemnified parties, from and against, and pay or reimburse us or such persons for:

NCI losses for CD&R breaches of representations and warranties, which means any and all losses, liabilities, damages or expenses arising from or relating to any inaccuracy in or breach of any representation or warranty when made or deemed made by the CD&R Fund in or pursuant to the investment agreement; or

NCI losses for CD&R breaches of covenants, which means any and all losses, liabilities, damages or expenses arising from or relating to the failure of the CD&R Fund to perform any covenant or agreement under the investment agreement.

The CD&R Fund s obligation to indemnify the NCI indemnified parties is effective from and after the closing.

The CD&R Fund s obligation to indemnify the NCI indemnified parties is subject to a parallel *de minimis* exception, basket and cap as described above with respect to our obligation to indemnify the CD&R indemnified parties.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the NCI losses for CD&R breaches of representations and warranties in respect of certain enumerated fundamental representations or NCI losses for CD&R breaches of covenants will be payable without regard to the \$75.0 million cap (however, NCI losses for CD&R breaches of representations and warranties with respect to an inaccuracy or breach of certain enumerated fundamental representations and NCI losses for CD&R breaches of covenants will be taken into account in determining whether such \$75.0 million cap has been reached). The CD&R Fund will not be required to pay more than \$250.0 million to us or our affiliates pursuant to its indemnity or otherwise.

#### Governance Matters

We have agreed to take all actions necessary:

to cause all directors serving on our board of directors immediately prior to the closing (other than our Chief Executive Officer and, to the extent such individuals are chosen to serve as unaffiliated shareholder directors, two other directors (see The Restructuring Description of the CD&R Investment The Stockholders Agreement Board Representation and Other Related Matters )) to resign from our board, effective as of the closing;

to cause vacancies on our board of directors to be filled, effective as of the closing, by persons nominated or designated by the CD&R Fund no later than three business days prior to the closing, with the directors nominated or designated by the CD&R Fund divided as nearly evenly as possible among each class of our board of directors, and to cause the representation of the directors nominated or designated by the CD&R

86

### **Table of Contents**

Fund, effective as of the closing, on each committee of our board of directors to be proportionate to the membership of the directors nominated or designated by the CD&R Fund on our board of directors;

to ensure that the by-laws, the charters of the committees of our board of directors and any of our corporate guidelines, effective as of the closing, are consistent with the provisions of the stockholders agreement and the transactions contemplated by that agreement (see The Restructuring Description of the CD&R Investment The Stockholders Agreement ); and

to elect, effective as of the closing, to take advantage of the exemptions to the requirements of Paragraphs 303A.01, 303A.04 and 303A.05 of the New York Stock Exchange Listed Company Manual.

### **Employee Benefit Matters**

The investment agreement requires the Company to secure, prior to completion of the CD&R investment, amendments to the Company s deferred compensation plan, the Rabbi trust that funds the deferred compensation plan, the Company s severance plan, employment agreements with ten of the Company s senior executives and restricted stock award agreements with three of the Company s senior executives. Below is a brief description of the required amendments.

The amendment to the Company s deferred compensation plan would eliminate the right to appoint a third-party administrator of the plan after the closing. Similarly, the Rabbi trust that is a source of funding for obligations under the deferred compensation plan must be amended so that certain administrative protections that go into effect following a change in control will not apply as a result of the CD&R investment. In addition, as a result of the amendment, the requirement to fully fund the Rabbi trust upon a change of control will not apply as a result of the CD&R investment.

The Company maintains a change of control severance policy, in which 49 employees currently participate. The Company has agreed that it will not add any new participants to the policy between signing and closing without the consent of the CD&R Fund. In addition, the policy will be amended so that after the CD&R investment new participants may be added to the policy only with approval of the Company s board of directors. The policy also will be amended so that a change in duties will no longer permit a participant to resign and collect benefits under the policy. Finally, the policy will be amended so that, following the CD&R investment, with respect to any future change in control, any material amendment or termination of the policy will not be effective until 12 months after adoption.

The Company is a party to employment agreements with ten of its senior executives, including Norman C. Chambers (Chairman of the Board, President and Chief Executive Officer), Mark E. Johnson (Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer), Mark W. Dobbins (Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer), Charles W. Dickinson (President of Metal Components Division) and Keith E. Fischer (President of Robertson-Ceco Division). The Company and these senior executives have entered into amendment agreements with respect to these employment agreements. In general, the amendment agreements modify the good reason definition in each executive s employment agreement. In addition, the amendment agreement for Mr. Chambers revises Mr. Chambers employment agreement to provide that he will be entitled to a cash severance payment equal to the greater of (1) two times his base salary and (2) his base salary through April 30, 2014, upon a termination of his employment without cause or for good reason. (Mr. Chambers is currently entitled to receive his base salary through April 30, 2014 upon a termination of his employment without cause or for good reason. ) In addition, pursuant to the amendment agreements, each of Messrs. Chambers, Dobbins and Dickinson has waived his right to accelerated vesting of 64,516, 25,000 and 25,000 Company restricted shares, respectively, as a result of the CD&R investment, and the Company has agreed that the Company restricted shares will continue to vest in accordance with their terms or, if earlier, upon a termination of the executive s employment without cause or for good reason.

Liability Limitations. Each of the Company and the CD&R Fund agreed that no former current or future director, officer, employee, incorporator, shareholder, managing member, member, manager, general partner, limited partner, stockholder, principal agent, other representative or affiliate, which collectively we refer to as the representatives, of any of the CD&R Fund or the Company and no former, current, or future Representative of any of such Representatives will have any liability for any obligations of the CD&R Fund or the Company, as applicable, under the investment agreement or for any claim based on, in respect of, or by reason of, the performance of the

87

#### **Table of Contents**

respective obligations of the CD&R Fund or the Company under the investment agreement or the negotiation, execution or delivery of the investment agreement whether by the enforcement of any assessment or by any legal or equitable proceeding, or by virtue of any statute, regulation or other applicable law or otherwise. Each of the Company and the CD&R Fund waived and released all such liability.

We have agreed that (1) in no event will the CD&R Fund s aggregate liability under the investment agreement in connection with a failure by the CD&R Fund to close on the CD&R investment in violation of the investment agreement exceed \$250.0 million and (2) in no event will the CD&R Fund be liable for any consequential, incidental, indirect or punitive damages. In addition, the CD&R Fund will not be liable for diminution of value, loss of business opportunity or loss of future revenue, income or profits (except to the extent that such items constitute direct damages sought by the Company for breach of contract rather than indirect or consequential damages, which amounts payable with respect thereto will be subject to a cap of \$250.0 million).

#### Certain Terms of the Series B Convertible Preferred Stock

The following is a summary of the preferences, limitations, voting powers and relative rights of the Series B convertible preferred stock as contained in the form of certificate of designations, preferences and rights of the Series B Cumulative Convertible Participating Preferred Stock. While we believe this summary covers the material preferences, limitations, voting powers and relative rights of the Series B convertible preferred stock contained in the form of certificate of designation, preferences and rights of the Series B Cumulative Convertible Participating Preferred Stock, it may not contain all of the information that is important to you and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the form of Certificate of Designation, Preferences and Rights of the Series B Cumulative Convertible Participating Preferred Stock, which is included as Annex G and which we incorporate by reference into this document. We encourage you to read carefully the form of certificate of designations, preferences and rights of the Series B Cumulative Convertible Participating Preferred Stock in its entirety.

In connection with the consummation of the CD&R investment, we have agreed to file a certificate of designations, preferences and rights of the Series B Cumulative Convertible Participating Preferred Stock substantially in the form of the form of certificate of designations, preferences and rights of the Series B Cumulative Convertible Participating Preferred Stock attached hereto as Annex G, which certificate of designations, preferences and rights to be filed with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware prior to closing we refer to as the certificate of designations, setting forth the terms, rights, obligations, and preferences of the Series B convertible preferred stock, including those material terms summarized below.

### Rank

The Series B convertible preferred stock will, with respect to payment of dividends, redemption payments, rights (including as to the distribution of assets) upon liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the affairs of the Company, or otherwise:

rank senior and prior to the common stock and each other class or series of equity securities of the Company, whether currently issued or to be issued in the future, that by its terms ranks junior to the Series B convertible preferred stock; and

rank junior to each class or series of equity securities of the Company, whether currently issued or issued in the future, that by its terms ranks senior to the Series B convertible preferred stock.

At the time of the initial issuance of the Series B convertible preferred stock or at any time in the future during which shares of Series B convertible preferred stock are out